## A GENERALIZATION OF SCHUR FUNCTIONS: APPLICATIONS TO NEVANLINNA FUNCTIONS, ORTHOGONAL POLYNOMIALS, RANDOM WALKS AND UNITARY AND OPEN QUANTUM WALKS

## F.A. GRÜNBAUM<sup>1</sup>, L. VELÁZQUEZ<sup>2</sup>

ABSTRACT. Recent work on return properties of quantum walks (the quantum analogue of random walks) has identified their generating functions of first returns as Schur functions. This is connected with a representation of Schur functions in terms of the operators governing the evolution of quantum walks, i.e. the unitary operators on Hilbert spaces.

In this paper we propose a generalization of Schur functions by extending the above operator representation to arbitrary closed operators on Banach spaces. Such generalized 'Schur functions' meet the formal structure of first return generating functions, thus we call them FR-functions. We derive some general properties of FR-functions, among them a simple relation with an operator version of Stieltjes functions which generalizes the renewal equation already known for random and quantum walks. We also prove that FRfunctions satisfy splitting properties which extend useful factorizations of Schur functions.

When specialized to self-adjoint operators on Hilbert spaces, we show that FR-functions become Nevanlinna functions. This allows us to obtain properties of Nevanlinna functions which, as far as we know, seem to be new. The FR-function structure leads to a new operator representation of Nevanlinna functions in terms of self-adjoint operators, whose spectral measures provide also new integral representations of such functions. This allows us to characterize each Nevanlinna function by a measure on the real line, which we refers to as 'the measure of the Nevanlina function'. In contrast to standard operator and integral representations of Nevanlinna functions, these new ones are exact analogues of those already known for Schur functions. The above results are also the source of a very simple 'Schur algorithm' for Nevanlinna functions based on interpolations at points on the real line, which we refer to as the 'Schur algorithm on the real line'.

The paper is completed with several applications of FR-functions to orthogonal polynomials and random and quantum walks which illustrate their wide interest: an analogue for orthogonal polynomials on the real line of the Khrushchev formula for orthogonal polynomials on the unit circle, and the use of FR-functions to study recurrence in random walks, quantum walks and open quantum walks. These applications provide numerous explicit examples of FR-functions, clarifying the meaning of these functions – as first return generating functions– and their splittings –which become recurrence splitting rules. They also show that these new tools, despite being extensions of very classical ones, play an important role in the study of physical problems of a highly topical nature.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>DEPARTAMENTO DE MATEMÁTICA APLICADA & IUMA, UNIVERSIDAD DE ZARAGOZA, MARÍA DE LUNA 3, 50018 ZARAGOZA, SPAIN. *E-mail address:* velazque@unizar.es (corresponding author)

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. 47A56, 42C05, 47B36, 60J10, 81Q99.

*Key words and phrases.* Operators, Schur functions, Schur algorithm, Nevanlinna functions, orthogonal polynomials, Khrushchev formula, Jacobi matrices, Markov chains, recurrence, stochastic matrices, random walks, quantum walks, open quantum walks, CPTP maps.

#### A GENERALIZATION OF SCHUR FUNCTIONS

#### CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2							
1.1. The unitary case - Schur functions	8							
1.2. Block operators and Schur complements	11							
2. FR-functions for arbitrary operators								
2.1. The bounded case	21							
3. The self-adjoint case - Nevanlinna functions	23							
4. Representations of Nevanlinna functions								
4.1. Examples of measures of Nevanlinna functions								
5. Schur algorithm on the real line								
5.1. Examples of the Schur algorithm on the real line	43							
6. Splitting rules for FR-functions								
7. Applications to orthogonal polynomials on the real line:								
OPRL Khrushchev formula								
8. Applications to random walks: RW recurrence								
8.1. Examples of RW recurrence								
9. Applications to quantum walks: QW recurrence								
10. Applications to open quantum walks: OQW recurrence								
10.1. Examples of OQW recurrence								
Appendix A. Derivatives of Nevanlinna FR-functions	91							
Appendix B. Characterizations of degenerate Nevanlinna functions	93							
References	95							

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

The analytic functions mapping the open unit disk into its closure are known as Schur functions. These functions, as well as their matrix and operator valued versions, are central objects in harmonic analysis, but their interest goes beyond this area, covering a wide variety of applications such as linear system theory, electrical engineering, signal processing, geophysics, stochastic processes, operator theory, interpolation problems, orthogonal polynomials on the unit circle (OPUC) or quantum walks (QW).

Among the main and most fruitful features of these functions is their characterization by a sequence of complex parameters –the Schur parameters– arising from the so called Schur algorithm [61] (see [28] for the matrix valued case), which generates a sequence of Schur functions –the Schur iterates– starting from the original one. The standard Schur algorithm, based on the evaluation of the iterates at the origin, can be generalized to deal with evaluation points arbitrarily chosen in the open unit disk, and then it is known under the name of the Nevanlinna-Pick algorithm [54, 55] (see [29] for the matrix valued case).

Schur functions are also characterized by an integral representation which follows from the Riesz-Herglotz representation of Carathéodory functions [38,60] (see [16, Sect. I.4] for the operator valued case), i.e. the analytic functions mapping the open unit disk into the

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

closed right half-plane. This yields a one-to-one correspondence between Schur functions and normalized measures on the unit circle, linking such functions to unitary operators via spectral measures. This leads to a representation of Schur functions in terms of unitary operators and orthogonal projections [15,25,37], which is connected to a known realization as transfer/characteristic functions related to unitary colligations [17,51].

A further feature which adds value to Schur functions is the existence of factorization properties related to certain compositions of linear systems or unitary operators. The importance of these factorizations can be hardly summarized in a single paragraph. As an example let us mention their key role in the invariant subspace problem of operator theory [16, 51], in Wiener-Hopf methods and realizability in linear systems [12, 39], in a recent OPUC revolution known as Khrushchev theory [44, 45, 65] (see [25] for the matrixvalued case) or in the study of splitting rules for QW recurrence, see Section 9.

Some of these results can be generalized to the so called Nevanlinna functions, the analogue of the Schur functions when the open unit disk is replaced by the open upper half-plane. For instance, the linear fractional transformations between these two domains have suggested Nevanlinna analogues of the Schur algorithm which use interpolation points in the open upper half-plane, see [3, Chapter 3] and [4,6,30]. Nevertheless, these algorithms are not as simple as that one for Schur functions.

This is in contrast with the simplicity of the standard Schur algorithm for Nevanlinna functions of Stieltjes type, which uses a point in the boundary of the upper half-plane, the point at infinity, as interpolation point, see [3, Chapter 3] and [5]. This suggests to explore the possibility of taking the rest of such a boundary, i.e. the real line, as a natural place for the interpolation points of a simple Schur algorithm for Nevanlinna functions. Among other things, this would have the benefit of leading to a simple Nevanlinna version of the Nevanlinna-Pick algorithm when chosing a different interpolation point in the real line at each step.

Nevanlinna functions also have integral and operator representations, but in terms of measures on the real line and self-adjoint operators instead of measures on the unit circle and unitary operators, see [63, Chapter III], [16, Sect. I.4], [11, 13, 35, 36, 46, 52, 62] and references therein. However, in contrast to the case of Schur functions, the integral representations either are restricted to certain type of Nevanlinna functions or require additional parameters, thus they do not yield a one-to-one correspondence between Nevanlinna functions and measures. Besides, these integral and operator representations are qualitatively different from those of Schur functions.

Mappings between the open unit disk and the open upper half-plane may be useful for surmising results for Nevanlinna functions inspired by the case of Schur functions, but this is not the end of the story. For instance, these transformations do not suggest the simplicity of taking the point at infinity as interpolation point in a Schur algorithm for Nevanlinna functions (concerning the differences between the interpolation problems for Schur and Nevanlinna functions, see [31]). Besides, such mappings have not been used to understand the Nevanlinna version of factorizations already known for Schur functions. This also holds for the Nevanlinna version of applications already developed for Schur functions. By analogy with that case one should expect, for instance, applications of Nevanlinna functions to orthogonal polynomials on the real line (OPRL), as well as to symmetrizable random walks (RW) –i.e., RW whose stochastic matrix can be made self-adjoint–, such as those which are both irreducible and reversible [74, Chapter 6].

The previous discussion leads to the following natural questions:

- Is there any simple Schur algorithm for Nevanlinna functions based on interpolations at points on the real line?
- Are there integral and operator representations of Nevanlinna functions which resemble those of Schur functions? Do they establish a one-to-one correspondence between the set of all Nevanlinna functions and some set of measures?
- Do Nevanlinna functions satisfy any splitting properties that could be viewed as an analogue of known factorizations of Schur functions?
- Do the previous ideas shed light on applications of Nevanlinna functions which parallel those of Schur functions? In particular, do they have any interesting consequence for the study of OPRL or RW?

Among the main results of this paper is the discovery of new properties of Nevanlinna functions which answer affirmatively the above questions. We do not intend to state that these new findings on Nevanlinna functions are, for any purpose, better than similar ones already existing in the literature. However these new results are specially useful for the applications to OPRL and RW described in Sections 7 and 8.

Answering the first question, we will see that there exists a very natural and surprisingly simple Schur algorithm for Nevanlinna functions which uses interpolation points lying in the real line instead of the interior of the upper half-plane. This shows once more that the strategy of translating ideas from Schur to Nevanlinna functions by using Möbius transformations does not exhaust all the possibilities, and does not even yield necessarily the simplest answers. A single step of the alluded Schur algorithm looks like

$$f(z) \to \frac{1}{z} \frac{f(z) - f(0) - f'(0)z}{f(z) - f(0)}$$

for a Nevanlinna function f analytic at the origin. A real translation gives the version of this algorithm for Nevanlinna functions analytic at other points on the real line, while the matrix valued case only requires a slight modification which is similar to the one required for matrix valued Schur functions, see (55) and Definition 5.3. Also, the analyticity condition can be weakened to the existence of derivatives along normal directions to the real line.

We will also obtain new integral and operator representations of Nevanlinna functions which are in perfect analogy with those already known for Schur functions, see Theorem 4.1. In particular, we will find an integral representation without additional parameters which characterizes each Nevanlinna function by a measure on the real line –much in the same way as in the case of Schur functions and measures on the unit circle– which we call 'the measure of the Nevanlinna function', see Theorem 4.1.(ii) and Definition 4.2. Explicitly, the measure  $\mu$  of a Nevanlinna function f is defined by the following identity for the Stieltjes function of  $\mu$ ,

$$\int \frac{d\mu(t)}{1-zt} = (1-zf(z))^{-1}.$$
(1)

This is the exact analogue of the known integral representation of Schur functions via Carathéodory functions, except for the fact that now the measure is not necessarily normalized by  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = 1$ , but  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) \leq 1$ . Actually, we will show that the integral representation (1) establishes a one-to-one correspondence between Nevanlinna functions and measures on the real line such that  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) \leq 1$ . All these results remain true for matrix valued Nevanlinna functions and measures, where 1 stands for the identity matrix of appropriate size wherever necessary.

As for the new operator representations of Nevanlinna functions, they are given in terms of self-adjoint operators and orthogonal projections in a way almost identical to the representation of Schur functions by unitary operators given in [15,25,37], see Theorem 4.1. *(iv)*. Namely, we will prove that every Nevanlinna function can be expressed as

$$f(z) = -dz^{-1} + PT(1 - zQT)^{-1}P, \qquad \begin{array}{l} T \text{ self-adjoint operator,} \quad d \ge 0, \\ P \text{ rank 1 orthogonal projection,} \quad Q = 1 - P, \end{array}$$

and viceversa. In the matrix valued case d becomes a non-negative definite matrix and P is simply finite rank. The only quirk of the Nevanlinna case is the eventual presence of additional terms proportional to  $-z^{-1}$ , the only ones that cannot be reproduced by the operator representation. This difference with respect to Schur functions is related to that one in the normalization condition of the measure  $\mu$  previously noticed. Actually, d = 0 exactly when  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = 1$  because in this case  $\mu$  becomes a spectral measure for the self-adjoint operator T, see Corollary 4.3. This is one of the interesting features of the integral representation (1) since such spectral measures codify dynamical properties of random systems described by the self-adjoint operator T [32, 40, 49, 50, 59] (see [2, 15, 18, 19, 37] for the unitary case).

Regarding the splitting properties, it can be seen that certain factorizations of a unitary operator yield similar factorizations of Schur functions generated by such an operator [12, 17, 25, 51]. Analogously, we will show that a decomposition of a Nevanlinna function into a sum of other ones follows from similar decompositions of the self-adjoint operator giving the corresponding operator representation, see Theorem 6.1.(i) particularized to self-adjoint operators. This can be considered as a Nevanlinna analogue of the alluded factorizations of Schur functions.

The parallelism between these new results for Nevanlinna functions and those already known for Schur functions opens the possibility of exporting to the Nevanlinna case the applications of Schur functions previously described. For instance, as it is shown in [25], Khrushchev formula [44, 45] (see also [65, Chapters 4 and 9]) –the cornerstone of OPUC Khrushchev theory– can be understood as a factorization of Schur functions generated by certain factorizations of the so called CMV matrices [21, 75] (see also [65, Chapter 4]), unitary analogue of Jacobi matrices. Analogously, we will show that the decomposition properties of Nevanlinna functions uncovered in the present work lead to a Khrushchev type formula for OPRL –see Theorem 7.1– which should be the starting point of a Khrushchev theory for OPRL. More precisely, this OPRL Khrushchev formula will be a consequence of certain decompositions of the Jacobi matrix encoding the OPRL three term recurrence relation. Besides, we will prove that the success of Schur functions in encrypting the recurrence –i.e., the return properties– of QW [15, 20, 37] has a Nevanlinna counterpart: the recurrence of a symmetrizable RW is best codified by Nevanlinna functions associated with the related self-adjoint operator, see Section 8 when applied to such a RW. Also, it will be shown that the role of the factorization properties of Schur functions as splitting rules for QW recurrence is paralleled by the splitting rules for RW recurrence generated by the decomposition properties of Nevanlinna functions, see Theorem 8.3.(i) when applied to a symmetrizable RW.

Actually, we will do more than this since we will prove that both, Schur and Nevanlinna functions, are just a particular case of a much more general class of functions linked to arbitrary closed operators and bounded projections on Banach spaces, see Definition 2.2. The starting point for this generalization is the extension to arbitrary operators of the representation of Schur functions in terms of unitaries uncovered in [15,25,37], giving rise to the definition of what we will call first return functions –the name refers to the fact that these functions have the formal structure of a generating function of first returns–, in short FR-functions. More precisely, we will define an FR-function f by the operator representation

$$f(z) \coloneqq PT(1 - zQT)^{-1}P, \qquad \begin{array}{c} T \text{ closed operator,} \\ P \text{ bounded projection,} \quad Q = 1 - P. \end{array}$$
(2)

On the one hand, FR-functions arise as an abstract generalization of the notion of generating function of first returns, whose origin goes back to G. Pólya's celebrated paper on RW recurrence [56] (see also [33, 74]). Thus their study has a direct impact in the analysis of recurrence in different dynamical systems, see Sections 8, 9 and 10. On the other hand, FR-functions provide generalizations of transfer/characteristic functions [12, 16, 17, 39, 51] to unbounded situations –see Proposition 2.7 and subsequent comments–, a fact which is behind new representations of Nevanlinna functions in terms of self-adjoint operators and measures on the real line, see Theorem 4.1 and Corollary 4.3.

The interesting fact is that some properties already known in much more restricted settings are satisfied by FR-functions in this general abstract context of operators on Banach spaces, even in the absence of an inner product. For instance, we will see in Theorem 2.5 that (1) generalizes to every FR-function (2) as

$$s(z) \coloneqq P(1-zT)^{-1}P = (1-zf(z))^{-1},$$

where s is an operator version of the Stieltjes function of a measure, which formally plays the role of a generating function of returns. This relation between generating functions of returns and first returns also generalizes the well known renewal equation for RW, first derived by G. Pólya in [56] (see also [33, Chapter XIII] and [74, Chapter 4]), as well as its QW version which has been recently obtained [15, 20, 37].

Another example of the properties which hold for general FR-functions of operators on Banach spaces are the factorizations and decompositions mentioned above in the unitary and self-adjoint case respectively. We will prove that these splitting properties have a mere algebraic nature and are simply a consequence of similar splittings of the underlying operator, regardless of any symmetry that the operator may have, see Theorem 6.1.

The extension of these results to the general setting of operators on Banach spaces is not a mere exercise of abstraction, but it is motivated by the requirements of important applications. For instance, the stochastic matrix of a RW is connected to a self-adjoint operator only in some situations –for instance, when the RW is irreducible and reversible [74, Chapter 6]–, however every stochastic matrix defines an operator in a Banach space. Therefore, the general results on FR-functions apply to every RW and not only to symmetrizable ones. In particular, this allows us to prove that the splitting rules –including not only decomposition, but also factorization rules– for RW recurrence constitute a completeley general feature of RW, see Theorem 8.3.

Even more interesting is the possibility of applying the results on FR-functions to more burning issues. The emergence of quantum information as one of the most promising scientific developments for the practical implementation of quantum technologies has promted the research on quantum systems in interaction with the macroscopic world to better reproduce realistic situations. Among these kind of systems are the so called quantum channels, which have been recently used to build a version of QW in interaction with the enviroment under the name of open QW (OQW) [9] (see also [10,22–24,47,48,64,66–70]). The evolution of such systems is governed by an operator on a Banach space rather than on a Hilbert space. Hence, every result on general FR-functions may be applied to the study of such open quantum systems. We will show that, as in the case of standard QW, the recurrence properties of OQW –or more generally, iterated quantum channels– are codified by FR-functions of the corresponding evolution operator. This not only makes possible to perform calculations which are hard to tackle with other methods, but also allows us to generalize to OQW results obtained for RW or QW recurrence, such as establishing a renewal equation or developing splitting techniques for OQW recurrence, see Section 10.

Summarizing, this work is an attempt to extend tools and techniques of harmonic analysis and operator theory already used with great success for the study of unitary operators, OPUC and QW, to other contexts such as self-adjoint operators, OPRL, RW and OQW. This requires the generalization of the notion of Schur function and its properties to arbitrary operators on Banach spaces. As a byproduct, the specialization of these ideas to self-adjoint operators on Hilbert spaces leads to results on Nevanlinna functions which, to the best of our knowledge, seem not to have been noticed before.

The content of the paper is organized as follows: the rest of the introduction is devoted to a summary on Schur functions and unitary operators –highlighting the results that we wish to generalize– and also to some results on Schur complements for operators on Banach spaces which will be of interest for the analysis of FR-functions. The whole paper revolves around the concept of FR-function as a generalization of the notion of Schur function. FR-functions for arbitrary operators on Banach spaces are introduced in Section 2, which also includes some results on FR-functions, the main one being the generalization of the renewal equation to this abstract setting. The special features of the self-adjoint case are considered in Section 3, which links FR-functions of self-adjoint operators to Nevanlinna functions. This relation is examined in more detail in Section 4, which provides different equivalent characterizations of Nevanlinna functions, among them integral and operator representations which are in perfect analogy with those of Schur functions. The FR-function approach leads to a Schur algorithm for Nevanlinna functions based on interpolations at points on the real line, which we call the Schur algorithm on the real line. This algorithm and its different generalizations are discussed in Section 5. The factorization and decomposition formulas for FR-functions are derived in Section 6 from similar splittings of the underlying operators. The application of such decomposition formulas to Nevanlinna functions associated with Jacobi matrices leads to a Khrushchev formula for OPRL, which is the aim of Section 7. Sections 8, 9 and 10 are devoted to the applications of FR-functions to the study of recurrence in RW, QW and OQW respectively. The examples presented in these sections also provide many explicit examples of FR-functions and illustrate some of their features, such as the splitting properties mentioned above. Finally, Appendices A and B prove some technical results on Nevanlinna functions which are needed for the development of the paper.

#### 1.1. The unitary case - Schur functions.

Let us summarize some known connections between Schur functions and unitary operators whose origin lies in the study of QW, to better understand the kind of results we wish to generalize. Quick references to scalar and matrix valued Schur functions which stress the aspects that we need can be found in [65, Chapter 1] and [27, Sect. 1 and 3] respectively. The connection between Schur functions and unitary operators via QW recurrence appears in [15, 25, 37]. For good references to QW, a notion first introduced in [1], see [7, 26, 42, 43]. Also, Section 9 provides a summary of QW recurrence which may be useful to follow some of the ideas presented in this section.

Given any unitary operator U on a Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}$ , we can consider the QW driven by U. If P is the orthogonal projection onto a closed subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0$  and Q = 1 - P is the projection onto  $\mathscr{H}_0^{\perp}$ , the generating function of the **first time return** amplitudes to  $\mathscr{H}_0$ is (up to multiplication by z) the function f with values in operators on  $\mathscr{H}_0$  given by

$$f(z) = \sum_{n \ge 0} z^n P U(QU)^n P = P U(1 - zQU)^{-1} P = P(U^{\dagger} - zQ)^{-1} P.$$
(3)

This function is obviously analytic on the unit disk

$$\mathbb{D} \coloneqq \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < 1 \}.$$

Note that this region coincides with that one bounded by the unit circle

$$\mathbb{T} \coloneqq \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| = 1 \}$$

where the spectrum of a unitary lives.

We will refer to the first return generating function f in short as the FR-function of the subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0$  with respect to the unitary U.

We point out that other generating functions appear in connection with return properties of QW. The generating function of the return amplitudes to  $\mathscr{H}_0$  is given by

$$s(z) = \sum_{n \ge 0} z^n P U^n P = P(1 - zU)^{-1} P,$$
(4)

which is again analytic on  $\mathbb{D}$ . The spectral decomposition  $U = \int t dE(t)$  gives to this generating function a special meaning since one has

$$s(z) = \int \frac{d\mu(t)}{1 - zt}, \qquad \mu = PEP.$$
(5)

That is, s is the Stieltjes function of a measure  $\mu$  suported on  $\mathbb{T}$ , namely, the spectral measure of  $\mathscr{H}_0$  with respect to U. As in the case of f, the spectral measure  $\mu$  and the Stieltjes function s take values in operators on  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . In particular,

$$s(0) = \mu(\mathbb{T}) = 1_0 := \text{identity on } \mathscr{H}_0.$$

Both generating functions, f and s, are related by the **quantum renewal equation** [15, 20, 37],

$$s(z)^{-1} = 1_0 - zf(z), \qquad z \in \mathbb{D},$$
 (6)

a quantum version of the renewal equation for classical random walks [33, Chapter XIII] (see also [74, Chapter 4]). This allows us to connect f to the Carathéodory function F of  $\mu$ , defined by

$$F(z) \coloneqq \int \frac{t+z}{t-z} d\mu(t) = 2s^{\dagger}(z) - 1_0, \qquad s^{\dagger}(z) \coloneqq s(\overline{z})^{\dagger},$$

leading to the identification of

$$f^{\dagger}(z) = z^{-1} (F(z) - 1_0) (F(z) + 1_0)^{-1}$$
(7)

as the **Schur function** of  $\mu$  [65, Chapter 1] (see [27, Sect. 3] for the matrix-valued case). As a consequence, besides its analyticity, the FR-function f has a remarkable contractivity property in  $\mathbb{D}$ ,

$$\|f(z)\| \le 1 \quad \text{for} \quad z \in \mathbb{D}.$$
(8)

This means that every FR-function related to a unitary operator is a Schur function.

The integral representation (5) of Stieltjes functions combined with (6) provides an integral representation of Schur functions, thus of FR-functions for unitary operators,

$$f(z) = z^{-1} \left( 1_0 - \left( \int \frac{d\mu(t)}{1 - zt} \right)^{-1} \right) = \left( \int \frac{t \, d\mu(t)}{1 - zt} \right) \left( \int \frac{d\mu(t)}{1 - zt} \right)^{-1}.$$
 (9)

In the case of a one-dimensional subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0$ , the FR-function is an analytic map  $f: \mathbb{D} \to \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ . According to the maximum modulus principle, there are two possibilities:

- f is degenerate:  $|f(z_0)| = 1$  for some  $z_0 \in \mathbb{D}$ , then f is a unimodular constant on  $\mathbb{D}$ .
- f is non-degenerate: |f| < 1 on  $\mathbb{D}$ , i.e.  $f(\mathbb{D}) \subset \mathbb{D}$ .

In this scalar valued case f is characterized by a finite or infinite number of Schur parameters  $\alpha_n$  via the Schur algorithm [61] (see also [65, Chapter 1]),

$$f_0(z) = f(z), f_{n+1}(z) = z^{-1} M_{\alpha_n}(f_n(z)), \qquad \alpha_n = f_n(0), \qquad n \ge 0,$$
(10)

where  $M_{\alpha}$  is the Möbius transformation

$$M_{\alpha}(z) = \frac{z - \alpha}{1 - \overline{\alpha} z}, \qquad |\alpha| < 1.$$
(11)

This algorithm generates new Schur functions  $f_n$ , the iterates of f, and it terminates if some iterate  $f_N$  is degenerate, i.e. if  $|\alpha_N| = 1$ . Thus, the Schur parameters lie on  $\mathbb{D}$ , except for the last one, if any, which lies on  $\mathbb{T}$ .

A canonical unitary operator can be associated with any scalar valued Schur function f, namely, the operator in  $\ell^2$  defined by the CMV representation [21, 75] (see also [65, Chapter 4]) of the multiplication operator  $h(z) \mapsto zh(z)$  in  $L^2_{\mu}$ , where  $\mu$  is the measure on  $\mathbb{T}$  associated with f. Geronimus theorem [34] (see also [65, Chapter 3]) implies that the Schur parameters of f coincide with the Verblunsky coefficients which parametrize the related CMV matrix. Thus, the Schur algorithm can be viewed as a procedure to extract from a Schur function the parameters giving the corresponding canonical unitary operator.

The Schur algorithm also works for higher dimensional subspaces  $\mathscr{H}_0$ , which leads to matrix valued Schur functions. Then, the Schur parameters  $\alpha_n$  are square matrices and the scalar Möbius transformation must be changed by its matrix version [28] (see also [27, Sect. 1 and 3])

$$M_{\alpha}(T) = \rho_{\alpha^{\dagger}}^{-1}(T-\alpha)(1-\alpha^{\dagger}T)^{-1}\rho_{\alpha} = \rho_{\alpha^{\dagger}}(1-T\alpha^{\dagger})^{-1}(T-\alpha)\rho_{\alpha}^{-1}, \qquad \begin{aligned} \|\alpha\| < 1, \\ \rho_{\alpha} = (1-\alpha^{\dagger}\alpha)^{1/2}. \end{aligned}$$
(12)

The equivalence between the above two expressions follows from the identity  $\rho_{\alpha^{\dagger}}^2 \alpha = \alpha \rho_{\alpha}^2$ , which implies that  $\alpha \rho_{\alpha}^{-2} = \rho_{\alpha^{\dagger}}^{-2} \alpha$ . As in the scalar case, there are two possibilities:

- f is degenerate:  $||f(z_0)|| = 1$  for some  $z_0 \in \mathbb{D}$ , then ||f|| = 1 on  $\mathbb{D}$  (but now f is not necessarily constant).
- f is non-degenerate: ||f|| < 1 on  $\mathbb{D}$ .

Thus,  $\|\alpha_n\| < 1$  unless one runs into a degenerate iterate  $f_N$ , a situation which terminates the algorithm because  $\|\alpha_N\| = 1$ .

Another feature of FR-functions is a remarkable factorization property which lies behind Khrushchev formula for OPUC: suppose that a unitary U on a Hilbert space with an orthogonal decomposition  $\mathscr{H} = \mathscr{H}_{-} \oplus \mathscr{H}_{0} \oplus \mathscr{H}_{+}$  has a factorization into unitaries which only overlap on  $\mathscr{H}_{0}$ , i.e.

$$U_{L} = \text{unitary on } \mathscr{H}_{L} := \mathscr{H}_{-} \oplus \mathscr{H}_{0},$$
$$U = (U_{L} \oplus 1_{+})(1_{-} \oplus U_{R}), \qquad U_{R} = \text{unitary on } \mathscr{H}_{R} := \mathscr{H}_{0} \oplus \mathscr{H}_{+},$$
$$1_{+} = \text{identity on } \mathscr{H}_{+}.$$

Then, the FR-function f of  $\mathscr{H}_0$  with respect to U also factorizes as [25]

$$f = f_L f_R,$$

where  $f_{L,R}$  are the FR-functions of  $\mathscr{H}_0$  with respect to the 'left/right' unitaries  $U_{L,R}$ .

The above factorization determines the FR-function of  $\mathscr{H}_0$  in the QW driven by U in terms of those in the left/right QW driven by  $U_{L,R}$ . That is, any overlapping factorization of a QW into smaller ones allows us to recover the return properties of the overlapping subspace for the larger QW from those in the smaller QWs.

Finally, FR-functions related to unitary operators are not just examples of Schur functions, rather both concepts coincide exactly. In other words, every Schur function with values in operators on a Hilbert space is the FR-function of a closed subspace with respect to a unitary operator. This follows from the integral representation of Schur functions in terms of measures on the unit circle –via Carathéodory or Stieltjes functions– and Naimark's dilation theorem [53]. Let f be a Schur function with values in operators on a Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . The relation (7) between Schur and Carathéodory functions –or equivalently the relation (9)– associates to f a measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{T}$  with values in operators on  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . Naimark's dilation theorem implies that  $\mu$  comes from the projection of an spectral measure E, defined in a larger Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H} \supset \mathscr{H}_0$ , i.e.  $\mu = PEP$  with P the orthogonal projection of  $\mathscr{H}$  onto  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . Then, the unitary operator  $U = \int t dE(t)$  associates the spectral measure  $\mu$  to the subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0$  and, hence,  $f^{\dagger}(z)$  becomes the FR-function of  $\mathscr{H}_0$  with respect to U. In other words, f is the FR-function of  $\mathscr{H}_0$  with respect to the unitary  $U^{\dagger}$ .

We intend to show that an analogue of these operator valued FR-functions also appears in other areas where, to the best of our knowledge, they have not been considered so far. Indeed, we will see that FR-functions and their properties generalize to arbitrary operators on Banach spaces. We will exploit our obsevation of the role and properties of these generalized FR-functions for OPRL, RW, QW and OQW. Their analogy with the FR-functions of the unitary case –i.e., the Schur functions– rests on the following similarities:

- (A) **Definition:** formally identical to that of the unitary case and similarly related to Stieltjes functions by a renewal equation. Recognizable as a generating function of first time returns.
- (B) **Properties:** domain of analyticity similarly related to the spectrum of the underlying operator. Analogous transformation properties in the self-adjoint and unitary cases.
- (C) "Schur algorithm" (self-adjoint and unitary cases): existence of an algorithm which, starting from a FR-function, yields iteratively a set of FR-functions of the same kind and characterizes the original one by means of certain parameters which also provide a connection with a related canonical operator.
- (D) **Splittings:** existence of splitting rules for FR-functions, consequence of similar "overlapping" splittings for the underlying operator. Interpretation as rules to split return properties when splitting a system into overlapping smaller subsystems.

## 1.2. Block operators and Schur complements.

The generalization of FR-functions mentioned above requires dealing with operators related to resolvents, as in the unitary case. Here we summarize the results that we will use along the paper regarding operator inverses.

As required by the applications to RW and open QW, we will develop most of the results in the abstract context of operators on Banach spaces, a generalization which requires no more effort than the case of Hilbert spaces.

The results previously summarized for the unitary case show the prominent role that projections will play in this generalization. A projection on a Banach space  $\mathscr{B}$  is a linear operator  $P: \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}$  such that  $P^2 = 1$  is the identity on  $\mathscr{B}$ . Any such a projection is specified by a decomposition  $\mathscr{B} = \mathscr{B}_0 \oplus \mathscr{B}_1$  into the direct sum of two subspaces,  $\mathscr{B}_0 = \mathscr{R}(P)$  and  $\mathscr{B}_1 = \ker P$ . We say that P is the projection onto  $\mathscr{B}_0 = \mathscr{R}(P)$  along  $\mathscr{B}_1 = \ker P$ , which is a bounded operator exactly when these subspaces are closed. Bounded projections –specified by pairs of complementary closed subspaces– are the only ones that we will consider along the paper.

Let  $T: \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}$  be a linear operator on a Banach space  $\mathscr{B}$  with domain  $\mathscr{D}(T)$  and range  $\mathscr{R}(T)$ . Since we will get away from unitarity, we will assume that the domain is an arbitrary subspace, not necessarily the whole space or even a closed one, to include the case of unbounded operators. A bounded projection P onto  $\mathscr{B}_0$  along  $\mathscr{B}_1$ , together with the complementary projection Q = 1 - P, yield a block representation of T whenever

$$\mathscr{D}(T) = (\mathscr{B}_0 \cap \mathscr{D}(T)) \oplus (\mathscr{B}_1 \cap \mathscr{D}(T)), \tag{13}$$

i.e. as long as  $P\mathscr{D}(T) = \mathscr{B}_0 \cap \mathscr{D}(T)$  and  $Q\mathscr{D}(T) = \mathscr{B}_1 \cap \mathscr{D}(T)$ . Then,

$$T = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A = PTP: \mathscr{B}_0 \cap \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}_0, \qquad B = PTQ: \mathscr{B}_1 \cap \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}_0, \qquad (14)$$
$$C = QTP: \mathscr{B}_0 \cap \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}_1, \qquad D = QTQ: \mathscr{B}_1 \cap \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}_1,$$

makes sense acting on arbitrary vectors  $v \in \mathscr{D}(T)$  in block form

$$v = \begin{pmatrix} Pv \\ Qv \end{pmatrix}.$$

We will refer to (14) as the block representation of the operator T generated by the bounded projection P.

Condition (13) implies that

$$P\mathscr{D}(T) \subset \mathscr{D}(T). \tag{15}$$

Conversely, (15) gives  $Q\mathscr{D}(T) = (1-P)\mathscr{D}(T) \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ , thus  $\mathscr{D}(T) = P\mathscr{D}(T) \oplus Q\mathscr{D}(T)$  which becomes (13). This means that (13) is equivalent to (15), a condition which therefore characterizes the projections P which generate block representations for T. Condition (15) holds for instance if  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ , a particularly simple situation generating block representations which will be of interest later on.

Since we will use the block representation of  $T: \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}$  to obtain a similar one for  $T^{-1}:\mathscr{R}(T) \to \mathscr{B}$ , besides (15) we also need to suppose that  $P\mathscr{R}(T) \subset \mathscr{R}(T)$ . To avoid unnecessary complications we will assume that  $\mathscr{R}(T) = \mathscr{B}$ , a condition that will cover all our needs.

A key tool for the analysis of inverses is the notion of Schur complement for block operators on Banach spaces. The Schur complement of the block D with respect to the block operator T given in (14) is the operator

$$\Gamma/D \coloneqq A - BD^{-1}C = PTP - PTQ(QTQ)^{-1}QTP, \tag{16}$$

which defines an operator on  $\mathscr{B}_0$  with domain  $\mathscr{D}(T/D) = \mathscr{B}_0 \cap \mathscr{D}(T)$  whenever D is invertible with  $\mathscr{R}(C) \subset \mathscr{R}(D)$ . Again, we will make the stronger assumption that  $\mathscr{R}(D) = \mathscr{B}_1$ , which will be enough to deal with all the situations appearing in the paper.

The following two results, usually given for finite dimension, hold for any Banach space under the previous assumptions. We present their proof in such a general case to take care of the subtleties of infinite dimension. **Lemma 1.1.** Let  $T: \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}$  be a linear operator on a Banach space  $\mathscr{B}$  with block representation (14) generated by a projection P onto  $\mathscr{B}_0$  along  $\mathscr{B}_1$  satisfying (15). If Tand D have inverses everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}$  and  $\mathscr{B}_1$  respectively, then  $T^{-1}: \mathscr{H} \to \mathscr{H}$  has a block representation generated by P given as follows

$$T^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} (T/D)^{-1} & * \\ * & * \end{pmatrix},$$

*i.e.*,

$$PT^{-1}P = (A - BD^{-1}C)^{-1} = (PTP - PTQ(QTQ)^{-1}QTP)^{-1}.$$
(17)

*Proof.* Rewriting the Schur complement as

$$T/D = PT - PTQ - PTQ(QTQ)^{-1}QTP = PT - PTQ(QTQ)^{-1}(QTQ + QTP)$$
  
= PT - PTQ(QTQ)^{-1}QT,  
$$T/D = TP - QTP - PTQ(QTQ)^{-1}QTP = TP - (QTQ + PTQ)(QTQ)^{-1}QTP$$
  
= TP - TQ(QTQ)^{-1}QTP,

gives

$$(T/D)PT^{-1}P = (T/D)T^{-1}P = PTT^{-1}P = \text{ identity on } \mathscr{B}_0,$$
$$PT^{-1}P(T/D) = PT^{-1}(T/D) = PT^{-1}TP = \text{ identity on } \mathscr{B}_0 \cap \mathscr{D}(T),$$

since  $TT^{-1}$  is the identity on  $\mathscr{B}$  and  $T^{-1}T$  is the identity on  $\mathscr{D}(T)$ . This proves that  $PT^{-1}P:\mathscr{B}_0 \to \mathscr{B}_0$  and  $T/D:\mathscr{B}_0 \cap \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}_0$  are inverses of each other.  $\Box$ 

The particular case of (14) in which PTQ = 0 corresponds to a triangular block operator

$$T = \begin{pmatrix} A & 0\\ C & D \end{pmatrix},\tag{18}$$

which will be of especial interest for us.

**Lemma 1.2.** Let  $T: \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}$  be a linear operator on a Banach space  $\mathscr{B}$  with block representation (18) generated by a projection P onto  $\mathscr{B}_0$  along  $\mathscr{B}_1$  satisfying (15). Then,

 $\begin{array}{ccc} T \text{ has an inverse} \\ everywhere \ defined \ on \ \mathscr{B} \end{array} \implies \begin{array}{c} A \text{ has an inverse everywhere \ defined \ on \ \mathscr{B}_0,} \\ D \text{ has an inverse \ everywhere \ defined \ on \ \mathscr{B}_1,} \end{array}$   $\begin{array}{c} whenever \ any \ of \ the \ following \ conditions \ is \ satisfied: \end{array}$ 

(i) C = 0, (ii) A is invertible, (iii)  $\mathscr{R}(D) = \mathscr{B}_1$ , (iv) dim  $\mathscr{H}_0 < \infty$ .

Conversely, if A and D have inverses everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}_0$  and  $\mathscr{B}_1$  respectively, then T has an inverse everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}$  with block representation generated by P given by

$$T^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} A^{-1} & 0\\ -D^{-1}CA^{-1} & D^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (19)

*Proof.* The result under condition (i) is obvious since  $T = A \oplus D$  in such a case.

Assume only the existence of  $T^{-1}$  everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}$ .

Using PTQ = 0, we find that  $(PTP)(PT^{-1}P) = PTT^{-1}P$  is the identity on  $\mathscr{B}_0$ , hence A = PTP has range  $\mathscr{B}_0$  but it is not necessarily invertible. Also,  $(QT^{-1}Q)(QTQ) = QT^{-1}TQ$  is the identity on  $\mathscr{B}_1 \cap \mathscr{D}(T)$ , so D = QTQ has an inverse but not necessarily everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}_1$ . Hence, *(ii)* implies that A has an inverse everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}_0$ , while *(iii)* implies that D has an inverse everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}_1$ .

Furthermore, PTQ = 0 also gives

$$(PTP)(PT^{-1}Q) = PTT^{-1}Q = 0, \qquad (PT^{-1}Q)(QTQ) = PT^{-1}TQ = 0,$$

thus any of the conditions (*ii*) or (*iii*) implies that  $PT^{-1}Q = 0$ . If this is the case, then  $(PT^{-1}P)(PTP) = PT^{-1}TP$  is the identity on  $\mathscr{B}_0 \cap \mathscr{D}(T)$ , while  $(QTQ)(QT^{-1}Q) = QTT^{-1}Q$  is the identity on  $\mathscr{B}_1$ , thus A = PTP is invertible and D = QTQ has range  $\mathscr{B}_1$ .

Combining the previous results we conclude that any of the conditions (*ii*) or (*iii*) imply that A and D have inverses everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}_0$  and  $\mathscr{B}_1$  respectively. This also holds for condition (*iv*) because  $\mathscr{R}(A) = \mathscr{B}_0$  is equivalent to A being invertible if dim  $\mathscr{B}_0 < \infty$ .

Suppose now that that A and D have inverses everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}_0$  and  $\mathscr{B}_1$ . Then, the block operator given by (19) has domain  $\mathscr{B}$  and it is straightforward to check that it is the inverse of T.

The right implication of the previous lemma and the lower triangular block representation of  $T^{-1}$  may not hold unless an additional condition is added as to the existence of such an inverse with  $\mathscr{D}(T^{-1}) = \mathscr{B}$ . As a counter example, take T as the forward shift in  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$  and  $\mathscr{B}_0 = \{(x_n) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) : x_n = 0, n \ge 0\}$ . Then,  $\mathscr{B}_0$  generates a lower triangular block representation for T, but an upper triangular one for  $T^{-1}$ , the backward shift,

<i>T</i> =	( …							`		1			•••	•••		•••	•••	••• `	١
		0	0	0	0	0	0					0	1	0	0	0	0		
		1	0	0	0	0	0					0	0	1	0	0	0		
		0	1	0	0	0	0		$T^{-1}$ –			0	0	0	1	0	0		
		0	0	1	0	0	0		, 1 –		•	0	0	0	0	1	0		ŀ
		0	0	0	1	0	0					0	0	0	0	0	1		
		0	0	0	0	1	0					0	0	0	0	0	0		
	(							,		(								,	J

Besides,  $\mathscr{R}(A) = \mathscr{B}_0$  but A is not invertible, while D has an inverse but  $\mathscr{D}(D^{-1}) = \mathscr{R}(D) = \{(x_n) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) : x_n = 0, n \le 0\}$  is not the whole subspace  $\mathscr{B}_1 = \{(x_n) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) : x_n = 0, n \le -1\}$ .

#### 2. FR-functions for arbitrary operators

In this section we will extend the notion of FR-functions to arbitrary operators on Banach spaces and study some of their general properties. Concerning the technical details of operator theory arising in the discussion below, we refer to [41].

Although we will work in general with operators which are not necessarily bounded, some of the operators involved in the discussions will be bounded and everywhere defined. Thus, for convenience, given a Banach space  $\mathscr{B}$  we introduce the notation

$$\mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B}) := \{T: \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B} \text{ bounded linear}\} = \{T: \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B} \text{ closed linear}\},\$$

where  $T: \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}$  indicates that T has domain  $\mathscr{D}(T) = \mathscr{B}$  and the second identity is due to the closed graph theorem.

Let  $T: \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}$  be a linear operator on a Banach space  $\mathscr{B}$  with domain  $\mathscr{D}(T)$  and range  $\mathscr{R}(T)$ . We will denote

$$\varpi(T) \coloneqq \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \exists (z - T)^{-1} \colon \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}\} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \ker(z - T) = \{0\}, \ \mathscr{R}(z - T) = \mathscr{B}\},\$$
$$\varrho(T) \coloneqq \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \exists (z - T)^{-1} \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B})\}.$$

The set  $\rho(T)$ , obviously included in  $\varpi(T)$ , is known as the resolvent set of T and it is non-empty only for a closed operator T. When T is closed, the resolvent operator  $(z-T)^{-1}$ is not only bounded and everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}$  for  $z \in \rho(T)$ , but it is also analytic in zin such a domain. Besides, the closed graph theorem implies that

$$T \text{ closed} \Rightarrow \varrho(T) = \varpi(T).$$
 (20)

Closely related to the resolvent operator are the notions of Stieltjes function and FRfunction. The expressions (3) and (4) of FR-functions and Stieltjes functions for the unitary case suggest a generalization to arbitrary operators which also involves projections. The validity of the results of this section for arbitrary Banach spaces –even in the absence of an inner product– reflects the fact that they are indeed true for arbitrary bounded – not necessarily orthogonal– projections, i.e. for arbitrary pairs of complementary closed subspaces.

Following these ideas, we will introduce the Stieltjes function and FR-function of a **bounded projection**, which we will define for an arbitrary **closed operator**. Since we assume no symmetry for the operator, no spectral measure is available in this case, so we should define such functions resorting to operator identities similar to (3) and (4).

**Definition 2.1.** Let  $T: \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{H}$  be a closed operator on a Banach space  $\mathscr{B}$  and P a bounded projection of  $\mathscr{B}$  onto a closed subspace  $\mathscr{B}_0$ . The **Stieltjes function** of the projection P with respect to the operator T is the function s with values in operators on  $\mathscr{B}_0$  given by

$$s(z) := P(1 - zT)^{-1}P, \qquad z^{-1} \in \varrho(T).$$

When  $\mathscr{B}$  is a Hilbert space and P is the orthogonal projection onto  $\mathscr{B}_0$  we will also refer to s as the Stieltjes function of the subspace  $\mathscr{B}_0$  with respect to the operator T.

The existence of  $s(z): \mathscr{B}_0 \to \mathscr{B}_0$  for every bounded projection only requires the existence of  $(1 - zT)^{-1}: \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}$ , i.e.  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(T)$ . However, (20) implies that  $\varpi(T) = \varrho(T)$ , thus the domain of definition  $z^{-1} \in \varrho(T)$  is the largest one which guarantees the existence of the Stieltjes function for every bounded projection P as an operator everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}_0 = \mathscr{R}(P)$ . Actually, these arguments and the properties of the resolvent operator show that s(z) is an analytic function with values in  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B}_0)$  for  $z^{-1} \in \varrho(T)$ .

The origin may also lie in the domain of analyticity of s –for instance, if  $T \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B})$ – but is in general a special point which requires particular care. For example, a naive evaluation suggests that s(0) is always the identity on  $\mathscr{B}_0$ . However, by definition, 1 - zT has domain  $\mathscr{D}(T)$  for any value of z, hence we should identify this operator with the identity on  $\mathscr{D}(T)$ for z = 0. Therefore, the origin lies outside of the set of values of z for which  $(1 - zT)^{-1}$  is everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}$  unless  $\mathscr{D}(T) = \mathscr{B}$ , i.e. unless  $T \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B})$ . Hence, s(0) is the identity on  $\mathscr{B}_0 \cap \mathscr{D}(T)$ , which belongs to  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B}_0)$  only when  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ .

The Stieltjes function given by the above definition becomes the usual Stieltjes function for the spectral measure  $\mu$  of the subspace  $\mathscr{B}_0$  when T has a spectral decomposition, i.e. if  $\mathscr{B}$  is a Hilbert space and T is a normal operator on  $\mathscr{B}$ ,

$$T = \int t \, dE(t) \quad \Rightarrow \quad \mu = PEP \quad \Rightarrow \quad s(z) = \int \frac{d\mu(t)}{1 - zt}.$$
(21)

Note that  $\mu$  is normalized so that  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = 1_0$  is the identity on  $\mathscr{B}_0$  because  $E(\mathbb{R}) = 1$  is the identity on  $\mathscr{B}$ .

The key point of this section is the generalization to arbitrary closed operators of the Schur functions appearing in the unitary case. As in the case of Stieltjes functions, such a generalization calls for a purely operator definition, suggested in this case by the identification between Schur functions and FR-functions related to unitary operators. This leads to the introduction of the FR-function of a bounded projection with respect to a closed operator, which constitutes the generalization of Schur functions beyond the unitary case.

**Definition 2.2.** Let  $T: \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}$  be a closed operator on a Banach space  $\mathscr{B}$  and P a bounded projection of  $\mathscr{B}$  onto a closed subspace  $\mathscr{B}_0$ . The **first return function (FR-function)** of the projection P with respect to the operator T is the function f with values in operators on  $\mathscr{B}_0$  given by

$$f(z) := PT(1 - zQT)^{-1}P, \qquad Q = 1 - P, \qquad z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT).$$
(22)

When  $\mathscr{B}$  is a Hilbert space and P is the orthogonal projection onto  $\mathscr{B}_0$  we will also refer to f as the FR-function of the subspace  $\mathscr{B}_0$  with respect to the operator T.

The condition  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT)$  means that  $(1-zQT)^{-1}$  exists as an operator with domain  $\mathscr{B}$ and range  $\mathscr{D}(T)$ , so that  $T(1-zQT)^{-1}$  is also everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}$ . This ensures that, for every projection P, its FR-function gives at z an operator f(z) everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}_0 = \mathscr{R}(P)$ .

The origin requires once again special care. The operator QT has domain  $\mathscr{D}(T)$ , so for z = 0 we should consider 1 - zQT as the identity on  $\mathscr{D}(T)$ . Thus, f(0) = PTP, which fails to be everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}_0$  unless  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ . An FR-function f may also satisfy  $f(0) \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B}_0)$ , as it is the case of  $T \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H})$  where f becomes analytic at the origin.

In contrast to the Stieltjes case, the condition  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT)$  is not necessarily equivalent to  $z^{-1} \in \varrho(QT)$  because the class of closed operators on  $\mathscr{H}$  is preserved by the product by an operator of  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B})$  on the right but not on the left, i.e.

$$ST$$
 closed  $\notin$  T closed,  $S \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B}) \Rightarrow$  TS closed.

This means that QT need not be closed even if T is closed (this is for instance the case if a sequence  $v_n \in \mathscr{D}(T)$  converging to  $v \in \mathscr{H} \setminus \mathscr{D}(T)$  satisfies  $Tv_n \in \mathscr{B}_0$  because then  $(v_n, QTv_n) = (v_n, 0)$  converges to (v, 0) which does not belong to the graph of QT). Hence,  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT)$  implies the existence of  $f(z): \mathscr{B}_0 \to \mathscr{B}_0$  for every projection P, but a priori does not guarantee that  $f(z) \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B}_0)$ . The following proposition shows that the stronger condition  $z^{-1} \in \varrho(QT)$  selects an open subset of  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT)$  in which  $f(z) \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B}_0)$ .

**Proposition 2.3.** Let  $T: \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}$  be a closed operator on a Banach space  $\mathscr{B}$ , P a bounded projection of  $\mathscr{B}$  onto a closed subspace  $\mathscr{B}_0$  and Q = 1 - P. Then, the FR-function f(z) of P with respect to T is an analytic function with values in  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B}_0)$  for  $z^{-1} \in \varrho(QT)$ .

Proof. The condition  $z^{-1} \in \varrho(QT)$  means that  $(1 - zQT)^{-1} \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B})$  so, as a product of a closed operator by an operator of  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B})$  on the right,  $T(1 - zQT)^{-1}: \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}$  is also closed, hence it is bounded by the closed graph theorem. We conclude that  $T(1 - zQT)^{-1} \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B})$  and  $f(z) \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B}_0)$  for  $z^{-1} \in \varrho(QT)$ , where both operator valued functions are also analytic in z due to the properties of the resolvent operator.

The domain of definition of f, determined by the properties of  $QT: \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}$ , can be rewritten sometimes in terms of the properties of the block  $QTQ: \mathscr{B}_1 \cap \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}_1$ . The proposition below provides one of such situations which will be of interest later on.

**Proposition 2.4.** Let  $T: \mathcal{D}(T) \to \mathcal{B}$  be a closed operator on a Banach space  $\mathcal{B}$ , P a bounded projection of  $\mathcal{B}$  onto a closed subspace  $\mathcal{B}_0$  and Q = 1 - P. Then,

$$\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T) \quad \Rightarrow \quad \varpi(QT) \setminus \{0\} = \varpi(QTQ) \setminus \{0\}, \quad \varrho(QT) \setminus \{0\} = \varrho(QTQ) \setminus \{0\}.$$

*Proof.* The proposition can be restated by saying that the condition  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$  ensures that 1-zQT and Q-zQTQ have simultaneously (bounded) inverses everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}$  and  $\mathscr{B}_1$  respectively. According to the comments of Section 1.2, a block representation of T is available whenever  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ , which also leads to a block representation of 1-zQT generated by P,

$$1 - zQT = \begin{pmatrix} P & 0\\ -zQTP & Q - zQTQ \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (23)

From Lemma 1.2, we know that 1 - zQT has an inverse everywhere defined iff the block Q - zQTQ does likewise, and the inverse of 1 - zQT has the block representation

$$(1 - zQT)^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} P & 0 \\ z(Q - zQTQ)^{-1}QTP & (Q - zQTQ)^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Therefore,  $(1 - zQTQ)^{-1}$  bounded implies that  $(Q - zQTQ)^{-1} = Q(1 - zQT)^{-1}Q$  is also bounded. On the other hand, the operator TP is closed –as a product of a closed operator by an operator of  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B})$  on the right– and has domain  $\mathscr{B}$  –because  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ – so it is bounded by the closed graph theorem. Hence,  $(Q - zQTQ)^{-1}$  bounded implies that  $(Q - zQTQ)^{-1}QTP$ , and thus  $(1 - zQT)^{-1}$ , are also bounded.

As a consequence of this result, the conditions  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT)$  in (22) and  $z^{-1} \in \varrho(QT)$ in Proposition 2.3 can be substituted respectively by  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(QTQ)$  and  $z^{-1} \in \varrho(QTQ)$ if  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ . This has some advantages when dealing with a self-adjoint operator Tsince such a symmetry is usually inherited by QTQ, as it is the case for instance when  $T \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B})$ .

As in the unitary case, Stieltjes functions and FR-functions are intimately related also for general operators. This relation is established in the following theorem, which constitutes the main result of this section. The theorem also uses the close link between Stieltjes functions and FR-functions to provide information about the domain of the latter ones. More precisely, the theorem below shows on the one hand that the renewal equation (6) holds beyond the unitary case, and on the other hand that the common part of the domain of definition for Stieltjes and FR-functions is characterized in terms of Stieltjes functions theirselves.

**Theorem 2.5** (renewal equation for FR-functions). Let  $T: \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}$  be a closed operator on a Banach space  $\mathscr{B}$ , P a bounded projection of  $\mathscr{B}$  onto a closed subspace  $\mathscr{B}_0$ and Q = 1 - P. Denote by s and f, respectively, the Stieltjes function and FR-function of P with respect to T. Then, if  $z^{-1} \in \varrho(T)$ ,

$$z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT) \iff \exists s(z)^{-1} \colon \mathscr{H}_0 \to \mathscr{H}_0,$$
 (24)

$$z^{-1} \in \varrho(QT) \iff \exists s(z)^{-1} \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0).$$
 (25)

Besides, f and s are related by

$$s(z)^{-1} = 1_0 - zf(z), \qquad 1_0 = identity \text{ on } \mathscr{B}_0, \qquad z^{-1} \in \varrho(T) \cap \varpi(QT), \tag{26}$$

which we will call the generalized renewal equation for arbitrary closed operators.

*Proof.* In what follows,  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  is chosen so that  $z^{-1} \in \varrho(T)$ . To prove (24) we must show that the existence of  $(1 - zQT)^{-1}$  everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}$  is equivalent to the existence of  $s(z)^{-1}$  everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}_0$ . Then, (25) means that  $(1 - zQT)^{-1}$  and  $s(z)^{-1}$  are simultaneously bounded.

 $\leftarrow$  Assume the existence of  $s(z)^{-1}: \mathscr{B}_0 \to \mathscr{B}_0$ . To prove that  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT)$  we need to show that the equation

$$(1 - zQT)u = v, \qquad v \in \mathscr{B},\tag{27}$$

has a unique solution  $u \in \mathscr{D}(T)$  for each  $v \in \mathscr{B}$ . Bearing in mind that  $z^{-1} \in \varrho(T)$ , the above equation may be rewritten as

$$(1-zT)u + zPTu = v \iff u + z(1-zT)^{-1}PTu = (1-zT)^{-1}v.$$
 (28)

Applying the operator PT to both sides of the last equation we get

$$(P + zPT(1 - zT)^{-1}P)PTu = PT(1 - zT)^{-1}v$$

which, using that

$$1 + zT(1 - zT)^{-1} = (1 - zT)^{-1}, (29)$$

reads as

$$s(z)PTu = PT(1 - zT)^{-1}v$$

Since s(z) has an inverse everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}_0$ , the above equation implies that

$$PTu = s(z)^{-1}PT(1 - zT)^{-1}v.$$
(30)

Inserting this into (28) yields

$$u = (1 - zT)^{-1}(1 - zs(z)^{-1}PT(1 - zT)^{-1})v,$$

a vector in  $\mathscr{D}(T)$  which is the only possible solution of (27). Actually, using (29) again, it is straightforward to check that this vector satisfies (30) and (27), so it is really the solution that we were looking for. This proves the left implication of (24).

The above arguments give an expression for  $(1 - zQT)^{-1}$  whenever  $s(z)^{-1}$  is everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}_0$ , namely

$$(1 - zQT)^{-1} = (1 - zT)^{-1}(1 - zs(z)^{-1}PT(1 - zT)^{-1})$$
  
=  $(1 - zT)^{-1}(1 + s(z)^{-1}P - s(z)^{-1}P(1 - zT)^{-1}),$ 

where in the second equality we have used once again (29). Bearing in mind that  $z^{-1} \in \rho(T)$ , this expression shows that  $(1-zQT)^{-1}$  is bounded whenever  $s(z)^{-1}$  is bounded. This gives the left implication of (25).

 $\Rightarrow$  The right implication of (25) follows from Proposition 2.3, assuming the right implication of (24) and the renewal equation (26), so we only need to prove the two latter ones.

Suppose now that  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT)$ , so that f(z) and s(z) exist because  $z^{-1} \in \varrho(T)$  by hypothesis, and let us prove that s(z) has an inverse everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{B}_0$ . Indeed, we will show that

$$s(z)^{-1} = 1_0 - zf(z), (31)$$

which will finally finish the proof of the theorem. We start with the identities

$$(1-zT)^{-1} - (1-zQT)^{-1} = z(1-zT)^{-1}PT(1-zQT)^{-1} = z(1-zQT)^{-1}PT(1-zT)^{-1}$$
  
=  $(1-zQT)^{-1}P(1-zT)^{-1} - (1-zQT)^{-1}P$ , (32)

where in the last step we have used (29). Multiplying (32) by the projection P on the right, we obtain from the equality between the first and the last term that

$$(1 - zT)^{-1}P = (1 - zQT)^{-1}s(z).$$
(33)

On the other hand, multiplying (32) by P both on the left and the right, the first two equalities yield

$$s(z) - P = zs(z)f(z) = zP(1 - zQT)^{-1}PT(1 - zT)^{-1}P.$$
(34)

Here we have used that  $P(1 - zQT)^{-1} = P$ , which follows from the identity obtained by substituting T by QT in (29). Finally, inserting (33) into the last term of (34) gives

$$s(z) - P = zs(z)f(z) = zf(z)s(z),$$

which is equivalent to (31) since s(z) and f(z) must be understood as operators on  $\mathscr{B}_0$ .  $\Box$ 

The generalized renewal equation can be also expressed as

$$f(z) = z^{-1}(1_0 - s(z)^{-1}), \qquad z^{-1} \in \varrho(T) \cap \varpi(QT),$$
(35)

which gives the FR-function in terms of the Stieltjes function. Inserting the definition of the Stieltjes function into (35) yields an alternative explicit expression of the FR-function in terms of the operator T,

$$f(z) = z^{-1}(s(z) - 1_0)s(z)^{-1} = (PT(1 - zT)^{-1}P)(P(1 - zT)^{-1}P)^{-1}, \quad z^{-1} \in \varrho(T) \cap \varpi(QT).$$

As a direct consequence of Proposition 2.3 and Theorem 2.5, we get the following result concerning the domain of analyticity of FR-functions.

**Corollary 2.6.** Let  $T: \mathcal{D}(T) \to \mathcal{B}$  be a closed operator on a Banach space  $\mathcal{B}$  and P a bounded projection of  $\mathcal{B}$  onto a closed subspace  $\mathcal{B}_0$ . Denote by s and f, respectively, the Stieltjes function and FR-function of P with respect to T. Then, f(z) is an analytic function with values in  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{B}_0)$  for z in

$$\{z \in \mathbb{C} : z^{-1} \in \varrho(T), \exists s(z)^{-1} \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B}_0)\}.$$

If the range of a projection is included in the domain of an operator, the corresponding FR-function admits alternative expressions, each one of them with its own interest.

**Proposition 2.7.** Let  $T: \mathcal{D}(T) \to \mathcal{B}$  be a closed operator on a Banach space  $\mathcal{B}$ , P a bounded projection of  $\mathcal{B}$  onto a closed subspace  $\mathcal{B}_0$  and Q = 1 - P. If  $\mathcal{B}_0 \subset \mathcal{D}(T)$ , the FR-function f of P with respect to T can be expressed as

(i) 
$$f(z) = P(1 - zTQ)^{-1}TP$$
,  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(QTQ)$ ,  
(ii)  $f(z) = PTP + zPTQ(Q - zQTQ)^{-1}QTP$ ,  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(QTQ)$ ,  
(iii)  $f(z) = PTP + zPTQ(1 - zQTQ)^{-1}QTP$ ,  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(QTQ)$ .

Proof.

(i) As in the proof of Proposition 2.4, we can see that  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(TQ)$  is equivalent to  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(QTQ)$  whenever  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ . If  $v \in \mathscr{D}(T)$  and  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(QTQ)$ , we can define  $w = (1 - zQT)^{-1}v \in \mathscr{D}(T)$ , which satisfies  $QTw = z^{-1}(w - v) \in \mathscr{D}(T)$  so that TQTw makes sense. Therefore,

$$(1 - zTQ)(T(1 - zQT)^{-1} - (1 - zTQ)^{-1}T)v = (1 - zTQ)Tw - T(1 - zQT)w = 0.$$

Since ker $(1 - zQT) = \{0\}$  for  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT)$ , i.e. for  $z^{-1} \in \varpi(QTQ)$ , we conclude that

$$T(1-zQT)^{-1}v = (1-zTQ)^{-1}Tv, \qquad \forall v \in \mathscr{D}(T).$$

Hence  $f(z) = PT(1 - zQT)^{-1}P = P(1 - zTQ)^{-1}TP$  because  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ .

(*ii*) The condition  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$  guarantees that  $\mathscr{B}_0$  generates the block representations (14) and (23) for T and 1 - zQT respectively. Applying Lemma 1.2 to (23) and combining the result with (14) gives

$$T(1-zQT)^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} PTP - zPTQ(Q - zQTQ)^{-1}QTP & * \\ * & * \end{pmatrix}, \qquad z^{-1} \in \varpi(QTQ),$$

which proves the result.

*(iii)* It follows from the previous result and the block diagonal representation

$$1 - zQTQ = \begin{pmatrix} P & 0\\ 0 & Q - zQTQ \end{pmatrix},$$

which yields the identity  $Q(1 - zQTQ)^{-1}Q = Q(Q - zQTQ)^{-1}Q$ .

Proposition 2.7.(*ii*) relates the FR-function f to the so called transfer/characteristic function [12, 16, 17, 39, 51] associated with the colligation operator (14) when  $T \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B})$  – so that A, B, C, D are bounded and everywhere defined–, as is the case for instance when Tis unitary. However, since unbounded operators cannot be everywhere defined, the 'transfer/characteristic function representation' of general FR-functions –with respect to not necessarily bounded operators– is more limited than the original notion (Definition 2.2) or the alternative expression provided by the renewal equation (Theorem 2.5), for which  $\mathscr{D}(T)$ imposes no constraint on  $\mathscr{B}_0$  (they hold even if  $\mathscr{B}_0 \cap \mathscr{D}(T) = \{0\}$ !). In other words, FRfunctions constitute a generalization of transfer/characteristic functions to the unbounded case. This will be crucial, for instance, when identifying the whole class of functions which are expressible as FR-functions associated with –bounded or unbounded– self-adjoint operators on Hilbert spaces. This is at the root of the wide validity of the integral and operator representations of Nevanlinna functions given in Theorem 4.1 and Corollary 4.3.

Sometimes the following modified version of Stieltjes functions will be useful.

**Definition 2.8.** Let  $T: \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{B}$  be a closed operator on a Banach space  $\mathscr{B}$  and P a bounded projection of  $\mathscr{B}$  onto a closed subspace  $\mathscr{B}_0$ . The **modified Stieltjes function** (**m-function**) of the projection P with respect to the operator T is the function m with values in operators on  $\mathscr{B}_0$  given by

$$m(z) \coloneqq P(T-z)^{-1}P, \qquad z \in \varrho(T).$$
(36)

When  $\mathscr{B}$  is a Hilbert space and P is the orthogonal projection onto  $\mathscr{B}_0$  we will also refer to m as the m-function of the subspace  $\mathscr{B}_0$  with respect to the operator T.

The function m is analytic on  $\rho(T)$  with values in  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B}_0)$ , connected to the corresponding Stieltjes function s by

$$m(z) = -z^{-1}s(z^{-1}), \qquad z \in \varrho(T)$$

This relation allows us to rewrite the previous results using m-functions instead of Stieltjes ones. For instance, the renewal equation (35) reads in terms of m-functions as

$$f(z) = z^{-1} 1_0 + m(z^{-1})^{-1}, \qquad z^{-1} \in \varrho(T) \cap \varpi(QT).$$
(37)

#### 2.1. The bounded case.

It is worth to specialize the above discussion to the case of bounded everywhere defined operators, where many of the subtleties in the previous relations and results disappear. For instance, if  $T \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B})$  every subspace lies on  $\mathscr{D}(T) = \mathscr{B}$ . Also  $QT \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B})$  and  $QTQ \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B}_0)$ , thus both operators are closed. Hence,  $\varrho(QT) = \varpi(QT)$  and  $\varrho(QTQ) = \varpi(QTQ)$ by the closed graph theorem, while  $\varrho(QT) \setminus \{0\} = \varrho(QTQ) \setminus \{0\}$  by Proposition 2.4. Since the spectrum of  $T \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B})$  is bounded, it is natural to consider the extended resolvent set  $\overline{\varrho}(T) := \varrho(T) \cup \{\infty\}$ , so that the condition  $z^{-1} \in \overline{\varrho}(T)$  defines an open set which contains the origin.

Bearing in mind the results of the previous sections in the light of the above comments, we find that FR-functions have the following list of equivalent expressions which are valid for any subspace. **Proposition 2.9.** Let  $T \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B})$ , P a bounded projection of  $\mathscr{B}$  onto a closed subspace  $\mathscr{B}_0$ and Q = 1 - P. Denote by s and f, respectively, the Stieltjes function and FR-function of P with respect to T. Then, s(z) and f(z) are analytic functions with values in  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B}_0)$  for  $z^{-1} \in \overline{\varrho}(T)$  and  $z^{-1} \in \overline{\varrho}(QTQ)$  respectively. Besides one has,

$$\begin{array}{ll} (i) \ f(z) = PT(1 - zQT)^{-1}P, & z^{-1} \in \overline{\varrho}(QTQ), \\ (ii) \ f(z) = P(1 - zTQ)^{-1}TP, & z^{-1} \in \overline{\varrho}(QTQ), \\ (iii) \ f(z) = PTP + zPTQ(Q - zQTQ)^{-1}QTP, & z^{-1} \in \overline{\varrho}(QTQ), \\ (iv) \ f(z) = PTP + zPTQ(1 - zQTQ)^{-1}QTP, & z^{-1} \in \overline{\varrho}(QTQ), \\ (v) \ zf(z) = 1_0 - s(z)^{-1}, & z^{-1} \in \overline{\varrho}(T) \cap \overline{\varrho}(QTQ), \\ (vi) \ f(z) = (PT(1 - zT)^{-1}P)(P(1 - zT)^{-1}P)^{-1}, & z^{-1} \in \overline{\varrho}(T) \cap \overline{\varrho}(QTQ), \\ (vii) \ f(z) = \sum_{n \ge 0} z^n PT(QT)^n P, & |z| < \|QTQ\|^{-1}. \end{array}$$

*Proof.* Taking into account Theorem 2.5, Proposition 2.7, the comments just before this theorem and the identities  $s(0) = 1_0$ , f(0) = PTP, it only remains to prove the analyticity of s and f at the origin as well as the expression (vii). The power expansion

$$(1-zT)^{-1} = \sum_{n\geq 0} z^n T^n, \qquad ||zT|| < 1$$

shows that s(z) is analytic for  $|z| < ||T||^{-1}$ . Similar arguments for QTQ and the power expansion of  $(1 - zQTQ)^{-1}$  around the origin, combined with the expression *(iv)*, prove that f(z) is analytic for  $|z| < ||QTQ||^{-1}$  with an expansion given by *(vii)*.

When  $\mathfrak{B}$  is a Hilbert space and P is an orthogonal projection we have that ||P|| = ||Q|| = 1. Hence, if f is the FR-function of a closed subspace with respect to a bounded operator on a Hilbert space, the power expansion of Proposition 2.9.(*vii*) holds for  $|z| < ||T||^{-1}$  regardless of the subspace.

The power expansion of FR-functions given in Proposition 2.9. (vii) identifies them as 'true generating functions' in the bounded case. Actually, this expansion gives to f the meaning of a generating function of 'first returns': suppose that each time step the state  $v \in \mathscr{B}$  of a system evolves according to  $v \to Tv$ . If the evolution starts at a state in  $\mathscr{B}_0$ , the projection P conditions on the event 'return to  $\mathscr{B}_0$ ', while the projection Q conditions on the event 'no return to  $\mathscr{B}_0$ '. Thus, the operator coefficient  $PT(QT)^n P$  reflects the fact that, starting at  $\mathscr{B}_0$ , the system has not returned to  $\mathscr{B}_0$  during the first n steps, but has returned to  $\mathscr{B}_0$  in the last step, i.e. the system has returned to  $\mathscr{B}_0$  for the first time in the last step. The power expansion of the corresponding Stieltjes function,

$$s(z) = \sum_{n \ge 0} z^n P T^n P, \qquad |z| < ||T||^{-1}$$

also uncovers its interpretation as generating function of 'returns': the operator coefficient  $PT^nP$  is associated with the return to  $\mathscr{B}_0$  in the *n*-th step, but without excluding any return at previous steps.

Proposition 2.9.(vii) implies that f(0) = PTP and  $f^{(n)}(0) = n!PTQ(QTQ)^{n-1}QTP$  for  $T \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{B})$ . Properly interpreted, this result makes sense also for certain unbounded situations, see Lemma A.1 in Appendix A.

#### 3. The self-adjoint case - Nevanlinna functions

FR-functions related to self-adjoint operators have a especial interest because, together with the unitaries, they are the operators that appear more frequently in applications. In this section we will discuss the FR-function of a self-adjoint bounded projection Pwith respect to a self-adjoint operator  $T: \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{H}$  on a Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}$ . The selfadjointness of the projection means that it is orthogonal, i.e. ker  $P = \mathscr{R}(P)^{\perp}$ . In this case we talk about the FR-function of the closed subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0 := \mathscr{R}(P)$  –since it determines the subspace  $\mathscr{H}_1 := \ker P = \mathscr{H}_0^{\perp}$  along which the projection takes place– and likewise for Stieltjes functions and m-functions. This is the kind of functions that we will consider in this section, as well as in Sections 4 and 5.

Continuing in the spirit of the previous section, we will deal with general self-adjoint operators, bounded or not. Although including unbounded situations will make the discussions more complicated, this is a price that we will pay to arrive later on at operator and integral representations valid for every Nevanlinna function, see Section 4. For the technical results on unbounded self-adjoint operators that we will use below we refer to [41, 58].

As in the unitary case, self-adjoint operators generate FR-functions with special properties. Remember that the FR-functions for unitary operators are Schur functions. This section provides a similar identification in the self-adjoint case: the FR-functions for selfadjoint operators are operator valued **Nevanlinna functions**, i.e. analytic functions  $f: \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R} \to \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$  satisfying

$$f(z)^{\dagger} = f(\overline{z}), \qquad \frac{\operatorname{Im} f(z)}{\operatorname{Im} z} \ge 0, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \smallsetminus \mathbb{R}.$$
 (38)

In other words, they are analytic functions in the upper and lower half-planes

$$\mathbb{C}_{+} \coloneqq \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Im} z > 0\}, \qquad \mathbb{C}_{-} \coloneqq \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Im} z < 0\},$$

such that

$$\operatorname{Im} f(z) \ge 0 \text{ for } z \in \mathbb{C}_+, \qquad \operatorname{Im} f(z) \le 0 \text{ for } z \in \mathbb{C}_-. \tag{39}$$

These inequalities, which hold simultaneously under the symmetry  $f(z)^{\dagger} = f(\overline{z})$ , are the self-adjoint version of the contractivity property (8) of Schur functions in the unitary case.

The subtleties arising in the unbounded case –absent for unitaries– make it difficult to know if the above connection between FR-functions for self-adjoint operators and Nevanlinna functions holds in its full extent, so we will prove it in two general cases:

- For arbitrary **finite-dimensional subspaces**, not necessarily included in the domain of the operator.
- For closed **subspaces included in the domain of the operator**, but with no restriction on their dimension.

Since we will deal with adjoints of operators which are not necessarily bounded, we must be very careful with the manipulation of adjoints. First, the adjoint of  $T: \mathcal{D}(T) \to \mathcal{H}$  exists

iff  $\mathscr{D}(T)$  is dense in  $\mathscr{H}$ , a requirement which is implicit when stating that T is self-adjoint. Besides, if we only know that T and S are operators densely defined on  $\mathscr{H}$ , all that we can say about  $(S+T)^{\dagger}$  and  $(ST)^{\dagger}$  is that, whenever S+T and ST are also densely defined on  $\mathscr{H}$ ,

$$S^{\dagger} + T^{\dagger} \subset (S + T)^{\dagger}, \qquad T^{\dagger} S^{\dagger} \subset (ST)^{\dagger}.$$

In spite of the above, to guarantee the equalities in the above relations it is not necessary for both operators to be bounded and everywhere defined, it is enough to impose this requirement for only one of the operators,

$$S \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}) \implies S^{\dagger} + T^{\dagger} = (S+T)^{\dagger}, \quad T^{\dagger}S^{\dagger} = (ST)^{\dagger}.$$

These remarks will be important in what follows.

**Theorem 3.1 (FR-functions of self-adjoint operators).** Let f be the FR-function of a closed subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{H}$  with respect to a self-adjoint operator  $T: \mathscr{D}(T) \to \mathscr{H}$  on a Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}$ . Then, f is a Nevanlinna function in any of the following cases:

(i) dim  $\mathscr{H}_0 < \infty$ . (ii)  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ .

#### Proof.

(i) Let s be the Stieltjes function of  $\mathscr{H}_0$  with respect to T. The spectrum of T is real, thus  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R} \subset \rho(T)$  and s(z) exists as an operator everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{H}_0$  for every non-real z. Also, s(z)v = 0 for some  $v \in \mathscr{H}_0$  and  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  implies that

$$0 = \langle s(z)v|v \rangle = \langle (1-zT)^{-1}v|v \rangle = \langle w|(1-zT)w \rangle = ||w||^2 - z\langle w|Tw \rangle, \qquad w = (1-zT)^{-1}v.$$

Since  $\langle w|Tw \rangle$  is real and z is not, we find that w = 0, hence v = 0. Therefore, if  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , we conclude that ker  $s(z) = \{0\}$ , which is equivalent to stating that  $s(z)^{-1} \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$  because dim  $\mathscr{H}_0 < \infty$ . Then, Corollary 2.6 implies that  $f(z) \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$  and is analytic for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ .

Let  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ . Taking adjoints we get  $s(z)^{\dagger} = s(\overline{z})$ . Applying Theorem 2.5 we find that

$$f(z) = z^{-1}(1_0 - s(z)^{-1}), \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R},$$
 (40)

hence  $f(z)^{\dagger} = f(\overline{z})$ .

To finish the proof, it is convenient to rewrite (40) using the m-function (36),

$$g(z) \coloneqq f(z^{-1}) = z\mathbf{1}_0 + m(z)^{-1}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}.$$

Then,  $\operatorname{Im} f(z)/\operatorname{Im} z \ge 0$  is equivalent to  $\operatorname{Im} g(z)/\operatorname{Im} z \le 0$ . As in the case of s, the adjoint of m is given by  $m(z)^{\dagger} = m(\overline{z})$ . Therefore, if  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\operatorname{Im} m(z) = \frac{1}{2i} P((T-z)^{-1} - (T-\overline{z})^{-1})P = (\operatorname{Im} z)P(T-\overline{z})^{-1}(T-z)^{-1}P,$$
  

$$\operatorname{Im} g(z) = \operatorname{Im} z + \frac{1}{2i}(m(z)^{-1} - (m(z)^{\dagger})^{-1}) = \operatorname{Im} z - (m(z)^{\dagger})^{-1}(\operatorname{Im} m(z))m(z)^{-1}$$
  

$$= (\operatorname{Im} z)(1_0 - (m(z)^{\dagger})^{-1}P(T-\overline{z})^{-1}(T-z)^{-1}Pm(z)^{-1})$$
  

$$= -(\operatorname{Im} z)(m(z)^{\dagger})^{-1}P(T-\overline{z})^{-1}Q(T-z)^{-1}Pm(z)^{-1}, \qquad Q = 1 - P,$$

which gives

$$\frac{\operatorname{Im} g(z)}{\operatorname{Im} z} = -R(z)^{\dagger}R(z), \qquad R(z) \coloneqq Q(T-z)^{-1}m(z)^{-1}$$

This proves that  $\operatorname{Im} g(z) / \operatorname{Im} z \leq 0$  for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ .

(*ii*) Denote by P and Q the orthogonal projections onto  $\mathscr{H}_0$  and  $\mathscr{H}_0^{\perp}$  respectively. The block operator QTQ –which controls the domain of definition of f– has domain  $\mathscr{H}_0^{\perp} \cap \mathscr{D}(T)$ , which is dense in  $\mathscr{H}_0^{\perp}$  because  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$  implies that  $\mathscr{D}(T) = \mathscr{H}_0 \oplus (\mathscr{H}_0 \cap \mathscr{D}(T))$ , while  $\mathscr{D}(T)$  is dense in  $\mathscr{H}$  because T is self-adjoint. Thus the adjoint of QTQ makes sense. Indeed  $(QTQ)^{\dagger}$  is an extension of QTQ, i.e. QTQ is symmetric.

Let us see that the symmetric block operator QTQ is indeed self-adjoint. For this purpose we can consider QTQ equivalently as an operator on  $\mathscr{H}$ . Then  $(QTQ)^{\dagger} = (TQ)^{\dagger}Q$ because  $Q \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H})$ . As for TQ = T - TP, remember from the proof of Proposition 2.4 that  $TP \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H})$  whenever  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$  because then TP is closed and everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{H}$ . Hence  $(TQ)^{\dagger} = T - (TP)^{\dagger}$ . Note that  $(TP)^{\dagger} \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H})$  is an extension of PT to the whole space  $\mathscr{H}$ . Despite this, we can substitute  $(TP)^{\dagger}$  by PT in  $T - (TP)^{\dagger}$  because this operator has the same domain  $\mathscr{D}(T)$  as PT. We conclude that  $(TQ)^{\dagger} = T - PT = QT$ , so that  $(QTQ)^{\dagger} = (TQ)^{\dagger}Q = QTQ$ .

As a self-ajoint operator, QTQ has real spectrum, thus  $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R} \subset \rho(QTQ)$ . Then, Proposition 2.4 implies that  $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R} \subset \rho(QT)$ , so that from Proposition 2.3 we know that  $f(z) \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$  and is analytic for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}$ . Since Theorem 2.5 gives (40), we can follow the same steps as in the case (i) to prove (38).

As a consequence of the previous theorem, if a subspace has finite dimension or lies in the domain of the operator, the versions (35) and (37) of the corresponding renewal equation read in the self-adjoint case as

$$f(z) = z^{-1}(1_0 - s(z)^{-1}) = z^{-1}1_0 + m(z^{-1})^{-1}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R},$$
(41)

$$s(z) = P(1-zT)^{-1}P = \int \frac{d\mu(t)}{1-zt}, \qquad m(z) = P(T-z)^{-1}P = \int \frac{d\mu(t)}{t-z}, \qquad \mu(\mathbb{R}) = 1_0.$$

Here  $\mu$  is the spectral measure assigned to the subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0$  by the self-adjoint operator T.

As in the case of Schur functions, a dichotomy concerning Nevanlinna functions classifies them into two types. If f is a scalar Nevanlinna function, i.e. an analytic map  $f: \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ such that  $\overline{f(z)} = f(\overline{z})$  and  $f(\mathbb{C}_{\pm}) \subset \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{\pm}$ , general principles of complex analysis lead to the following options:

- f is degenerate: Im  $f(z_0) = 0$  for some  $z_0 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , then f is a real constant on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ .
- f is non-degenerate: Im  $f \neq 0$  on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , then  $f(\mathbb{C}_{\pm}) \subset \mathbb{C}_{\pm}$ .

On the other hand, the operator valued Nevanlinna functions  $f: \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{H}_0)$  are obviously characterized by the fact that  $\langle v | f(z)v \rangle$  is a scalar Nevanlinna function for every  $v \in \mathcal{H}_0$ . This allows us to study many properties of the operator valued case by reducing them to the scalar situation.

This is the case for instance for the analysis of the strict positivity of Im f. To state that Im  $f(z_0)/\operatorname{Im} z_0$  is not positive definite at some  $z_0 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  is equivalent to the existence of  $v \in \mathscr{H}_0$  such that Im  $f(z_0)v = 0$ . Then,  $\operatorname{Im}\langle v|f(z_0)v \rangle = \langle v|\operatorname{Im} f(z_0)v \rangle = 0$ , so that  $\langle v|f(z)v\rangle$  is a degenerate scalar Nevanlinna function, i.e. a real constant. As a consequence  $\langle v|\operatorname{Im} f(z)v\rangle = \operatorname{Im}\langle v|f(z)v\rangle = 0$  for every  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , which implies that  $\operatorname{Im} f(z)v = 0$  at every non-real z because  $\operatorname{Im} f(z)/\operatorname{Im} z \ge 0$ . Therefore, ker  $\operatorname{Im} f(z)$  is independent of  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , leaving only two possibilities:

- f is degenerate: ker Im f is non-trivial on  $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}$ , then Im  $f/\operatorname{Im} z \ge 0$  but nowhere positive definite on  $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}$ .
- f is non-degenerate: ker Im f is trivial on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , then Im  $f/\operatorname{Im} z > 0$  on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ .

Degenerate Nevanlinna functions have several equivalent characterizations. Some of them, of interest for the Nevanlinna version of the Schur algorithm discussed below, have to do with the limit value and the derivative of Nevanlinna functions at a point in the real line. When this point is the origin, the existence of such limits and derivatives is guaranteed for FR-functions of bounded operators, but may hold even for an unbounded self-adjoint operator T if understood as limits along the imaginary axis, i.e. normal to the real line: if  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ , the corresponding FR-function f has a well defined normal limit at the origin

$$f(0) \coloneqq \lim_{y \to 0} f(iy) = PTP \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0),$$

while the more restrictive condition  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T^2)$  ensures that f has also a normal derivative at the origin

$$f'(0) \coloneqq \lim_{y \to 0} \frac{f(iy) - f(0)}{iy} = PTQTP \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0).$$

These limits must be understood in the weak sense if dim  $\mathcal{H}_0 = \infty$ , see Lemma A.1 in Appendix A.

In the case of a Nevanlinna FR-function f, the above expressions show that f(0) is selfadjoint, while f'(0) is not only self-adjoint, but also non-negative definite. Actually, these properties of normal limits and normal derivatives hold for every Nevanlinna function at every point in the real line where such limit and derivative exist.

**Proposition 3.2.** Given an arbitrary Nevanlinna function  $f: \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R} \to \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$ , consider the following weak limits for  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$f(x) \coloneqq \lim_{y \to 0} f(x + iy), \qquad (normal \ limit \ of \ f \ at \ x),$$
$$f'(x) \coloneqq \lim_{y \to 0} \frac{f(x + iy) - f(x)}{iy} \qquad (normal \ derivative \ of \ f \ at \ x).$$

Then, whenever these limits exist as everywhere defined operators on  $\mathscr{H}_0$ , they are selfadjoint operators of  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$  and  $f'(x) \ge 0$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that f(x) is everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{H}_0$  for some  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . Since  $f(x+iy)^{\dagger} = f(x-iy)$  for  $y \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ , we get

$$\langle u|f(x)v\rangle = \lim_{y\to 0} \langle u|f(x+iy)v\rangle = \lim_{y\to 0} \langle f(x-iy)u|v\rangle = \langle f(x)u|v\rangle, \qquad u,v \in \mathcal{H}_0$$

This means that f(0) is self-adjoint, hence closed, thus it is also bounded because f(0) has closed domain  $\mathscr{H}_0$  by hypothesis.

If, besides, f'(x) is everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{H}_0$ , then

$$\langle v|f'(x)v\rangle = \lim_{y \to 0} \frac{\langle v|(f(x+iy) - f(x))v\rangle - \langle v|(f(x-iy) - f(x))v\rangle}{2iy}$$
$$= \lim_{y \to 0} \frac{\langle v|\operatorname{Im} f(x+iy)v\rangle}{y} \ge 0, \qquad v \in \mathscr{H}_0.$$

This implies that f'(x) is self-adjoint and non-negative definite, hence also bounded since we assume that it has closed domain  $\mathscr{H}_0$ .

The following proposition summarizes different properties that distinguish between degenerate and non-degenerate Nevanlinna functions, among them those given in terms of their limits and derivatives at a point in the real line. The proof is given in Appendix B.

**Proposition 3.3.** If  $f: \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R} \to \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$  is a Nevanlinna function and  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , then, for every  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\ker \operatorname{Im} f(z) = \{ v \in \mathscr{H}_0 : fv \text{ is constant on } \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R} \}$$
$$= \ker(f(z) - f(x)), \qquad \text{if } \exists f(x) \coloneqq \lim_{y \to 0} f(x + iy),$$
$$= \ker f'(x), \qquad \text{if } \exists f'(x) \coloneqq \lim_{y \to 0} (f(x + iy) - f(x))/iy,$$

where f(x) and f'(x) are assumed to exist as weak limits everywhere defined on  $\mathcal{H}_0$ . As a consequence, any of the following conditions characterizes the non-degenerate Nevanlinna functions:

(i) Im  $f(z_0)$  is invertible for some  $z_0 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ .

(ii) Im 
$$f(z)$$
 is invertible for every  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ 

- (*iii*) fv is not constant on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  for any  $v \in \mathcal{H}_0 \setminus \{0\}$ .
- (iv)  $f(z_0) f(x)$  is invertible for some  $z_0 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  (if f(x) exists).
- (v) f(z) f(x) is invertible for every  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  (if f(x) exists).
- (vi) f'(x) is invertible (if f'(x) exists).

Taking into account the previous remark, Propositions 3.2 and 3.3 imply that for every non-degenerate Nevanlinna function f and  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , f'(x) is positive definite when it exists as an everywhere defined operator.

The above properties of non-degenerate Nevanlinna functions will be key to guarantee the proper running of the Schur algorithm on the real line discussed in Section 5: analogously to the case of Schur functions, such a Schur algorithm for Nevanlinna functions will not stop unless a degenerate Nevanlinna iterate arises.

## 4. Representations of Nevanlinna functions

As in the unitary case, the FR-functions for self-adjoint operators turn out to be more than mere examples of Nevanlinna functions. We will see in this section that the FRfunctions of finite-dimensional subspaces with respect to self-adjoint operators provide all the matrix Nevanlinna functions, up to additive terms which are non-negative multiples of  $-z^{-1}$ . This gives a new operator representation for matrix Nevanlinna functions, analogue of the operator representation for matrix Schur functions as FR-functions related to unitaries. This result also yields a new integral representation of matrix Nevanlinna functions, providing a self-adjoint version of the integral representation (9) of matrix Schur functions. This establishes a connection between matrix Nevanlinna functions and matrix measures on the real line which, in contrast to the standard one, is one-to-one, and is in perfect analogy with the usual correspondence between matrix Schur functions and matrix measures on the unit circle via Carathéodory functions.

Before proving the above results, let us recall the details of the standard integral representations of matrix Nevanlinna functions see [63, Chapter III], [16, Sect. I.4] and [35, 36, 62]. A general representation formula states that every such a function f can be expressed as

$$f(z) = a + bz + \int \frac{1 + zt}{t - z} d\nu(t),$$
(42)

with a self-adjoint matrix, b a non-negative definite matrix and  $\nu$  a finite positive matrix measure on  $\mathbb{R}$ . This integral representation establishes a one-to-one correspondence between matrix Nevanlinna functions and matrix measures on  $\mathbb{R}$  only up to the matrix coefficients a, b.

A particular situation will be of especial interest. It can be proved that the condition

$$\sup_{y>0} y \|f(iy)\| < \infty \tag{43}$$

is equivalent to stating that the matrix Nevanlinna function f is the m-function of a finite (not necessarily normalized) matrix measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}$ , i.e.

$$f(z) = \int \frac{d\mu(t)}{t-z}.$$
(44)

Actually, by dominated convergence, such an m-function satisfies

$$\mu(\mathbb{R}) = \lim_{y \to \infty} -iyf(iy) = \lim_{y \to \infty} y \operatorname{Im} f(iy).$$
(45)

In the case of an m-function  $f(z) = P(T - z)^{-1}P$  associated with a self-adjoint operator  $T = \int t \, dE(t)$ , the related measure  $\mu$  is the spectral measure PEP of the subspace where P projects, thus  $\mu$  is normalized by  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = 1_0$  and

$$\lim_{y \to 0} -iyf(iy) = 1_0.$$
(46)

The above results will be the key to proving the theorem below.

To connect with the language in the paper, note that any Nevanlinna function with values in operators on a finite-dimensional Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}_0$  can be identified with a matrix valued Nevanlinna function by choosing an orthonormal basis in  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . Hence, the above results about integral representations can be obviously translated to the operator valued setting if dim  $\mathscr{H}_0 < \infty$ .

**Theorem 4.1** (characterizations of matrix Nevanlinna functions). If  $\mathcal{H}_0$  is a finitedimensional Hilbert space, the following statements are equivalent:

(i) f is a Nevanlinna function with values in  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$ .

(*ii*) **Integral representation I:** There exists a positive measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  with values in operators on  $\mathscr{H}_0$  such that  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) \leq 1_0$  and, for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$f(z) = z^{-1} \left( 1_0 - \left( \int \frac{d\mu(t)}{1 - zt} \right)^{-1} \right) = z^{-1} 1_0 + m(z^{-1})^{-1}, \quad m(z) = \int \frac{d\mu(t)}{t - z}.$$

(iii) Integral representation II: There exist a positive measure  $\hat{\mu}$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  with values in operators on  $\mathscr{H}_0$  and a self-adjoint operator c on  $\mathscr{H}_0$  such that  $\hat{\mu}(\mathbb{R}) = 1_0$ ,  $c \leq 1_0$ and, for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$f(z) = z^{-1} \left( c - \left( \int \frac{d\hat{\mu}(t)}{1 - zt} \right)^{-1} \right) = cz^{-1} + \hat{m}(z^{-1})^{-1}, \quad \hat{m}(z) = \int \frac{d\hat{\mu}(t)}{t - z}.$$

(iv) **Operator representation:** f is the FR-function of a closed subspace with respect to a self-adjoint operator, up to the addition of a non-negative multiple of  $-z^{-1}$ , i.e. there exist a self-adjoint operator T on a Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H} \supset \mathscr{H}_0$  and a self-adjoint operator d on  $\mathscr{H}_0$  such that  $d \ge 0$  and, for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$f(z) = -dz^{-1} + PT(1 - zQT)^{-1}P, \qquad \begin{array}{l} P = orthogonal \ projection \ of \ \mathscr{H} \ onto \ \mathscr{H}_0, \\ Q = 1 - P. \end{array}$$

The correspondence between Nevanlinna functions and measures on  $\mathbb{R}$  established by the integral representation (ii) is one-to-one. The operators c and d in (iii) and (iv) are given by  $d = \lim_{y\to 0} -iyf(iy) = \lim_{y\to 0} y \operatorname{Im} f(iy)$  and  $c = 1_0 - d$ . The correspondence between Nevanlinna functions and pairs  $(\hat{\mu}, c)$  established by the integral representation (iii) is one-to-one.

Proof. Bearing in mind that  $-z^{-1}$  is a Nevanlinna function, Theorem 3.1.(*i*) gives the implication  $(iv) \Rightarrow (i)$ . Also, using the one-to-one correspondence  $\mu \mapsto m(z)$  between finite operator valued measures on  $\mathbb{R}$  and their m-functions, (ii) leads to a one-to-one correspondence  $\mu \mapsto f(z) = z^{-1}1_0 + m(z^{-1})^{-1}$  between Nevanlinna functions f and measures  $\mu$  such that  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) \leq 1_0$ . Due to a similar reason, asuming that the self-adjoint operator c in (iii) is fixed by the Nevanlinna function f, (iii) yields a one-to-one correspondence between such functions and pairs  $(\mu, c)$  with  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = 1_0$  and  $c \leq 1_0$ . To prove the theorem we will show that  $(i) \Rightarrow (ii) \Rightarrow (iv) \Rightarrow (iv) \Rightarrow (i)$ , obtaining also the values of the operators c and d in terms of the Nevanlinna function f.

# $(i) \Rightarrow (ii)$

All that we must prove is that, if f is a Nevanlinna function, then  $m(z) = (f(z^{-1}) - z \mathbf{1}_0)^{-1}$ is the m-function of a matrix measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  such that  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) \leq \mathbf{1}_0$ . This is proved if we show that m is a Nevanlinna function satisfying  $y ||m(iy)|| \leq 1$  for y > 0 because in this case  $\sup_{y>0} y ||m(iy)|| < \infty$  and

$$\langle v|y\operatorname{Im} m(iy)v\rangle = \operatorname{Im}\langle v|ym(iy)v\rangle \leq |\langle v|ym(iy)v\rangle| \leq y||s(iy)|| ||v||^2 \leq ||v||^2, \quad v \in \mathscr{H}_0, \quad y > 0,$$

so that  $y \operatorname{Im} s(iy) \leq 1_0$  for y > 0 and the measure  $\mu$  related to m satisfies

$$\mu(\mathbb{R}) = \lim_{y \to \infty} y \operatorname{Im} m(iy) \le 1_0.$$

Note that  $g(z) = f(z) - z^{-1}1_0$  is a non-degenerate Nevanlinna function because f(z)and  $-z^{-1}$  are both Nevanlinna functions,  $-z^{-1}$  being non-degenerate. Therefore, ker g is trivial on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , which means that g is invertible there. Bearing in mind that dim  $\mathscr{H}_0 < \infty$ , we conclude that  $g(z)^{-1} \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$  is analytic for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ . From the identity  $\operatorname{Im} g^{-1} = -(g^{-1})^{\dagger}(\operatorname{Im} g)g^{-1}$  we find that  $\operatorname{Im} g(z)^{-1}/\operatorname{Im} z < 0$ . Thus,  $\operatorname{Im} g(z^{-1})^{-1}/\operatorname{Im} z > 0$ , proving that  $m(z) = g(z^{-1})^{-1}$  is a Nevanlinna function again.

Concerning the bound for y ||m(iy)||, let us write for convenience  $ym(iy) = -h(y)^{-1}$  with  $h(y) = i1_0 - y^{-1}f(-iy^{-1})$ . Assume that y > 0. Then  $\text{Im } f(-iy^{-1}) \leq 0$  so that  $\text{Im } h(y) \geq 1_0$ . Hence,

$$\langle v|h(y)v\rangle| \ge |\operatorname{Im}\langle v|h(y)v\rangle| = \langle v|\operatorname{Im}h(y)v\rangle \ge ||v||^2, \qquad v \in \mathscr{H}_0$$

Rewriting this inequality in terms of u = h(y)v –a vector of  $\mathcal{H}_0$  which is as arbitrary as v-yields

$$\|ym(iy)u\|\|u\| \ge |\langle ym(iy)u|u\rangle| \ge \|ym(iy)u\|^2, \qquad u \in \mathscr{H}_0.$$

Therefore,  $||ym(iy)u|| \le ||u||$  for  $u \in \mathcal{H}_0$ , which means that  $y||m(iy)|| \le 1$ .

# $(ii) \Rightarrow (iv)$

Suppose that  $f(z) = z^{-1}1_0 + m(z^{-1})^{-1}$  for every non-real z, with m the m-function of a finite measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  such that  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) \leq 1$ . Let us see first that  $\mu(\mathbb{R})$  is invertible. This follows from the fact that m is an invertible Nevanlinna function, which implies that

$$0 < \frac{\operatorname{Im} m(z)}{\operatorname{Im} z} = \int \frac{d\mu(t)}{|t-z|^2} \le \int \frac{d\mu(t)}{(\operatorname{Im} z)^2} = \frac{\mu(\mathbb{R})}{(\operatorname{Im} z)^2}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$$

Therefore, we can define the measure  $\mu_0 = \mu(\mathbb{R})^{-1/2} \mu \mu(\mathbb{R})^{-1/2}$ , which is normalized by  $\mu_0(\mathbb{R}) = 1_0$ . Naimark's dilation theorem guarantees that  $\mu_0 = PEP$ , where E is a spectral measure on  $\mathbb{R}$  with values in operators on a Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H} \supset \mathscr{H}_0$  and P is the orthogonal projection of  $\mathscr{H}$  onto  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . Then, the self-adjoint operator  $T = \int t \, dE(t)$ generates the m-function  $m_0(z) = P(T-z)^{-1}P = \int d\mu_0(t)/(t-z)$  for  $\mathscr{H}_0$ , related to the Nevanlinna FR-function  $f_0(z) = PT(1-zQT)^{-1}P$  by  $f_0(z) = z^{-1} + m_0(z^{-1})^{-1}$ , according to (41). Since  $m(z) = \mu(\mathbb{R})^{1/2} m_0(z) \mu(\mathbb{R})^{1/2}$ , we find that

$$f(z) = z^{-1}1_0 + \mu(\mathbb{R})^{-1/2} m_0(z^{-1})^{-1} \mu(\mathbb{R})^{-1/2} = z^{-1}(1_0 - \mu(\mathbb{R})^{-1}) + \mu(\mathbb{R})^{-1/2} f_0(z) \mu(\mathbb{R})^{-1/2}$$

Consider the self-adjoint operator  $\tilde{T} = \hat{T}_0 T \hat{T}_0$ , where  $\hat{T}_0 = T_0 \oplus 1_0^{\perp}$  is the sum of  $T_0 = \mu(\mathbb{R})^{-1/2}$  on  $\mathscr{H}_0$  and the identity  $1_0^{\perp}$  on  $\mathscr{H}_0^{\perp}$ . Applying Theorems 6.2. (ii) and 6.2. (iii) we find that the FR-function of  $\mathscr{H}_0$  with respect to  $\tilde{T}$  is  $\tilde{f}(z) = T_0 f_0(z) T_0 = \mu(\mathbb{R})^{-1/2} f_0(z) \mu(\mathbb{R})^{-1/2}$ . Therefore,

$$f(z) = -dz^{-1} + PT(1 - zQT)^{-1}P, \qquad d = \mu(\mathbb{R})^{-1} - 1_0$$
  
where  $d = \mu(\mathbb{R})^{-1/2}(1_0 - \mu(\mathbb{R}))\mu(\mathbb{R})^{-1/2} \ge 0$  because  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) \le 1_0$ .

 $(iv) \Rightarrow (iii)$ 

Let  $f(z) = -dz^{-1} + PT(1 - zQT)^{-1}P$  for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}$ , with T a self-adjoint operator on  $\mathscr{H} \supset \mathscr{H}_0$ , P the orthogonal projection onto  $\mathscr{H}_0$ , Q = 1 - P and  $d \ge 0$ . From (41), the FR-function  $PT(1 - zQT)^{-1}P$  can be expressed as  $PT(1 - zQT)^{-1}P = z^{-1} + \hat{m}(z^{-1})^{-1}$ , where

 $\hat{m}$  is the m-function of the spectral measure  $\hat{\mu}$  of  $\mathscr{H}_0$  with respect to T, which satisfies  $\hat{\mu}(\mathbb{R}) = 1_0$ . Therefore,

$$f(z) = cz^{-1} + \hat{m}(z^{-1})^{-1}, \qquad c = (1_0 - d)z^{-1},$$

with  $c \leq 1_0$  because  $d \geq 0$ .

$$(iii) \Rightarrow (i)$$

Assume that  $f(z) = cz^{-1} + \hat{m}(z^{-1})^{-1}$  for every non-real z, with  $c \leq 1_0$  and  $\hat{m}$  the mfunction of a measure  $\hat{\mu}$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  such that  $\hat{\mu}(\mathbb{R}) = 1_0$ . Since  $\hat{m}$  is a Nevanlinna function and cis self-adjoint, f is analytic on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  and  $f(z)^{\dagger} = f(\overline{z})$ . To show that  $\operatorname{Im} f(z)/\operatorname{Im} z \geq 0$  we will use again Naimark's dilation theorem to get a spectral measure E on  $\mathbb{R}$  with values in operators on a Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H} \supset \mathscr{H}_0$  such that  $\hat{\mu} = PEP$ , where P is the orthogonal projection of  $\mathscr{H}$  onto  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . Then, the self-adjoint operator  $T = \int t \, dE(t)$  yields the operator representation  $\hat{m}(z) = P(T-z)^{-1}P$ . Using this representation we find that

$$\operatorname{Im} \hat{m}(z) = \frac{1}{2i} P((T-z)^{-1} - (T-\overline{z})^{-1})P = (\operatorname{Im} z)P(T-\overline{z})^{-1}(T-z)^{-1}P.$$

Hence,

$$\operatorname{Im} f(z^{-1}) = c \operatorname{Im} z - (\hat{m}(z)^{\dagger})^{-1} (\operatorname{Im} \hat{m}(z)) \hat{m}(z)^{-1}$$
  
=  $(\operatorname{Im} z) (c - (\hat{m}(z)^{\dagger})^{-1} P(T - \overline{z})^{-1} (T - z)^{-1} P \hat{m}(z)^{-1})$   
=  $-(\operatorname{Im} z) (\hat{m}(z)^{\dagger})^{-1} P(T - \overline{z})^{-1} (1 - PcP) (T - z)^{-1} P \hat{m}(z)^{-1}$   
=  $-(\operatorname{Im} z) (\hat{m}(z)^{\dagger})^{-1} P(T - \overline{z})^{-1} (P(1_0 - c)P + Q) (T - z)^{-1} P \hat{m}(z)^{-1}.$ 

This expression shows that  $\text{Im } f(z^{-1})/\text{Im } z \leq 0$ , which is equivalent to  $\text{Im } f(z)/\text{Im } z \geq 0$ , proving that f is a Nevanlinna function.

Concerning the values of the operators c and d, note that the proof of  $(iv) \Rightarrow (iii)$  has shown that, if d satisfies (iv), then  $c = 1_0 - d$  satisfies (iii). Besides, if c satisfies (iii), using (45) for the m-function  $\hat{m}$ , we find for the function f given by (iii) that we have

$$\lim_{y \to 0} -iyf(iy) = -c + \left(\lim_{y \to 0} iy^{-1}\hat{m}(-iy^{-1})\right)^{-1} = -c + \hat{\mu}(\mathbb{R}) = 1_0 - c.$$

This finishes the proof of the theorem.

The degree of freedom of the integral representation *(ii)* in the normalization of the measure is translated into the degree of freedom in the coefficient of  $z^{-1}$  for the integral representation *(iii)*. The impossibility to guarantee the simultaneous normalization of both terms has to do with the fact that FR-functions of self-adjoint operators give all the Nevanlinna functions but only up to  $-z^{-1}$  terms, as *(iv)* states.

The above theorem uncovers a surprising result about the set of Nevanlinna functions: all its elements can be recovered from those of the proper subset of m-functions by performing the simple transformation  $m(z) \mapsto z^{-1}1_0 + m(z^{-1})^{-1}$ . This result is the reason behind the following definition.

**Definition 4.2.** To each Nevanlinna function f with values in operators on a finitedimensional Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}_0$  we associate a measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  such that  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) \leq 1_0$  through the integral representation I in Theorem 4.1.(*ii*), i.e.  $\mu$  is the only of such measures satisfying

$$\int \frac{d\mu(t)}{1-zt} = (1_0 - zf(z))^{-1}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}.$$

We say that  $\mu$  is the **measure of the Nevanlinna function** f, or that f is the **Nevanlinna function of the measure**  $\mu$ .

The measure  $\mu$  of a Nevanlinna function, as defined previously, is different from the measure given by the integral representation II in Theorem 4.1. *(iii)* unless  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = 1_0$ . It is also different from the measure appearing in the usual integral representation (42), and from the measure of an m-function given by (44). In contrast to these other measures, according to Theorem 4.1, that one given in Definition 4.2 establishes a one-to-one correspondence between the set of all matrix Nevanlinna functions and a subset of matrix measures on  $\mathbb{R}$ , namely, the subset of measures  $\mu$  such that  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) \leq 1_0$ . Definition 4.2 is the exact analogue of the relation (6) characterizing the measure of a Schur function.

It is worth to remark that we would not have reached the almost equivalence –only up to  $-z^{-1}$  terms– between Nevanlinna functions and FR-functions for self-adjoint operators if the latter ones were defined by the transfer/characteristic function representation given by Proposition 2.7.*(ii)*. The reason for this is that the expressions of FR-functions given by this proposition are limited to subspaces included in the domain of the operator. As Lemma A.1 in Appendix A shows, this requires for the Nevanlinna functions to have a well defined normal limit at the origin, something violated by some Nevanlinna functions different from  $-z^{-1}$ , such as for instance  $\ln(z)$ .

As a direct consequence of Theorem 4.1, we get the following characterization of the Nevanlinna FR-functions, that is, the Nevanlinna functions for which there is an operator representation such as in *(iv)* of the previous theorem with d = 0. This is equivalent to stating that  $c = 1_0$ , which means that  $\hat{\mu} = \mu$ , i.e. the integral representations I and II of such theorem coincide. In other words, Nevanlinna FR-functions are those Nevanlinna functions whose measure  $\mu$  –as given by Definition 4.2– satisfies  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = 1_0$ .

Corollary 4.3 (characterizations of matrix Nevanlinna FR-functions). If  $\mathcal{H}_0$  is a finite-dimensional Hilbert space, the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) f is a Nevanlinna function with values in  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$  such that  $\lim_{y\to 0} y \operatorname{Im} f(iy) = 0$ .
- (ii) f has an integral representation (42) whose measure  $\nu$  has no mass point at the origin.
- (iii) Integral representation: There exists a positive measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  with values in operators on  $\mathcal{H}_0$  such that  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = 1_0$  and, for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$f(z) = z^{-1} \left( 1_0 - \left( \int \frac{d\mu(t)}{1 - zt} \right)^{-1} \right) = \left( \int \frac{t \, d\mu(t)}{1 - zt} \right) \left( \int \frac{d\mu(t)}{1 - zt} \right)^{-1}$$
$$= z^{-1} 1_0 + m(z^{-1})^{-1}, \qquad m(z) = \int \frac{d\mu(t)}{t - z}.$$

(iv) **Operator representation:** f is strictly the FR-function of a closed subspace with respect to a self-adjoint operator, i.e. there exists a self-adjoint operator T on a Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H} \supset \mathscr{H}_0$  such that, for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$f(z) = PT(1 - zQT)^{-1}P, \qquad \begin{array}{l} P = orthogonal \ projection \ of \ \mathscr{H} \ onto \ \mathscr{H}_0, \\ Q = 1 - P. \end{array}$$

The correspondence between Nevanlinna FR-functions and measures on  $\mathbb{R}$  established by the representation (iii) is one-to-one.

*Proof.* In view of Theorem 4.1, it only remains to see the equivalence  $(i) \Leftrightarrow (ii)$ . This follows from the fact that a matrix valued function f given by the integral representation (42) satisfies

$$\lim_{y \to 0} -iyf(iy) = \lim_{y \to 0} \int \frac{1 + iyt}{1 + iy^{-1}t} d\nu(t) = \nu(\{0\}).$$

The last equality is a consequence of the dominated convergence theorem, bearing in mind that

$$\lim_{y \to 0} \frac{1 + iyt}{1 + iy^{-1}t} = \begin{cases} 0, & t \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}, \\ 1, & t = 0, \end{cases} \qquad \left| \frac{1 + iyt}{1 + iy^{-1}t} \right|^2 = \frac{1 + y^2 t^2}{1 + y^{-2}t^2} \le 1 + y^4, \qquad y \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}.$$

In the case of a Nevanlinna FR-function f, the measure  $\mu$  given by Definition 4.2 coincides with the spectral measure of the subspace related to an operator representation of f as FR-function.

Some of the examples in Section 8.1 provide operator representations of Nevanlinna functions because there we calculate FR-functions related to stochastic matrices, which in some instances are symmetrizable. We complete this discussion with some examples of the integral representations I and II of Nevanlinna functions.

4.1. Examples of measures of Nevanlinna functions. To illustrate the previous results, let us uncover the measures of some simple scalar Nevanlinna functions. For this purpose we must identify the measure  $\mu$  of the m-function m related to the Nevanlinna function f in question by the integral representation I, i.e.

$$\int \frac{d\mu(t)}{t-z} = m(z) = \frac{1}{f(z^{-1})-z}$$

Example 4.4. Constant Nevanlinna functions.

Every constant Nevanlinna function is real. The m-function associated with a function  $f(z) = c \in \mathbb{R}$  is given by

$$m(z) = \frac{1}{c-z} = \int \frac{\delta(t-c) dt}{t-z}$$

Therefore the measure of a constant Nevanlinna function f(z) = c is a single Dirac delta  $d\mu(t) = \delta(t-c) dt$  at the constant c. Since  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = 1$ , constant Nevanlinna functions are FR-functions.

*Example* 4.5. Nevanlinna polynomials of degree one.

These Nevanlinna functions are those of the form  $f(z) = \lambda z + c$  with  $\lambda > 0$  and  $c \in \mathbb{R}$ . The corresponding m-function is given by

$$m(z)=\frac{z}{\lambda+cz-z^2}.$$

The polynomial  $z^2 - cz - \lambda = (z - a)(z - b)$  has roots a, b of different sign because  $\lambda = -ab > 0$ . Hence,

$$m(z) = \frac{m_a}{a-z} + \frac{m_b}{b-z} = \int \frac{(m_a \delta(t-a) + m_b \delta(t-b)) dt}{t-z}, \qquad m_a + m_b = 1, \\ m_a b + m_b a = 0,$$

which shows that the measures  $d\mu(t) = (m_a\delta(t-a) + m_b\delta(t-b)) dt$ , constituted by two Dirac deltas at the roots of  $z^2 - cz - \lambda$ , are the measures of these Nevanlinna polynomials. As in the previous example, these polynomials are Nevanlinna FR-functions becasue  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = m_a + m_b = 1$ .

As a particular case,  $d\mu(t) = \frac{1}{2}(\delta(t-1) + \delta(t+1)) dt$  is the measure of f(z) = z.

Example 4.6. The Nevanlinna function

$$f(z) = -\lambda z^{-1}, \qquad \lambda > 0,$$

yields the m-function

$$m(z) = -\frac{1}{(\lambda+1)z} = \frac{1}{(\lambda+1)} \int \frac{\delta(t) dt}{t-z},$$

thus  $d\mu(t) = (\lambda + 1)^{-1}\delta(t) dt$  is the corresponding measure. In contrast to the previous examples, this Nevanlinna function is not an FR-function for any  $\lambda > 0$  because  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = (\lambda + 1)^{-1} < 1$ . To obtain the normalized measure  $\hat{\mu}$  of the alternative integral representation II note that  $c = 1 - \lim_{y \to 0} -iyf(iy) = 1 - \lambda$ , hence

$$\hat{m}(z) = \frac{1}{f(z^{-1}) - cz} = -\frac{1}{z} = \int \frac{\delta(t) dt}{t - z},$$

so that  $d\hat{\mu}(t) = \delta(t) dt$ . This corresponds to the integral representation II given by

$$f(z) = (1 - \lambda)z^{-1} + \frac{1}{\hat{m}(z^{-1})}.$$

Example 4.7. The Nevanlinna function

$$f(z) = \frac{z}{\lambda - z^2}, \quad \lambda > 0,$$

has an associated m-function with the form

$$m(z) = \frac{\lambda z^2 - 1}{2z - \lambda z^3} = \frac{z^2 - a^2/2}{z(a^2 - z^2)}, \qquad a = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\lambda}},$$

which can be expressed as

$$m(z) = \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{1}{a-z} - \frac{1}{a+z} \right) - \frac{1}{2z} = \int \frac{\left( \frac{1}{4} \delta(t-a) + \frac{1}{4} \delta(t+a) + \frac{1}{2} \delta(t) \right) dt}{t-z}.$$

This identifies  $d\mu(t) = (\frac{1}{4}\delta(t-a) + \frac{1}{4}\delta(t+a) + \frac{1}{2}\delta(t)) dt$  as the measure of f, which is an FR-function because  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = 1$ .

As for the Nevanlinna function  $-1/f(z) = z - \lambda z^{-1}$ , its m-function  $m(z) = 1/(z^{-1} - (\lambda + 1)z)$ , rewritten as

$$m(z) = \frac{1}{2(\lambda+1)} \left( \frac{1}{a-z} - \frac{1}{a+z} \right) = \frac{1}{2(\lambda+1)} \int \frac{(\delta(t-a) + \delta(t-a)) dt}{t-z}, \qquad a = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda+1}},$$

shows that the corresponding measure is  $d\mu(t) = \frac{1}{2(\lambda+1)}(\delta(t-a) + \delta(t-a)) dt$ . In constrast to f, the Nevanlinna function -1/f is not an FR-function because  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = (\lambda + 1)^{-1} < 1$ . The integral representation II follows from the value of  $c = 1 - \lim_{y\to 0} -iy(-1/f(iy)) = 1 - \lambda$  and the expression of the m-function

$$\hat{m}(z) = \frac{1}{-1/f(z^{-1}) - cz} = \frac{1}{z^{-1} - z} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{1 - z} - \frac{1}{1 + z} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{(\delta(t - 1) + \delta(t + 1)) dt}{t - z}.$$

This identifies  $d\hat{\mu}(t) = \frac{1}{2}(\delta(t-1) + \delta(t+1)) dt$  as the measure of the alternative integral representation II for -1/f,

$$-\frac{1}{f(z)} = (1-\lambda)z^{-1} + \frac{1}{\hat{m}(z^{-1})}.$$

*Example* 4.8. As a final example, let us consider a non-rational Nevanlinna function to show how to proceed in such a general case. Let  $f(z) = \sqrt{z}$  be given by the branch which is analytical on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]$ , i.e.  $f(z) = \sqrt{|z|} e^{i\theta/2}$  with  $z = |z| e^{i\theta}$ ,  $\theta \in (-\pi, \pi)$ . The Stieltjes inversion formula [36,63] for the corresponding m-function

$$m(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{z^{-1} - z}} = \frac{|z|^{1/2} e^{i\theta/2}}{1 - |z|^{3/2} e^{i3\theta/2}}$$

allows us to recover the measure  $\mu$  of f. The absolutely continuous part w(t) dt is given by the weight

$$w(t) = \frac{1}{\pi} \lim_{y \downarrow 0} \operatorname{Im} m(t + iy) = \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{\sqrt{|t|}}{1 + |t|^3}, \qquad t \in (-\infty, 0],$$

while the singular part is concentrated on the points  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\lim_{y \downarrow 0} m(t + iy) = \infty$ , with the mass points being those such that  $\mu(\{t\}) = \lim_{y \downarrow} -iy(m(\{t + iy\}) \neq 0)$ . Therefore, the sigular part is in this case a Dirac delta at 1 with mass 2/3, so that the measure of  $\sqrt{z}$ is given finally by

$$d\mu(t) = w(t) dt + \frac{2}{3}\delta(t-1) dt.$$

The Nevanlinna function  $\sqrt{z}$  is an FR-function because  $\lim_{y\to 0} y\sqrt{iy} = 0$ , which means that  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = 1$  as can be easily verified.

It is worth remarking that none of the first two examples –Nevanlinna polynomials of degree not bigger than one– is characterized by a measure neither by the general representation (42) nor by the m-function representation (44). Besides, the correspondence between constant Nevanlinna functions and single Dirac deltas supported on the real line

is in perfect analogy with the case of constant Schur functions, whose associated measures are the single Dirac deltas supported on the unit circle.

#### 5. Schur Algorithm on the real line

We will see that in the self-adjoint case there exists a natural analogue of the Schur algorithm for the Nevanlinna FR-function of a subspace. Schur algorithms for Nevanlinna functions using interpolation points outside of the real line, including the point at infinity, have been already proposed in the literature, see [3, Chapter 3] and [4–6,30]. Based on our FR-function approach, we will present here a very simple and natural version of the Schur algorithm for Nevanlinna functions which interpolates them at points on the real line. We will refer to it as the 'Schur algorithm on the real line'. As we will see in Sections 7 and 8, this Schur algorithm turns out to be especially useful for applications to OPRL and RW.

The Schur algorithm for Schur functions can be seen as a way to extract iteratively the parameters of a related canonical unitary, namely, the Verblunsky coefficients (Schur parameters) of the CMV matrix associated with the related measure on  $\mathbb{T}$ . CMV matrices are the unitary analogue of Jacobi matrices [21,75] (see also [65, Chapter 4]), so a Schur algorithm for FR-functions in the self-adjoint case should extract from them the Jacobi parameters of the related measure on  $\mathbb{R}$ .

Let T be a self-adjoint operator on a Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}$ . For simplicity, consider first the related Nevanlinna FR-function f of a one-dimensional subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0 = \operatorname{span}\{v\}$ . Its spectral measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  is given in terms of the spectral decomposition  $T = \int t \, dE(t)$  by

$$\mu = \langle v | E v \rangle,$$

while the integral representation of Theorem 4.1.(ii) reads as

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{z} \left( 1 - \frac{1}{\int \frac{d\mu(t)}{1 - zt}} \right) = \frac{\int \frac{t \, d\mu(t)}{1 - zt}}{\int \frac{d\mu(t)}{1 - zt}}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}.$$
(47)

Since f is completely determined by  $\mu$ , we obtain the same FR-function for any other operator with a subspace having  $\mu$  as a spectral measure. An example of this is the self-adjoint multiplication operator in  $L^2_{\mu}$  given by

$$T_{\mu}: L^{2}_{\mu} \longrightarrow L^{2}_{\mu}$$

$$h(t) \mapsto th(t)$$

$$(48)$$

which assigns to the function h(t) = 1 the spectral measure  $\mu$ . Therefore, f becomes the FR-function of span{1} with respect to  $T_{\mu}$ .

Since  $T_{\mu}$  has simple spectrum, it can be represented as a Jacobi matrix, the canonical object we need to build up a Schur algorithm. Nevertheless, in the case of  $\mu$  with unbounded support the Jacobi representation may require a basis excluding the function h(t) = 1, which can make it difficult to recover the Stieltjes function s of  $\mu$  -hence the FR-function f- from the Jacobi matrix.
To introduce a useful Jacobi matrix in this set up we need an assumption, non-trivial only in the unbounded case: we will suppose that v lies in the domain of every positive power of T. Then, the equality  $\int t^n d\mu(t) = \langle v | T^n v \rangle$  shows that  $\mu$  has finite moments, so one can consider the corresponding OPRL  $p_n$ . The related three term recurrence relation is encoded by a Jacobi matrix

$$\mathcal{J} = \begin{pmatrix} b_0 & a_0 & & \\ a_0 & b_1 & a_1 & \\ & a_1 & b_2 & a_2 \\ & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \end{pmatrix}, \qquad a_n > 0, \qquad b_n \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(49)

If  $\mu$  is finitely supported, there will be a finite number of orthonormal polynomials  $p_n$ , so the Jacobi matrix  $\mathcal{J}$  will be finite. Otherwise, it will be an infinite Jacobi matrix.

We will identify the Jacobi matrix  $\mathcal{J}$  with the operator  $v \mapsto \mathcal{J}v$  on  $\ell^2$  with maximal domain  $\mathscr{D}(\mathcal{J}) = \{v \in \ell^2 : \mathcal{J}v \in \ell^2\}$ . To avoid getting away from self-adjointness, let us suppose that  $\mathcal{J}$  is self-adjoint, again a non-trivial assumption only in the unbounded case. In this situation  $\mathcal{J}$  is unitarily equivalent to  $T_{\mu}$  because then the polynomials are dense in  $L^2_{\mu}$  [3]. This unitary equivalence amounts to the identification of  $p_n \in L^2_{\mu}$  with the canonical vector  $e_n = (\delta_{k,n})_{k\geq 0} \in \ell^2$ . As a consequence, the Nevanlinna FR-function f of span $\{p_0(t)\} = \text{span}\{1\}$  with respect to  $T_{\mu}$  coincides with that of span $\{e_0\}$  with respect to  $\mathcal{J}$ . Therefore we get f by substituting

$$T \to \mathcal{J}, \ P \to \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & \\ & 0 & \\ & & & \ddots \end{pmatrix}, \ \begin{array}{c} PTP \to b_0, \\ PTQ \to (a_0 \ 0 \ 0 \ \cdots), \\ QTP \to (a_0 \ 0 \ 0 \ \cdots)^T, \end{array} QTQ \to \mathcal{J}^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} b_1 & a_1 & \\ a_1 & b_2 & a_2 & \\ & a_2 & b_3 & a_3 & \\ & & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \end{pmatrix},$$

in the expression given by Proposition 2.7.(ii). This yields

$$f(z) = b_0 + a_0^2 z s_1(z), \tag{50}$$

where  $s_1$  is the Stieltjes function for the orthogonality measure of the Jacobi matrix  $\mathcal{J}^{(1)}$  obtained from  $\mathcal{J}$  by coefficient stripping.

The renewal equation (47) implies that the Stieltjes function  $s_1$  is related to the corresponding FR-function  $f_1$  (of the subspace spanned by the first canonical vector with respect to  $\mathcal{J}^{(1)}$ ) by  $s_1(z) = (1 - zf_1(z))^{-1}$ . Inserting this into (50) yields

$$f(z) = b_0 + \frac{a_0^2 z}{1 - z f_1(z)}.$$
(51)

Equivalently,

$$f_1(z) = \frac{1}{z} \left( 1 + \frac{a_0^2 z}{b_0 - f(z)} \right) = \frac{1}{z} \frac{f(z) - b_0 - a_0^2 z}{f(z) - b_0},$$
(52)

which is the version of the Schur transformation for FR-functions related to self-adjoint operators. Since we are dealing with a subspace included in the domain of  $\mathcal{J}$ , the stripped Jacobi matrix  $\mathcal{J}^{(1)} = Q\mathcal{J}Q$  is also self-adjoint according to the proof of Theorem 3.1.*(ii)*. Thus  $f_1$  is also a Nevanlinna function and the above Schur transformation can be iterated. It is important to notice that the Schur algorithm for Schur functions does not resort to any external object such as a CMV matrix, rather the Schur parameters come from the evaluation at the origin of the Schur functions generated by the algorithm itself. As for the self-adjoint case, being considered now, how do the Jacobi parameters  $b_0$ ,  $a_0$  come from the original FR-function f?

Suppose for the moment that  $\mathcal{J}$  is bounded so that f is analytic around the origin, and the same holds for  $f_1$  because  $\mathcal{J}^{(1)}$  is bounded too. Then, the parameters  $b_0$  and  $a_0$  have a remarkable meaning which follows from (51),

$$f(z) = b_0 + a_0^2 z + O(z^2) \implies b_0 = f(0), \quad a_0^2 = f'(0).$$

This result remains almost unchanged in the unbounded case, despite the lack of analyticity at the origin: the evaluations at the origin must be substituted by normal limits along the imaginary axis,  $z = iy \rightarrow 0$ . More precisely, as a consequence of Lemma A.1 in Appendix A, the assumption  $v \in \mathcal{D}(T^2)$  implies that

$$f(0) \coloneqq \lim_{y \to 0} f(iy) = P\mathcal{J}P = b_0, \qquad f'(0) \coloneqq \lim_{y \to 0} \frac{f(iy) - f(0)}{iy} = (Q\mathcal{J}P)^{\dagger}(Q\mathcal{J}P) = a_0^2.$$
(53)

Actually, since we are assuming that  $v \in \mathscr{D}(T^n)$  for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , Lemma A.1 implies that f has normal derivatives of all orders at the origin.

Iterating the process, we find from (52) a 'Schur algorithm' for Nevanlinna FR-functions related to self-adjoint operators, which is given by

$$f_0(z) = f(z),$$
  

$$f_{n+1}(z) = \frac{1}{z} \frac{f_n(z) - b_n - a_n^2 z}{f_n(z) - b_n}, \qquad b_n = f_n(0), \qquad a_n^2 = f_n'(0), \qquad n \ge 0.$$
(54)

As follows from Proposition 3.3, the algorithm stops whenever a degenerate Nevanlinna iterate  $f_n$  arises since then  $f_n(z) = f_n(0)$  for every  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , otherwise  $f_n(z) - f_n(0)$  does not vanish anywhere on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  and the algorithm continues. The terminating situation corresponds to a finite Jacobi matrix related to a finitely supported measure.

The above result identifies the 'Schur parameters' of this Schur algorithm as the first two Taylor coefficients of the iterates, which also coincide with the coefficients of the corresponding Jacobi matrix. This constitutes the self-adjoint version of Geronimus theorem [34] (see also [65, Chapter 3]) relating Schur parameters and Verblunsky coefficients in the unitary case.

If  $b_0, a_0, b_1, a_1, \ldots$  are the Schur parameters of f, then its *n*-th iterate  $f_n$  is again a Nevanlinna FR-function with Schur parameters  $b_n, a_n, b_{n+1}, a_{n+1}, \ldots$  This is in perfect analogy with the unitary case. While the unitary Schur algorithm (10) removes from a Schur function the first term of its power expansion around the origin, the self-adjoint version (54) needs to remove the first and second terms of a similar expansion for Nevanlinna functions. Notice that in both cases we substract from the power expansion of the FR-function information corresponding to two real parameters.

The Schur algorithm (54) is easily generalized to the case of a higher finite-dimensional subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . A choice of an orthonormal basis in  $\mathscr{H}_0$  allows us to identify its spectral

measure as a matrix valued one. This leads to matrix valued OPRL [27] when  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T^n)$ for every  $n \ge 1$ . The corresponding recurrence relation leads to a block Jacobi matrix which takes the place of (49). It has the same form as (49), but now the coefficients are square matrices  $b_n = b_n^{\dagger}$  and  $a_n > 0$  of size dim  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . Assuming  $\mathcal{J}$  self-adjoint –as an operator on  $\ell^2$ with maximal domain–, similar arguments to those of the one-dimensional case show that (50) and (51) read now as follows

$$f(z) = b_0 + za_0s_1(z)a_0 = b_0 + za_0(1_0 - zf_1(z))^{-1}a_0, \quad 1_0 = \text{identity matrix of size } \dim \mathscr{H}_0.$$

Here  $s_1$  is the Stieltjes function of the matrix measure associated with the block Jacobi matrix  $\mathcal{J}^{(1)}$  with blocks  $b_n$ ,  $a_n$ ,  $n \ge 1$ . Also,  $f_1$  is the FR-function with respect to  $\mathcal{J}^{(1)}$  for the subspace of  $\ell^2$  on which the first block column of  $\mathcal{J}^{(1)}$  acts. We finally find the following form for the Schur algorithm in the case of matrix valued Nevanlinna FR-functions associated with self-adjoint operators,

$$f_{0}(z) = f(z),$$
  

$$f_{n+1}(z) = z^{-1}a_{n}^{-1}(f_{n}(z) - b_{n} - a_{n}^{2}z)(f_{n}(z) - b_{n})^{-1}a_{n}, \qquad b_{n} = f_{n}(0),$$
  

$$= z^{-1}a_{n}(f_{n}(z) - b_{n})^{-1}(f_{n}(z) - b_{n} - a_{n}^{2}z)a_{n}^{-1}, \qquad a_{n}^{2} = f_{n}'(0), \qquad n \ge 0.$$
(55)

In the unbounded case  $f_n(0)$  and  $f'_n(0)$  must be understood as normal limits along the imaginary axis analogous to (53), as follows from Lemma A.1 in Appendix A.

The above algorithm does not stop unless an iterate  $f_n$  is degenerate because Proposition 3.3 shows that non-degeneracy is equivalent to the invertibility of  $f_n(z) - f_n(0)$ , a property which holds simultaneously for every  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ .

As in the one-dimensional case, the *n*-th iterate  $f_n$  is again a Nevanlinna FR-function whose matrix Schur parameters  $b_n, a_n, b_{n+1}, a_{n+1}, \ldots$  are obtained by stripping those of f.

When compared with the Schur algorithm (54) for scalar Nevanlinna functions, the only additional ingredients of the matrix valued version (55) are the left and right factors  $a_n^{\pm 1}$  which obviously cancel in the scalar case. This in in perfect analogy with the Schur algorithm for Schur functions, whose matrix valued version involves the matrix Möbius transformations (12). The factors  $a_n^{\pm 1}$  are the Nevanlinna analogues of the left and right factors of the type  $\rho_{\alpha}^{\pm 1}$  appearing in such matrix Möbius transformations, which cancel in the scalar case leading to the Schur algorithm defined by the scalar Möbius transformations (11).

The FR-functions introduced in this paper are not the only Nevanlinna functions that can be considered in the self-adjoint case. For instance, the m-function m is also a Nevanlinna function. Indeed, m-functions for measures on  $\mathbb{R}$  are sometimes considered as an analogue of Schur functions for measures on  $\mathbb{T}$ . That is, m-functions fit with the requirement (B) in the introduction concerning the similarity with the properties of Schur functions. Regarding the requirement (C) about the existence of a Schur algorithm, using the relation (41) between Stieltjes functions and FR-functions it can be easily seen that the Schur algorithm (54) is equivalent to

$$m_{0}(z) = m(z),$$

$$m_{n+1}(z) = \frac{1}{a_{n}^{2}} \left( b_{n} - z - \frac{1}{m_{n}(z)} \right),$$

$$b_{n} = \lim_{y \to \infty} (iy + 1/m_{n}(iy)),$$

$$a_{n}^{2} = \lim_{y \to \infty} iy(iy + 1/m_{n}(iy) - b_{n}),$$

$$n \ge 0.$$
(56)

This algorithm requires the existence of the limits giving  $b_n$  and  $a_n^2$  at every step, a condition which is not guaranteed for the m-function m of an arbitray normalized measure on  $\mathbb{R}$ , as the examples in the next subsection show. When such conditions hold, the algorithm yields a terminating sequence of m-functions if  $a_n = 0$  for some n, and an infinite sequence otherwise.

The algorithm (56) is considered sometimes as the Schur algorithm for Nevanlinna functions of Stieltjes form, see [3, Chapter 3] and [5,31]. However, (54) seems a more natural version of the standard Schur algorithm (10). Besides, (54) provides a transparent meaning for the 'Schur parameters' of Nevanlinna functions –quite close to that of the Schur parameters for Schur functions– which is obscured in (56). Rewriting (54) as (56) is as unnatural as rewriting the Schur algorithm for Schur functions in terms of Stieltjes or Carathéodory functions.

The Schur algorithms (54) and (56) are equivalent once the relation between FRfunctions and m-functions is taken into account. Nevertheless, if we think of them simply as Schur algorithms for Nevanlinna functions, they have a different range of applicability. The usual Schur algorithm (56) applies to Nevanlinna functions with an asymptotic behaviour at infinity controlled by (46) and such that the limits involved in (56) exist. Indeed, this convergence requirement is needed also for each iterate, which amounts to asking for the analyticity at infinity of the Nevanlinna function restricted to the imaginary axis [3, Chapter 3].

On the other hand, the Schur algorithm (54) requires of the Nevanlinna function and its iterates certain regularity at the origin, where they must have a well defined normal limit and derivative. However, as we will see below, the applicability of (54) at every step can be easily determined from the beginning, because this new algorithm works as long as the original Nevanlinna function has normal derivatives of all orders at the origin. Therefore, (54) applies for instance to every Nevanlinna function which is analytic at the origin. All these comments remain true even in the matrix valued case, as the next theorem shows.

For convenience, we introduce the following definition.

**Definition 5.1.** We denote by  $\mathfrak{N}_r(x)$  the set of matrix valued Nevanlinna functions f with *r*-th normal derivative at  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , which means that the limits below do exist

$$f^{(0)}(x) = f(x) \coloneqq \lim_{y \to 0} f(x + iy),$$
  
$$f^{(k)}(x) \coloneqq \lim_{y \to 0} \frac{f^{(k)}(x + iy) - f^{(k)}(x)}{iy}, \qquad k = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$

With this notation, we can state the alluded result about the Schur algorithm (54) and its matrix version (55).

**Theorem 5.2.** The transformation

$$\begin{split} f(z) &\mapsto g(z) = z^{-1} f'(0)^{-1/2} (f(z) - f(0) - f'(0)z) (f(z) - f(0))^{-1} f'(0)^{1/2}, \\ &= z^{-1} f'(0)^{1/2} (f(z) - f(0))^{-1} (f(z) - f(0) - f'(0)z) f'(0)^{-1/2}, \\ f'(0)^{1/2} &= non-negative \ definite \ square \ root \ of \ f'(0), \end{split}$$

satisfies the following properties:

(i)  $f \in \mathfrak{N}_1(0)$  non-degenerate  $\Rightarrow g$  is a Nevanlinna function.

(*ii*)  $f \in \mathfrak{N}_r(0)$  non-degenerate  $\Rightarrow g \in \mathfrak{N}_{r-2}(0), r \ge 2.$ 

As a consequence, the scalar and matrix Schur algorithms (54) and (55) are valid for every  $f \in \mathfrak{N}_{\infty}(0)$ , and in this case generate finitely or infinitely many Nevanlinna iterates  $f_n$  depending whether a degenerate iterate arises or not.

### Proof.

(i) The transformation is well defined for every non-degenerate  $f \in \mathfrak{N}_1(0)$  because, by Proposition 3.3, f(z) - f(0) is invertible for every  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , while f'(0) is not only invertible but also positive definite due to Proposition 3.2. In this case, the equality between the two alternative expressions of g follows from the fact that both of them can be rewritten as

$$g(z) = z^{-1} 1_0 - f'(0)^{1/2} (f(z) - f(0))^{-1} f'(0)^{1/2}$$

Therefore,

$$g(z) = z^{-1}1_0 + m(z^{-1})^{-1}, \qquad m(z) = f'(0)^{-1/2}(f(0) - f(z^{-1}))f'(0)^{-1/2}.$$

Since  $-f(z^{-1})$  is a Nevanlinna function and, from Proposition 3.2, f(0) and f'(0) are self-adjoint, we conclude that m is also a Nevanlinna function. Besides, the limit

$$\lim_{y \to \infty} -iym(iy) = \lim_{y \to \infty} f'(0)^{-1/2} \frac{f(-iy^{-1}) - f(0)}{-iy^{-1}} f'(0)^{-1/2} = 1_0,$$

proves that m satisfies the condition (43) which identifies it as an m-function, being the related measure  $\mu$  such that  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = \lim_{y\to\infty} -iym(iy) = 1_0$ . Therefore, Theorem 4.1 implies that g is a Nevanlinna function.

(*ii*) Let us write  $g(z) = f'(0)^{-1/2}h_1(z)h_0(z)^{-1}f'(0)^{1/2}$  with

$$h_0(z) = \frac{f(z) - f(0)}{z}, \qquad h_1(z) = \frac{f(z) - f(0) - f'(0)z}{z^2},$$

which are analytic on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ . Actually, for every non-degenerate  $f \in \mathfrak{N}_2(0)$ , the functions  $h_0$  and  $h_1$  have normal limits at the origin given by

$$h_0(0) = f'(0), \qquad h_1(0) = \frac{1}{2}f''(0).$$

Since  $h_0(0)$  is invertible,  $g \in \mathfrak{N}_{r-2}(0)$  whenever the normal derivatives  $h_0^{(k)}(0)$  and  $h_1^{(k)}(0)$  exist for  $k = 1, 2, \ldots, r-2$ . This follows from the condition  $f \in \mathfrak{N}_r(0)$  because

$$h_0^{(k)}(0) = \frac{1}{k+1} f^{(k+1)}(0), \qquad h_1^{(k)}(0) = \frac{1}{(k+1)(k+2)} f^{(k+2)}(0).$$

42

There exists an additional advantage of the Schur algorithm (54). Using a real shift  $f(z) \rightarrow f(z+x), x \in \mathbb{R}$ , we see that (54) can be generalized to a Schur algorithm with a wider applicability, which requires the existence of normal derivatives at an arbitrarily chosen point  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . Such an algorithm amounts to substituting the origin by  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  in (54) and (55) for the scalar and matrix valued case respectively.

**Definition 5.3.** The Schur algorithm on the real line is defined for a given  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  and every Nevanlinna function  $f \in \mathfrak{N}_{\infty}(x)$  by

$$f_0(z) = f(z),$$
  

$$f_{n+1}(z) = \frac{1}{z-x} \frac{f_n(z) - f_n(x) - f'_n(x)(z-x)}{f_n(z) - f_n(x)}, \qquad n \ge 0,$$
(57)

in the scalar case, while its matrix valued extension reads as follows

$$\begin{aligned} f_0(z) &= f(z), \\ f_{n+1}(z) &= \frac{1}{z-x} f'_n(x)^{-1/2} (f_n(z) - f_n(x) - f'_n(x)(z-x)) (f_n(z) - f_n(x))^{-1} f'_n(x)^{1/2}, \\ &= \frac{1}{z-x} f'_n(x)^{1/2} (f_n(z) - f_n(x))^{-1} (f_n(z) - f_n(x) - f'_n(x)(z-x)) f'_n(x)^{-1/2}, \end{aligned} \qquad n \ge 0. \end{aligned}$$

Since this Schur algorithm works for every  $f \in \mathfrak{N}_{\infty}(x)$ , it is valid in particular for all the Nevanlinna functions with  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  as an analyticity point. This is for instance the case of every FR-function with respect to a bounded self-adjoint operator T when  $|x| < ||T||^{-1}$ .

This Schur algorithm for Nevanlinna functions opens up many other questions in parallel with the theory of Schur functions, such as continued fraction expansions and Wall's polynomials for Nevanlinna functions, determinacy issues for the parametrization of Nevanlinna functions by Schur parameters or the relation of this algorithm with interpolation and moment problems on the real line. For instance, in contrast to the Schur algorithm interpolating at the point of infinity, the Schur algorithm on the real line offers the possibility of using a different interpolation point at each step –very much in line with the Nevanlinna-Pick algorithm–, a fact which links to interpolation problems on the real line.

Although these topics will be discussed elsewhere, for convenience we will briefly comment here on the uniqueness of the Nevanlinna function related to given Schur parameters. First, suppose for simplicity that the sequences of Schur parameters  $b_n$ ,  $a_n$  derived from the Schur algorithm (54) are bounded. There is a one-to-one correspondence between such bounded sequences, the bounded Jacobi matrices and the normalized measures with a bounded support on the real line [3]. Bearing in mind the correspondence between measures on the real line and Nevanlinna functions established in Theorem 4.1 and Corollary 4.3 we conclude that any sequence of bounded Schur parameters determines a unique Nevanlinna function –which is indeed an FR-function– via the Schur algorithm (54). This result generalizes obviously to the matrix Schur algorithm (55), while the use of a real shift shows that it also holds for the corresponding shifted versions of the algorithm. In general, the uniqueness of the Nevanlinna function for not necessarily bounded sequences of Schur parameters  $b_n$ ,  $a_n$  holds as long as the corresponding Jacobi matrix is associated with a unique normalized measure on the real line, i.e. when the corresponding moment problem is determinate [3]. This situation is characterized by the fact that the Jacobi matrix, considered as an operator on  $\ell^2$  with maximal domain, is self-adjoint.

5.1. Examples of the Schur algorithm on the real line. Let us briefly compare the above Schur algorithm on the real line with the standard one for m-functions using a few simple examples.

Example 5.4. The Nevanlinna function z goes well with the Schur algorithm (54) on the real line but not the standard one (56) because it is not an m-function according to the characterization (43). The opposite holds for the Nevanlinna function  $-z^{-1}$ , which has no normal limit at the origin. This leads to the following terminating sequences of iterates,

$$f(z) = z \rightarrow f_1(z) = 0,$$
  $m(z) = -z^{-1} \rightarrow m_1(z) = 0.$ 

However,  $-z^{-1}$  is analytic outside of the origin, thus it goes well with the shifted version (57) of the new algorithm for any  $x \neq 0$ , giving also a terminating sequence of iterates,

$$f(z) = -z^{-1} \rightarrow f_1(z) = 1 - x^{-2}.$$

Example 5.5. The Nevanlinna function

$$\frac{z}{\lambda - z^2}, \qquad \lambda > 0,$$

goes well with both, the standard Schur algorithm (56) for m-functions and the Schur algorithm (54) on the real line. The corresponding sequences of iterates are given by

$$m(z) = \frac{z}{\lambda - z^2} \rightarrow m_1(z) = -z^{-1} \rightarrow m_2(z) = 0,$$
  
$$f(z) = \frac{z}{\lambda - z^2} \rightarrow f_1(z) = \frac{z}{\lambda} \rightarrow f_2(z) = 0.$$

However, none of these algorithms work for the Nevanlinna function

$$\frac{z^2 - \lambda}{z}, \qquad \lambda > 0,$$

which instead goes well with the shifted Schur algorithm (57) for any  $x \neq 0$ , leading to the sequence of iterates

$$f(z) = \frac{z^2 - \lambda}{z} \rightarrow f_1(z) = -\frac{\lambda}{x^2 z + x\lambda} \rightarrow f_2(z) = -\frac{x}{x^2 + \lambda}$$

Example 5.6. Consider for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  the Nevanlinna m-functions of the normalized measures  $nt^{-(n+1)}dt$  on  $[1, \infty)$ , given explicitly by

$$f(n;z) = \int_{1}^{\infty} \frac{n}{t^{n+1}} \frac{dt}{t-z} = \frac{n}{z^{n+1}} \int_{1}^{\infty} \left( \frac{1}{t-z} - \frac{1}{t} - \frac{z}{t^2} - \frac{z^2}{t^3} - \frac{z^3}{t^4} - \dots - \frac{z^n}{t^{n+1}} \right) dt$$
$$= -\frac{n}{z^{n+1}} \left( \ln(1-z) + z + \frac{z^2}{2} + \frac{z^3}{3} + \dots + \frac{z^n}{n} \right).$$

Applying the standard Schur algorithm (56) to f(n; z) we obtain the following results for the first values of n:

<i>n</i> = 1	$b_0 = \infty$		
n = 2	$b_0 = 2,  a_0 = \infty$		
<i>n</i> = 3	$b_0 = 3/2,  a_0 = \sqrt{3}/2,$	$b_1 = \infty$	
<i>n</i> = 4	$b_0 = 4/3,  a_0 = \sqrt{2}/3,$	$b_1 = 14/3,$	$a_1 = \infty$

In general, f(2k+1; z) has well defined values of  $b_j$  and  $a_j$  for j = 0, 1, ..., k-1 but  $b_k = \infty$ , while f(2k+2; z) has also a well defined value of  $b_k$  but  $a_k = \infty$ . Therefore, although f(n; z) is a Nevanlinna m-function, the standard Schur algorithm (56) does not apply to it for any value of n. The reason for this is the lack of analiticity of f(n; iy) at infinity, which is related to the fact that only the first n moments of the related measure exist.

On the contrary, since f(n; z) is analytic for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus [1, \infty)$ , the shifted Schur algorithm (57) on the real line is applicable for any x < 1. For instance, using the power expansion  $f(n; z) = n \sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{z^k}{(n+k+1)}$  it is possible to see that the choice x = 0 yields the following Schur parameters for f(n; z),

$$b_0 = \frac{n}{n+1}, \qquad a_0 = \frac{n}{n+2},$$
  

$$b_k = \frac{n^2 + (2k+1)n + 2k^2}{(n+2k)^2 - 1}, \qquad a_k = \frac{k^2(n+k+1)^2}{(n+2k+1)^2((n+2k+1)^2 - 1)}, \qquad k \ge 1.$$

Since f(n; z) is analytic at the origin, it is an FR-function with an operator representation given by the Jacobi matrix built out of the above Schur parameters. The boundedness of these parameters with respect to k implies the boundedness of the support of the corresponding orthogonality measure, which is not the original one supported on  $[1, \infty)$  and defining f(n; z) as an m-function, but that one attached to the Nevanlinna function f(n; z)by Definition 4.2.

Example 5.7. In this example we will proceed in reverse order, obtaining the Nevanlinna function with a prescribed sequence of Schur parameters for the Schur algorithm (54). In particular, we will determine the Nevanlinna function with constant Schur parameters  $b_n = b$ ,  $a_n = a$  for any  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ . Such a constant sequence is obvioully bounded, thus it determines a unique Nevanlinna function f. Since the first iterate  $f_1$  has the same Schur parameters as f we conclude that  $f_1 = f$ , so that

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{z} \frac{f(z) - b - a^2 z}{f(z) - b}.$$

Solving this equation yields

$$f(z) = \frac{1 + bz - \sqrt{(1 - bz)^2 - 4a^2 z^2}}{2z},$$
(58)

where the branch for the square root is that one which takes the value 1 at z = 0 because f must have a well defined normal limit b at the origin.

Coming back to the role of Nevanlinna m-functions as the self-adjoint version of Schur functions, as we pointed out, m-functions of measures on  $\mathbb{R}$  have been already considered as an analogue of Schur functions of measures on  $\mathbb{T}$ . At this point it is worth mentioning the discussion in B. Simon's monograph [65, Appendix B.2] about the variety of OPUC analogs for the m-function of OPRL, which includes Schur functions among them. We go in the opposite direction, trying find the right OPRL analogue of Schur functions for OPUC. The results in the present paper intend to show that this OPRL analogue, although close to m-functions –the renewal equation links both of them– is given instead by what we call FR-functions.

Regarding the requirements stated in the Introduction for the generalization of Schur functions, even if one is pleased with the fact that m-functions satisfy the requirements (B) and (C), they do not meet requirement (A), unlike FR-functions. As we pointed out, in the bounded case the Stieltjes function represents a return generating function, while the corresponding first return generating function is an FR-function which becomes a Schur/Nevanlinna function in the unitary/self-adjoint case. This interpretation is key in understanding the interest of FR-functions for the study of RW and QW, as the applications discussed in Sections 8, 9 and 10 will show. The FR-functions for both, QW and RW, turn out to be Schur functions, but with values in operators on Hilbert and Banach spaces respectively. Besides, for a large class of RW –those which are irreducible and reversible– the corresponding evolution operator is self-adjoint with respect to a suitable inner product [74, Chapter 6] and hence the first return probabilities generate an FR-function which is simultaneously a Schur and a Nevanlinna function. None of these results hold for m-functions.

Above and beyond the previous remarks, the best argument in support for the FRfunctions as the right generalization of Schur functions beyond unitarity will be given in the next section. There is a clear asymmetry in the fact that Schur functions are known to satisfy very useful factorization properties, but no Nevanlinna analogue exists so far. This asymmetry reappears in other contexts, for instance, when noticing that Khrushchev factorization formula for Schur functions related to OPUC has no OPRL version. This is not merely an aesthetic question since Schur factorizations have been key in the invariant subspace problem of operator theory [16,51] and realizability in linear system theory [12,39], while Khrushchev formula is the origin of a recent revolution in OPUC theory with deep impact and far-reaching consequences [44,45,65], even beyond OPUC theory –for instance with applications in QW [15,37].

We will see that splitting formulas similar to the alluded factorizations of Schur functions appear also for Nevanlinna FR-functions associated with self-adjoint operators. Actually, we will find that such kind of splitting formulas are a general feature of FR-functions for arbitrary operators. This opens the possibility of applying these splittings, not only to OPRL theory, but also to other areas like for instance the study of RW and open QW. The suitability of FR-functions –under the more restricted notion of transfer/characteristic functions- for factorizations formulas was already recognized since the 50's in works on system theory, dilation theory and related areas, where they have been profusely exploited in the context of unitary colligations [17, 51]. A much more recent result very much influenced by the connection with QW –and indeed at the root of this paper- has shown that Khrushchev factorization formula for OPUC can be generalized to arbitary unitary operators [25]. In the next section we will see that FR-functions are not only suitable for factorizations, but also for other kinds of splittings which mimic similar splittings of the underlying operator. Moreover, these splittings rules require no symmetry at all for the related operator, which makes them a powerful tool for developing splitting techniques in different applications of FR-functions, see Sections 7, 8, 9 and 10.

## 6. Splitting rules for FR-functions

The objective of this section is to prove that the FR-functions related to arbitrary bounded projections and arbitrary closed operators on Banach spaces satisfy a couple of splitting rules with respect to the sum and product of operators. Natural extensions of Khrushchev factorization formulas for unitaries found in [25], these splitting rules –given in Theorem 6.1– are central for the applications discussed in Sections 7, 8, 9 and 10.

An essential ingredient of these rules is the assumption of an overlapping splitting of the underlying operator  $T: \mathcal{D}(T) \to \mathcal{B}$  on a Banach space  $\mathcal{B}$ , i.e. a splitting into operators  $T_L: \mathcal{D}(T_L) \to \mathcal{B}_L$  and  $T_R: \mathcal{D}(T_R) \to \mathcal{B}_R$  on subspaces related to a decomposition  $\mathcal{B} =$  $\mathcal{B}_- \oplus \mathcal{B}_0 \oplus \mathcal{B}_+$  with  $\mathcal{B}_L = \mathcal{B}_- \oplus \mathcal{B}_0$  and  $\mathcal{B}_R = \mathcal{B}_0 \oplus \mathcal{B}_+$ . The splitting rules in question state that such an overlapping splitting of an operator induces a similar splitting on the FR-function of the projection of  $\mathcal{B}$  onto the overlapping subspace  $\mathcal{B}_0 = \mathcal{B}_L \cap \mathcal{B}_R$  along the complementary one  $\mathcal{B}_- \oplus \mathcal{B}_+$ . We will deal with two situations corresponding to the following operator overlapping splittings

where  $0_{\pm}$  and  $1_{\pm}$  stand for the null and identity operators on  $\mathscr{H}_{\pm}$  respectively. We will refer to  $\mathscr{H}_{L,R}$  and  $T_{L,R}$  as the 'left/right' subspaces and operators respectively.

**Theorem 6.1 (splitting rules for FR-functions).** Let  $\mathscr{B} = \mathscr{B}_{-} \oplus \mathscr{B}_{0} \oplus \mathscr{B}_{+}$  be a decomposition of a Banach space into a direct sum of closed subspaces and  $T_{L}$ ,  $T_{R}$  operators on  $\mathscr{B}_{L} = \mathscr{B}_{-} \oplus \mathscr{B}_{0}$ ,  $\mathscr{B}_{R} = \mathscr{B}_{0} \oplus \mathscr{B}_{+}$  respectively. Denote by  $0_{k}$  and  $1_{k}$  the null and identity operators on  $\mathscr{B}_{k}$  for any subindex k, while

$$\begin{split} P &= projection \ of \ \mathscr{B} \ onto \ \mathscr{B}_0 \ along \ \mathscr{B}_- \oplus \ \mathscr{B}_+, \qquad Q = 1 - P, \\ P_L &= projection \ of \ \mathscr{B}_L \ onto \ \mathscr{B}_0 \ along \ \mathscr{B}_-, \qquad Q_L = 1_L - P_L \\ P_R &= projection \ of \ \mathscr{B}_R \ onto \ \mathscr{B}_0 \ along \ \mathscr{B}_+, \qquad Q_R = 1_R - P_R. \end{split}$$

Then, if  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T_{L,R})$  and  $f_{L,R}$  is the FR-function of  $P_{L,R}$  with respect to  $T_{L,R}$ , we have the following splitting rules:

(i) **Decomposition:**  $T = (T_L \oplus 0_+) + (0_- \oplus T_R)$  has domain  $\mathscr{D}(T) = \mathscr{D}(T_L) + \mathscr{D}(T_R)$ and the FR-function of P with respect to T is given by

$$f(z) = f_L(z) + f_R(z), \qquad z^{-1} \in \varpi(Q_L T_L Q_L) \cap \varpi(Q_R T_R Q_R).$$

(ii) Factorization:  $T = (T_L \oplus 1_+)(1_- \oplus T_R)$  has domain  $\mathscr{D}(T) = \mathscr{D}(T_L) + \mathscr{D}(T_R)$  and the FR-function of P with respect to T is given by

$$f(z) = f_L(z)f_R(z), \qquad z^{-1} \in \varpi(Q_L T_L Q_L) \cap \varpi(Q_R T_R Q_R).$$

Proof.

(i) For convenience, let us write the overlapping splitting of T as

$$T = \hat{T}_L + \hat{T}_R, \qquad \hat{T}_L = T_L \oplus 0_+, \qquad \hat{T}_R = 0_- \oplus T_R,$$

using the enlarged left/right operators  $\hat{T}_{L,R}$ . The condition  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T_{L,R})$  implies that

$$\mathscr{D}(T_L) = (\mathscr{D}(T_L) \cap \mathscr{B}_-) \oplus \mathscr{B}_0, \qquad \mathscr{D}(T_R) = \mathscr{B}_0 \oplus (\mathscr{D}(T_R) \cap \mathscr{B}_+),$$

hence

$$\mathscr{D}(T) = \mathscr{D}(\hat{T}_L) \cap \mathscr{D}(\hat{T}_R) = (\mathscr{D}(T_L) \cap \mathscr{B}_{-}) \oplus \mathscr{B}_0 \oplus (\mathscr{D}(T_R) \cap \mathscr{B}_{+}) = \mathscr{D}(T_L) + \mathscr{D}(T_R).$$
(59)

The condition  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T_{L,R})$  ensures that  $f_{L,R}$  admit expressions like the one in Proposition 2.7. (*ii*), i.e.

$$f_L(z) = P_L T_L P_L + z P_L T_L Q_L (Q_L - z Q_L T_L Q_L)^{-1} Q_L T_L P_L, \qquad z^{-1} \in \varpi (Q_L T_L Q_L), f_R(z) = P_R T_R P_R + z P_R T_R Q_R (Q_R - z Q_R T_R Q_R)^{-1} Q_R T_R P_R, \qquad z^{-1} \in \varpi (Q_R T_R Q_R).$$
(60)

The FR-functions  $f_{L,R}$  can be rewritten in terms of the enlarged operators as

$$f_L(z) = P\hat{T}_L P + zP\hat{T}_L P_- (P_- - zP_-\hat{T}_L P_-)^{-1} P_-\hat{T}_L P, \qquad z^{-1} \in \varpi(P_-\hat{T}_L P_-),$$
(61)

$$f_R(z) = P\hat{T}_R P + zP\hat{T}_R P_+ (P_+ - zP_+\hat{T}_R P_+)^{-1} P_+\hat{T}_R P, \qquad z^{-1} \in \varpi(P_+\hat{T}_R P_+),$$
(01)

with  $P_{\pm}$  the projection of  $\mathscr{B}$  onto  $\mathscr{B}_{\pm}$  along  $\mathscr{B}_{L,R}$ .

The above results imply that  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ , which guarantees that the expression in Proposition 2.7. *(ii)* is also valid for the FR-function f, i.e.

$$f(z) = PTP + zPTQ(Q - zQTQ)^{-1}QTP, \qquad Q = P_{-} + P_{+}.$$
(62)

Besides, from (59) we know that  $\mathscr{D}(T) \cap (\mathscr{B}_{-} \oplus \mathscr{B}_{+}) = (\mathscr{D}(T) \cap \mathscr{B}_{-}) \oplus (\mathscr{D}(T) \cap \mathscr{B}_{+})$ , which implies that  $\mathscr{D}(Q - zQTQ) = (\mathscr{D}(Q - zQTQ) \cap \mathscr{B}_{-}) \oplus (\mathscr{D}(Q - zQTQ) \cap \mathscr{B}_{+})$ . This means that Q - zQTQ has a block representation with respect to the direct sum  $\mathscr{B}_{-} \oplus \mathscr{B}_{+}$ , which is given by

$$Q - zQTQ = \begin{pmatrix} P_{-} - zP_{-}\hat{T}_{L}P_{-} & 0\\ 0 & P_{+} - zP_{+}\hat{T}_{R}P_{+} \end{pmatrix},$$

where we have taken into account that

$$P_{+}\hat{T}_{L} = \hat{T}_{L}P_{+} = P_{-}\hat{T}_{R} = \hat{T}_{R}P_{-} = 0.$$
(63)

Therefore, the domain of definition of f(z) is

$$z^{-1} \in \varpi(QTQ) = \varpi(P_{-}\hat{T}_{L}P_{-}) \cap \varpi(P_{+}\hat{T}_{R}P_{+}) = \varpi(Q_{L}T_{L}Q_{L}) \cap \varpi(Q_{R}T_{R}Q_{R}),$$

and in this domain we can rewrite f in terms of block representations as follows

$$f(z) = P\hat{T}_L P + P\hat{T}_R P + z \left(P\hat{T}_L P_- P\hat{T}_R P_+\right) \begin{pmatrix} (P_- - zP_-\hat{T}_L P_-)^{-1} & 0\\ 0 & (P_+ - zP_+\hat{T}_R P_+)^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} P_-\hat{T}_L P_- P_-\hat{T}_R P_+ \end{pmatrix},$$

where we have used (63) again. The decomposition  $f(z) = f_L(z) + f_R(z)$  follows from the above block representation of f and the expression of  $f_{L,R}$  given in (61). (*ii*) The splitting of T is now an overlapping factorization

$$T = \hat{T}_L \hat{T}_R, \qquad \hat{T}_L = T_L \oplus 1_+, \qquad \hat{T}_R = 1_- \oplus T_R,$$

where the enlarged left/right operators  $\hat{T}_{L,R}$  have been redefined. Concerning the domain of T, note that  $\mathscr{R}(\hat{T}_R) = \mathscr{B}_- \oplus \mathscr{R}(T_R)$  and  $\mathscr{D}(\hat{T}_L) = (\mathscr{D}(T_L) \cap \mathscr{B}_-) \oplus \mathscr{B}_R$ . Hence, bearing in mind that  $\hat{T}_R$  acts as the identity on  $\mathscr{B}_-$  we get

$$\mathscr{D}(T) = (\mathscr{D}(T_L) \cap \mathscr{B}_{-}) \oplus \mathscr{D}(T_R) = \mathscr{D}(T_L) + \mathscr{D}(T_R).$$

The assumption  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T_{L,R})$  implies that the expressions (61) for  $f_{L,R}$  also hold in this case with the redefined operators  $\hat{T}_{L,R}$ .

As a consequence of the previous results,  $\mathscr{B}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ , thus f is given again by (62) but with the new meaning of T. Analogously to the case (i), Q - zQTQ has a block representation with respect to the direct sum  $\mathscr{B}_- \oplus \mathscr{B}_+$ , which in this case looks like

$$Q - zQTQ = \begin{pmatrix} P_{-} - zP_{-}\hat{T}_{L}P_{-} & -zP_{-}\hat{T}_{L}\hat{T}_{R}P_{+} \\ 0 & P_{+} - zP_{+}\hat{T}_{R}P_{+} \end{pmatrix}.$$

The analogue of Lemma 1.2 for upper triangular block operators provides the inverse of Q - zQTQ for

$$z^{-1} \in \varpi(Q_L T_L Q_L) \cap \varpi(Q_R T_R Q_R) = \varpi(P_- \hat{T}_L P_-) \cap \varpi(P_+ \hat{T}_R P_+) \subset \varpi(QTQ),$$

leading to the following expression of f in such a domain,

$$f(z) = P\hat{T}_{L}\hat{T}_{R}P + z\left(P\hat{T}_{L}P_{-} P\hat{T}_{L}\hat{T}_{R}P_{+}\right) \begin{pmatrix} S_{-} zS_{-}P_{-}\hat{T}_{L}\hat{T}_{R}P_{+}S_{+}\\ 0 & S_{+} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} P_{-}\hat{T}_{L}\hat{T}_{R}P\\ P_{+}\hat{T}_{R}P \end{pmatrix}, \quad (64)$$
$$S_{-} = (P_{-} - zP_{-}\hat{T}_{L}P_{-})^{-1}, \qquad S_{+} = (P_{+} - zP_{+}\hat{T}_{R}P_{+})^{-1}.$$

Here we have used the new relations

$$P_{+}\hat{T}_{L} = \hat{T}_{L}P_{+} = P_{+}, \qquad P_{-}\hat{T}_{R} = \hat{T}_{R}P_{-} = P_{-},$$

satisfied by the redefined enlarged operators. These relations also imply that

$$\hat{T}_L \hat{T}_R = \hat{T}_L (P_- + P_+ P_+) \hat{T}_R = \hat{T}_L P_- + \hat{T}_L P \hat{T}_R + P_+ \hat{T}_R$$

so that

$$P\hat{T}_{L}\hat{T}_{R}P = (P\hat{T}_{L}P)(P\hat{T}_{R}P), \qquad P\hat{T}_{L}\hat{T}_{R}P_{+} = (P\hat{T}_{L}P)(P\hat{T}_{R}P_{+}), P_{-}\hat{T}_{L}\hat{T}_{R}P = (P_{-}\hat{T}_{L}P)(P\hat{T}_{R}P), \qquad P_{-}\hat{T}_{L}\hat{T}_{R}P_{+} = (P_{-}\hat{T}_{L}P)(P\hat{T}_{R}P_{+}).$$
(65)

Inserting (65) into the block representation (64) of f and comparing with the expressions (61) of  $f_{L,R}$  yields the factorization  $f(z) = f_L(z)f_R(z)$ .

Other useful but less surprising splitting rules for FR-functions appearing in the next theorem deal with the following situations,

$$\tilde{T} = T + \left( \begin{array}{c|c} 0_{-} & \\ \hline T_{0} & \\ \hline & 0_{+} \end{array} \right), \qquad \tilde{T} = \left( \begin{array}{c|c} 1_{-} & \\ \hline T_{0} & \\ \hline & 1_{+} \end{array} \right) T, \qquad \tilde{T} = T \left( \begin{array}{c|c} 1_{-} & \\ \hline & T_{0} & \\ \hline & 1_{+} \end{array} \right).$$

where  $T_0$  is an operator on the subspace  $\mathscr{B}_0$ .

**Theorem 6.2.** Let T be an operator on a Banach space  $\mathscr{B}$ , P a bounded projection of  $\mathscr{B}$  onto  $\mathscr{B}_0$  along  $\mathscr{B}_1$  and Q = 1 - P. Denote by  $0_1$  and  $1_1$  the null and identity operators on  $\mathscr{B}_1$ . Then, if  $T_0$  is an operator on  $\mathscr{B}_0$  and f is the FR-function of P with respect to T, we have the following rules:

(i) The FR-function of P with respect to  $\tilde{T} = T + (T_0 \oplus 0_1)$  is given by  $\tilde{f}(z) = f(z) + T_0, \qquad z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT).$ 

(ii) The FR-function of P with respect to T̃ = (T₀ ⊕ 1₁)T is given by f̃(z) = T₀f(z), z<sup>-1</sup> ∈ ϖ(QT).
(iii) The FR-function of P with respect to T̃ = T(T₀ ⊕ 1₁) is given by

$$f(z) = f(z)T_0, \qquad z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT).$$

Proof.

(i) By definition,

$$\tilde{f}(z) = P\tilde{T}(1 - zQ\tilde{T})^{-1}P, \qquad z^{-1} \in \varpi(Q\tilde{T}),$$
(66)

where  $\tilde{T} = T + \hat{T}_0$  in terms of the enlarged operator  $\hat{T}_0 = T_0 \oplus 0_1$ . Since  $P\hat{T}_0 = \hat{T}_0 = \hat{T}_0 P$  and  $Q\hat{T}_0 = 0$  we find that  $Q\tilde{T} = QT$  and

$$\tilde{f}(z) = PT(1 - zQT)^{-1}P + P\hat{T}_0P(1 - zQT)^{-1}P = f(z) + T_0, \qquad z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT),$$

where we have used that  $(1 - zQT)^{-1} = 1 + zQT(1 - zQT)^{-1}$  and  $P\hat{T}_0P = T_0$  as an operator on  $\mathscr{B}_0$ .

(*ii*) The FR-function  $\tilde{f}$  is given again by (66), but with  $\tilde{T} = \hat{T}_0 T$  in terms of the redefined operator  $\hat{T}_0 = T_0 \oplus 1_1$ . This redefined operator satisfies  $P\hat{T}_0 = T_0 \oplus 0_1 = \hat{T}_0 P$  and  $Q\hat{T}_0 = Q$ , which lead to  $Q\tilde{T} = QT$  and

$$\tilde{f}(z) = P\tilde{T}_0 PT(1 - zQT)^{-1}P = T_0 f(z), \qquad z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT),$$

where we have used that  $(1 - zQT)^{-1} = 1 + zQT(1 - zQT)^{-1}$  and  $P\hat{T}_0P = T_0$  as an operator on  $\mathscr{B}_0$ .

(*iii*) Now the FR-function  $\tilde{f}$  is given by (66) with  $\tilde{T} = T\hat{T}_0$  and the same redefined operator  $\hat{T}_0 = T_0 \oplus 1_1$  as in (*ii*). Using  $\hat{T}_0 Q = Q$  we get the identity

$$(1-zQT)\hat{T}_0=\hat{T}_0(1-zQT\hat{T}_0), \qquad z\in\mathbb{C}.$$

Since  $(1 - zQT\hat{T}_0)(1 - zQT\hat{T}_0)^{-1} = 1$  for  $z \in \varpi(QT)$ , we obtain

$$(1 - zQT)T_0(1 - zQTT_0)^{-1} = T_0$$

When  $z \in \varpi(QT)$ , the operator  $(1 - zQT\hat{T}_0)^{-1}$  has domain  $\mathscr{B}$  and range equal to  $\mathscr{D}(T\hat{T}_0) = \{v \in \mathscr{B} : \hat{T}_0 v \in \mathscr{D}(T)\}$ . Hence,  $\hat{T}_0(1 - zQT\hat{T}_0)^{-1}$  has domain  $\mathscr{B}$  and range  $\mathscr{D}(T)$ , so that we can use the fact that  $(1 - zQT)^{-1}(1 - zQT)$  is the identity in  $\mathscr{D}(T)$  to conclude that

$$\hat{T}_0(1-zQT\hat{T}_0)^{-1} = (1-zQT)^{-1}\hat{T}_0, \qquad z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT).$$

Multiplying on the left by PT and on the right by P, this leads to

$$\tilde{f}(z) = PT(1 - zQT)^{-1}P\hat{T}_0P = f(z)T_0, \qquad z^{-1} \in \varpi(QT),$$

once we take into account that  $P\hat{T}_0 = \hat{T}_0 P$  and  $P\hat{T}_0 P$  is  $T_0$  as an operator on  $\mathscr{B}_0$ .

The previous splitting rules constitute a characteristic feature of FR-functions which is not shared by other relevant functions such as Stieltjes of m-functions. This is an indication of the fact that FR-functions do a better job at codifying important properties of those "systems" to which they are linked. This is the case for instance for the return properties of RW and QW, as Sections 8, 9 and 10 will show. The above splitting properties of FR-functions become recurrence splitting rules for such walks. The next section will show the importance of the above splitting rules also for the theory of orthogonal polynomials: the choice of a right OPRL analogue of Schur functions for OPUC allows us to obtain for the first time an OPRL version of Khrushchev factorization formula for OPUC.

# 7. Applications to orthogonal polynomials on the real line: OPRL Khrushchev formula

The aim of this section is to obtain an OPRL analogue of Khrushchev formula for OPUC, which should be the starting point of a Khrushchev theory for OPRL. The bulk of OPUC Khrushchev theory appeared in S. Khrushchev's papers [44, 45], but the reader may also consult the monograph [65, Chapters 4 and 9].

Let us describe first the OPUC version of Khrushchev formula. Consider a probability measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{T}$  –i.e. a positive measure normalized by  $\mu(\mathbb{T}) = 1$ – with Verblunsky coefficients  $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots$ . These coefficients not only determine the corresponding CMV matrix, but also the Schur function f related to  $\mu$  because its Schur parameters coincide with the Verblunsky coefficients due to Geronimus theorem [34] (see also [65, Chapter 3]). This establishes a one-to-one correspondence among probability measures on  $\mathbb{T}$ , Schur functions and sequences in  $\mathbb{D}$  with the last term on  $\mathbb{T}$  in the case of a terminating sequence.

Khrushchev formula answers the following question: if  $\varphi_n$  is the orthonormal polynomial of degree n in  $L^2_{\mu}$ , what is the Schur function of the probability measure  $|\varphi_n|^2 d\mu$ ? Khrushchev formula states that this Schur function factorizes as the product

$$g_n f_n, \qquad \begin{cases} f_n = \text{Schur function with Schur parameters } \alpha_n, \alpha_{n+1}, \alpha_{n+2}, \dots, \\ g_n = \text{Schur function with Schur parameters } -\overline{\alpha}_{n-1}, -\overline{\alpha}_{n-2}, \dots, -\overline{\alpha}_0, 1. \end{cases}$$
(67)

While  $f_n$  are the Schur iterates of f, the rational Schur functions  $g_n$  are called the inverse Schur iterates of f. It can be proved that the inverse Schur iterates are given by

$$g_n = \frac{\varphi_n}{\varphi_n^*}, \qquad \varphi_n^*(z) = z^n \overline{\varphi_n(1/\overline{z})},$$

so that the Schur function of  $d\mu_n \coloneqq |\varphi_n|^2 d\mu$  becomes

$$\frac{\varphi_n}{\varphi_n^*} f_n,$$

where  $\varphi_n^*$  is known as the reversed polynomial of  $\varphi_n$ . Writing OPUC Khrushchev formula as a formula by itself, it takes the form

$$\frac{\int \frac{t \, d\mu_n(t)}{1 - zt}}{\int \frac{d\mu_n(t)}{1 - zt}} = \frac{\varphi_n(z)}{\varphi_n^*(z)} f_n(z), \qquad z \in \mathbb{D}.$$

In the FR-function approach, Khrushchev factorization formula for OPUC is a special instance of the factorization of FR-functions given in Theorem 6.1.(ii), and comes from a natural overlapping factorization of CMV matrices into smaller ones [25]. It is natural to expect an OPRL version of Khrushchev formula linked to a splitting of Jacobi matrices. Since self-adjointness is in general not preserved by products but only by sums, we expect a Khrushchev formula for OPRL based on the decomposition of FR-functions given in Theorem 6.1.(i).

Let  $\mathcal{J}$  be a Jacobi matrix with Jacobi coefficients  $b_0, a_0, b_1, a_1, b_2, a_2, \ldots$ , and consider the related sequence of orthonormal polynomials  $p_n$  starting at  $p_0(t) = 1$ . Suppose that  $\mathcal{J}$ is self-adjoint as an operator on  $\ell^2$  with maximal domain. Then, the moment problem is determinate [3], which means that  $p_n$  are orthonormal with respect to a unique probability measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}$ . Also, the polynomials are dense in  $L^2_{\mu}$  [3], thus  $\mathcal{J}$  represents the selfadjoint multiplication operator  $T_{\mu}$  given in (48) with respect to the basis  $p_n$ . The Jacobi matrix  $\mathcal{J}$  determines the basis  $p_n$ , thus the measure  $\mu$ , which becomes the spectral measure of  $p_0(t) = 1$  with respect to  $T_{\mu}$ , equivalently the spectral measure of  $e_0 = (\delta_{k,0})_{k\geq 0} \in \ell^2$  with respect to  $\mathcal{J}$ . Therefore, the FR-function f of the subspace span $\{p_0\}$  with respect to  $T_{\mu}$ is the Nevanlinna function of the measure  $\mu$ , in the sense of Definition 4.2.

Since  $p_n \in \mathscr{D}(T_{\mu})$ , it makes sense to ask about the Nevanlinna function of the probability measure on  $\mathbb{R}$  given by  $p_n^2 d\mu$ . This is precisely the FR-function of the subspace  $\operatorname{span}\{p_n\}$  with respect to the multiplication operator  $T_{\mu}$ , i.e. the FR-function of the subspace  $\operatorname{span}\{e_n\}, e_n = (\delta_{k,n})_{k\geq 0} \in \ell^2$ , with respect to  $\mathcal{J}$ .

The answer to the above question should give the OPRL version of OPUC Khrushchev formula. To obtain such a formula let us consider the following overlapping decomposition of the Jacobi matrix



In a more compact notation

$$\mathcal{J} = (\mathcal{J}_{n+1} \oplus O) + (O_n \oplus \mathcal{J}^{(n)}) - (O_n \oplus b_n \oplus O), \tag{68}$$

where O and  $O_n$  stand for the null  $\infty \times \infty$  and  $n \times n$  matrices respectively,  $\mathcal{J}_n$  is the principal  $n \times n$  submatrix of  $\mathcal{J}$  and  $\mathcal{J}^{(n)}$  is the Jacobi matrix obtained from  $\mathcal{J}$  by deleting the first n rows and columns.

We can apply Theorem 6.2.(*i*) to the operators on the Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H} = \ell^2$  involved in (68), taking  $\tilde{T} = \mathcal{J}$ ,  $T = (\mathcal{J}_{n+1} \oplus O) + (O_n \oplus \mathcal{J}^{(n)})$  and  $T_0$  being the operator on the overlapping subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0 = \operatorname{span}\{e_n\}$  given by  $T_0e_n = -b_ne_n$ . According to Theorem 6.2.(*i*), the Nevanlinna FR-function  $\tilde{f}$  of span $\{e_n\}$  with respect to  $\mathcal{J}$  is given by

$$\tilde{f}(z) = h(z) - b_n, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R},$$

where h is the FR-function of span $\{e_n\}$  with respect to  $(\mathcal{J}_{n+1} \oplus O) + (O_n \oplus \mathcal{J}^{(n)})$ .

On the other hand, the FR-function h comes about from Theorem 6.1.(*i*) applied to  $T_L = \mathcal{J}_{n+1}$  acting on  $\mathscr{H}_L = \operatorname{span}\{e_0, e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$  and  $T_R = \mathcal{J}^{(n)}$  acting on  $\mathscr{H}_R = \operatorname{span}\{e_n, e_{n+1}, \ldots\}$ . We find that h is the sum of the FR-functions of  $\mathscr{H}_0 = \operatorname{span}\{e_n\}$  with respect to  $\mathcal{J}_{n+1}$  and  $\mathcal{J}^{(n)}$ .

Remember that the Nevanlinna function f of the measure  $\mu$  coincides with the FRfunction of span $\{e_0\}$  with respect to  $\mathcal{J}$ . Obviously, the FR-function of span $\{e_n\}$  with respect to  $\mathcal{J}^{(n)}$  follows from applying to f the Schur algorithm (54) for a total of n steps. Therefore, such an FR-function is the corresponding n-th iterate  $f_n$  of f, a Nevanlinna FR-function whose Schur parameters are  $b_n, a_n, b_{n+1}, a_{n+1}, \ldots$  with respect to the Schur algorithm (54) at the origin.

As for the FR-function of span $\{e_n\}$  with respect to  $\mathcal{J}_{n+1}$ , the renewal equation (41) allows us to express it as

$$z^{-1} + \frac{1}{\langle e_n | (\mathcal{J}_{n+1} - z^{-1}I_{n+1})^{-1}e_n \rangle} = z^{-1} + \frac{\det(\mathcal{J}_{n+1} - z^{-1}I_{n+1})}{\det(\mathcal{J}_n - z^{-1}I_n)}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \smallsetminus \mathbb{R},$$
(69)

where  $I_n$  stands for the  $n \times n$  identity matrix. Using the expression of the orthonormal polynomials in terms of truncated Jacobi matrices

$$p_n(z) = \kappa_n \det(zI_n - \mathcal{J}_n), \qquad \kappa_n = \frac{1}{a_0 a_1 \cdots a_{n-1}}, \tag{70}$$

the FR-function (69) becomes

$$z^{-1} - a_n \frac{p_{n+1}(z^{-1})}{p_n(z^{-1})}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$$

Combining all the previous results we find that the FR-function of span $\{e_n\}$  with respect to  $\mathcal{J}$  is given by

$$\begin{split} \tilde{f}(z) &= z^{-1} - a_n \frac{p_{n+1}(z^{-1})}{p_n(z^{-1})} + f_n(z) - b_n = \frac{(z^{-1} - b_n)p_n(z^{-1}) - a_n p_{n+1}(z^{-1})}{p_n(z^{-1})} + f_n(z), \\ &= a_{n-1} \frac{p_{n-1}(z^{-1})}{p_n(z^{-1})} + f_n(z), \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \smallsetminus \mathbb{R}, \end{split}$$

#### A GENERALIZATION OF SCHUR FUNCTIONS

that is,

$$\tilde{f}(z) = g_n(z) + f_n(z), \qquad g_n(z) \coloneqq \frac{\kappa_{n-1}}{\kappa_n} \frac{p_{n-1}(z^{-1})}{p_n(z^{-1})}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}.$$
(71)

This can be considered as the OPRL version of Khrushchev formula, because  $\hat{f}$  is precisely the Nevanlinna function of the measure  $p_n^2 d\mu$ , a statement which we enunciate separately below. Before doing that we will make a couple of remarks.

First, remember that behind the previous arguments there was the self-adjointness assumption for the Jacobi matrix. This is equivalent to the determinacy of the corresponding moment problem –i.e. the uniqueness of the orthogonality measure for the polynomials generated by the three term recurrence relation associated with the Jacobi matrix– and guarantees the uniqueness of the Nevanlina function whose Schur parameters –with respect to the Schur algorithm (54)– are the Jacobi coefficients. This uniqueness holds simultaneously for a Nevanlinna function and its iterates, as follows by the connection among themselves due to the Schur algorithm on the real line.

Furthermore, we could have arrived at OPRL Khrushchev formula alternatively by applying Theorem 6.1.(i) directly to the decomposition

Therefore,  $g_n$  must be the Nevanlinna FR-function of span $\{e_n\}$  with respect to  $\hat{\mathcal{J}}_{n+1}$ . Reordering the basis of span $\{e_0, e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$  as  $\{e_n, \ldots, e_1, e_0\}$  we conclude that  $g_n$  is the Nevanlinna function characterized by the terminating sequence of Schur parameters given by  $0, a_{n-1}, b_{n-1}, a_{n-2}, b_{n-2}, \ldots, a_0, b_0$ . Comparing with (67) we see that  $g_n$  should be considered as the inverse Schur iterates of the Nevanlinna function f.

Although the validity of OPRL Khrushchev formula (71) requires the self-adjointness of the underlying Jacobi matrix, the fact that  $g_n$  is a Nevanlinna function is indeed true even if  $\mathcal{J}$  is not self-adjoint since it refers to a property of the modified finite submatrix  $\hat{\mathcal{J}}_{n+1}$ , which is always self-adjoint. Therefore, the quotient  $p_{n-1}(z^{-1})/p_n(z^{-1})$  is a Nevanlinna function for every sequence  $p_n$  of orthonormal polynomials. This means that  $p_{n-1}(z)/p_n(z)$  maps  $\mathbb{C}_{\pm}$  into  $\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{\mp}$ , so that  $-p_{n-1}(z)/p_n(z)$  is again a Nevanlinna function.

The conclusion of the previous discussion is summarized in the following theorem, which is stated in general for matrix valued OPRL. Since we are now in the matrix valued case, attention should be paid to commutativity issues.

**Theorem 7.1** (Khrushchev formula for matrix valued OPRL). Let f be the matrix Nevanlinna function of a positive matrix measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  such that  $\mu(\mathbb{R}) = 1_0$  is the identity matrix. Suppose that there exists a sequence of matrix orthonormal polynomials  $p_n(z) = \kappa_n z^n + \cdots$  with respect to  $\langle p|q \rangle = \int p^{\dagger} d\mu q$  and that the related block Jacobi matrix is self-adjoint as an operator on  $\ell^2$  with maximal domain. Then, the Nevanlinna function of the matrix measure  $d\mu_n := p_n^{\dagger} d\mu p_n$  is given by the following sum of Nevanlinna functions

$$g_n + f_n, \qquad \begin{cases} g_n(z) = p_n(z^{-1})^{-1} p_{n-1}(z^{-1}) \kappa_n^{-1} \kappa_{n-1}, \\ f_n = n \text{-th iterate of } f \text{ for the Schur algorithm (55)}. \end{cases}$$

Equivalently,

$$\left(\int \frac{t\,d\mu_n(t)}{1-zt}\right)\left(\int \frac{d\mu_n(t)}{1-zt}\right)^{-1} = g_n(z) + f_n(z), \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R},$$

 $\left\{ \begin{array}{l} f_n = Nevanlinna \ function \ with \ Schur \ parameters \ b_n, a_n, b_{n+1}, a_{n+1}, b_{n+2}, a_{n+2}, \ldots, \\ g_n = Nevanlinna \ function \ with \ Schur \ parameters \ 0, a_{n-1}, b_{n-1}, a_{n-2}, b_{n-2}, \ldots, a_0, b_0, \end{array} \right.$ 

where  $b_0, a_0, b_1, a_1, b_2, a_2, \ldots$  are the corresponding Jacobi coefficients, i.e. the Schur parameters of f with respect to (55).

*Proof.* The steps of the proof are similar to those of the scalar case discussed previously, but now the Jacobi matrix  $\mathcal{J}$  is made up of  $d \times d$ -matrix blocks  $b_n = b_n^{\dagger}$ ,  $a_n > 0$  where d is the size of the matrix measure. These blocks provide the three term recurrence relation for the orthonormal polynomials [27],

$$zp_n(z) = p_{n+1}(z)a_n + p_n(z)b_n + p_{n-1}(z)a_{n-1}, \qquad n \ge 0 \qquad (a_{-1} = 0, \ p_0(z) = 1_0), \tag{72}$$

hence the leading matrix coefficients satisfy  $\kappa_{n+1}a_n = \kappa_n$ .

When  $\mathcal{J}$  is self-adjoint –as an operator on  $\ell^2$  with maximal domain– it represents, in the basis given by the columns of the orthonormal polynomials, the self-adjoint multiplication operator  $T_{\mu}$  defined in (48), where  $L^2_{\mu}$  is now the Hilbert space of square-summable *d*-vector valued functions with inner product  $\langle f|g \rangle = \int f^{\dagger} d\mu g$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{J}$  is unitarily equivalent to  $T_{\mu}$ . This unitary equivalence identifies the columns  $\{p_n^{(0)}, p_n^{(1)}, \ldots, p_n^{(d-1)}\} \subset L^2_{\mu}$  of  $p_n$  with the *n*-th *d*-block  $B_n \coloneqq \{e_{nd}, e_{nd+1}, \ldots, e_{nd+d-1}\} \subset \ell^2$  of canonical vectors  $e_n = (\delta_{k,n})_{k\geq 0}$ .

Since  $p_n^{\dagger} d\mu p_n$  is the spectral measure of the subspace spanned by the columns of  $p_n$  with respect to  $T_{\mu}$ , it is also the spectral measure of span  $B_n$  with respect to  $\mathcal{J}$ . Therefore, the Nevanlinna function of  $p_n^{\dagger} d\mu p_n$  is the FR-function of span  $B_n$  with respect to  $\mathcal{J}$ . As in the scalar case, the rest of the proof consists in identifying such an FR-function by decomposing it using Theorems 6.1.(*i*) and 6.2.(*i*).

The steps for this identification are similar to those of the scalar case. The only quirk in the matrix valued situation comes from the identification of the FR-function  $g_n$  of span  $B_n$ with respect to the  $(n+1)d \times (n+1)d$  principal submatrix  $\mathcal{J}_{n+1}$ , which now will not rely on determinant identities. Instead, we will use Schur complements to obtain the m-function

$$m_n(z) = P_n (\mathcal{J}_{n+1} - zI_{(n+1)d})^{-1} P_n, \qquad \begin{array}{l} P_n = \text{orthogonal projection of } \ell^2 \text{ onto span } B_n, \\ I_k = k \times k \text{ identity matrix,} \end{array}$$

giving  $g_n$  via the renewal equation  $g_n(z) = z^{-1}I_d + m_n(z^{-1})^{-1}$ . The application of Lemma 1.1 to the block representation

$$\mathcal{J}_{n+1} - zI_{n+1} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{J}_n - zI_{nd} & v_n^{\dagger} \\ v_n & b_n - zI_d \end{pmatrix}, \quad v_n = \begin{pmatrix} O_d & O_d & \cdots & a_{n-1} \end{pmatrix}, \quad O_k = k \times k \text{ null matrix},$$

leads to the recurrence

$$m_n(z)^{-1} = b_n - zI_d - a_{n-1}m_{n-1}(z)a_{n-1}, \qquad n \ge 0 \qquad (a_{-1} = 0)$$

Comparing this recurrence with (72) rewritten as

 $-p_n(z)^{-1}p_{n+1}(z)a_n = b_n - zI_d + p_n(z)^{-1}p_{n-1}(z)a_{n-1}, \qquad n \ge 0 \qquad (a_{-1} = 0, \ p_0(z) = I_d),$ yields the identity

$$m_n(z) = -a_n^{-1}p_{n+1}(z)^{-1}p_n(z), \qquad n \ge 0.$$

Therefore, using (72) again we obtain

$$g_n(z) - b_n = z^{-1}I_d - m_n(z^{-1})^{-1} - b_n = p_n(z^{-1})^{-1}(p_n(z^{-1})(z^{-1}I_d - b_n) - p_{n+1}(z^{-1})a_n)$$
  
=  $p_n(z^{-1})^{-1}p_{n-1}(z^{-1})a_{n-1} = p_n(z^{-1})^{-1}p_{n-1}(z^{-1})\kappa_n^{-1}\kappa_{n-1}.$ 

The use of the Khrushchev formula above to develop a Khrushchev theory for OPRL remains as a challenge.

In the next sections we will discuss several applications of FR-functions which are at the heart of their origin: the study of recurrence –i.e. return properties– in RW and QW. While the context of FR-functions in Hilbert spaces will be enough for the analysis of recurrence in unitary QW, the general discussion of recurrence in RW as well as in open QW will require the setting of FR-functions in Banach spaces.

A common feature of all these applications is the fact that the evolution is governed by a contraction and the related projections have norm one. Hence, the FR-functions involved in these applications are analytical on the open unit disk. Besides, at least in the case of RW and unitary QW, the FR-functions have values in contractions –on a Banach and a Hilbert space respectively– so they turn out to be Schur functions. As for RW, there is large class –which includes all those which are irreducible and reversible– whose stochastic matrices are also self-adjoint with respect to suitable inner products [74, Chapter 6], thus the corresponding FR-functions are simultaneously Schur and Nevanlinna functions.

As we will see, the Hilbert FR-function approach to recurrence in unitary QW clearly differs from that of RW recurrence. However, the density operator formalism in which open QW are usually described establishes a close parallelism between the Banach FR-function approaches to recurrence in RW and open QW.

When applied to stochastic matrices, the relation between operator valued FR-functions and Stieltjes functions given in Theorem 2.5 becomes the generalization of the classical renewal equation for RW, first obtained in [56] (see also [33,74]), to the recurrence of a subset of states. The unitary situation leads to the version of the renewal equation for QW, already uncovered in [15, 37] (see also [20]). The fact that Theorem 2.5 holds for arbitrary operators on Banach spaces implies that open QW also have a renewal equation.

In this context, the splitting rules for FR-functions become splitting rules for the study of recurrence properties in a walk: they tell us how to split a walk into overlapping smaller walks so that the return properties of the overlapping piece in the original walk are determined by its return properties in the smaller walks.

## 8. Applications to random walks: RW recurrence

There is a huge literature on RW. For good references which highlight the return aspects and the connection with self-adjoint operators see [33,74].

Consider a RW on a countable set  $\mathscr{S}$  of states. By this, we mean a Markov chain on  $\mathscr{S}$  whose evolution is given at any time by a stochastic matrix  $\Pi = (\Pi_{i,j})_{i,j\in\mathscr{S}}$ , i.e. a matrix with non-negative entries whose rows sum up to 1,

$$\Pi_{i,j} \ge 0 \quad \forall i, j \in \mathscr{S}, \qquad \qquad \sum_{j \in \mathscr{S}} \Pi_{i,j} = 1 \quad \forall i \in \mathscr{S}.$$

Since multiplication preserves stochasticity,  $\Pi^n$  is again stochastic and its entry  $\Pi^n_{i,j}$  gives the *n*-step probability transition  $i \to j$ .

In general, the stochastic matrix  $\Pi$  defines an operator  $v \mapsto v\Pi$  on the Banach space  $\ell^1(\mathscr{S})$  rather than on a Hilbert space since

$$\|v\Pi\| = \sum_{j \in \mathscr{S}} \left| \sum_{i \in \mathscr{S}} v_i \Pi_{i,j} \right| \le \sum_{i \in \mathscr{S}} |v_i| \sum_{j \in \mathscr{S}} \Pi_{i,j} = \|v\|, \qquad v \in \ell^1(\mathscr{S}),$$

where the norm is that of  $\ell^1(\mathscr{S})$  and the commutation of sums is possible even in case of infinitely many terms because they are non-negative. The above identity also shows that  $\Pi$  is bounded with  $\|\Pi\| \leq 1$ , i.e.  $\Pi$  is a contraction on  $\ell^1(\mathscr{S})$ .

With any –finite or infinite– subset  $\Omega \subset \mathscr{S}$  we can associate the projection P of  $\ell^1(\mathscr{S})$  onto  $\ell^1(\Omega)$  along  $\ell^1(\mathscr{S} \setminus \Omega)$ , represented by the matrix

$$P_{i,j} = \begin{cases} 1 & i = j \in \Omega, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases} \qquad \|P\| = 1, \tag{73}$$

as well as the complementary projection Q = 1 - P, which also has norm ||Q|| = 1. In short, we will refer to P as the projection of  $\mathscr{S}$  onto  $\Omega$ .

The FR-function f of P with respect to  $\Pi$  is the function with values in operators on  $\ell^1(\Omega)$  given by

$$f(z) = P\Pi(1 - zQ\Pi)^{-1}P = \sum_{n \ge 0} z^n P\Pi(Q\Pi)^n P, \qquad z \in \mathbb{D},$$

where the validity of the above expressions for  $z \in \mathbb{D}$  follows from  $||Q\Pi|| \leq 1$ . We will also refer to f as the FR-function of  $\Omega$  with respect to  $\Pi$ . The interest of this FR-function lies in its relation with the return properties of the subset  $\Omega$ , in particular with the following recurrence concepts. **Definition 8.1.** Given a subset  $\Omega \subset \mathscr{S}$ , we define the following notions for a RW on the set of states  $\mathscr{S}$ :

- $\pi(i \to \Omega)$  = probability of returning to  $\Omega$  when starting at the state  $i \in \Omega$ .
- $\pi(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} j)$  = probability of landing on the state  $j \in \Omega$  when returning to  $\Omega$  starting at the state  $i \in \Omega$ .
- $\pi_n(i \to \Omega)$  = probability of returning for the first time in *n* steps to  $\Omega$  when starting at the state  $i \in \Omega$ .
- $\pi_n(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} j)$  = probability of landing on the state  $j \in \Omega$  when returning for the first time in n steps to  $\Omega$  starting at the state  $i \in \Omega$ .
- $\tau(i \rightarrow \Omega)$  = expected return time to  $\Omega$  when starting at the state  $i \in \Omega$ .

When  $\Omega = \{i\}$  we write  $\pi(i \to i)$ ,  $\pi_n(i \to i)$  and  $\tau(i \to i)$  for the corresponding quantities.

These probabilistic notions are related with each other, with the stochastic matrix  $\Pi$ and with the FR-function f of  $\Omega$  with respect to  $\Pi$ , as follows

$$\pi_{n}(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} j) = \sum_{j_{k} \in \mathscr{I} \smallsetminus \Omega} \prod_{i,j_{1}} \prod_{j_{1},j_{2}} \cdots \prod_{j_{n-1},j} = (\Pi(Q\Pi)^{n-1})_{i,j}, \qquad \pi_{n}(i \to \Omega) = \sum_{j \in \Omega} \pi_{n}(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} j),$$

$$f(z)_{i,j} = \sum_{n \ge 1} z^{n-1} \pi_{n}(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} j), \qquad \sum_{j \in \Omega} f(z)_{i,j} = \sum_{n \ge 1} z^{n-1} \pi_{n}(i \to \Omega), \qquad z \in \mathbb{D}, \qquad (74)$$

$$\pi(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} j) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \pi_{n}(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} j) = f(1)_{i,j}, \qquad \pi(i \to \Omega) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \pi_{n}(i \to \Omega) = \sum_{j \in \Omega} \pi(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} j) = \sum_{j \in \Omega} f(1)_{i,j},$$

$$\tau(i \to \Omega) = \begin{cases} \infty & \text{if } \pi(i \to \Omega) < 1, \\ \sum_{n \ge 1} n \pi_{n}(i \to \Omega) = \lim_{x \uparrow 1} \left( \sum_{j \in \Omega} x f(x)_{i,j} \right)' = 1 + \sum_{j \in \Omega} f'(1)_{i,j}, \quad \text{if } \pi(i \to \Omega) = 1, \\ f(1)_{i,j} := \lim_{x \uparrow 1} f(x)_{i,j}, \qquad f'(1)_{i,j} := \lim_{x \uparrow 1} f'(x)_{i,j}, \qquad x \in [0, 1). \end{cases}$$

The exchange of sums is legitimate by their absolute convergence. The commutation of limits and derivatives with eventual infinite sums follows from the fact that  $f(x)_{i,j}$  and their derivatives are non-decreasing in x for  $x \in [0, 1)$ .

The relations (74) identify the FR-function f as a true generating function of first time return probabilities to  $\Omega$  (up to multiplication by z). The corresponding Stieltjes function

$$s(z) = P(1 - z\Pi)^{-1}P = \sum_{n \ge 0} z^n P\Pi^n P, \qquad z \in \mathbb{D},$$

is instead the generating function of the return probabilities to  $\Omega$  because  $\prod_{i,j}^{n}$  is the probability of the transition  $i \to j$  in n steps. The generalized renewal equation (26) becomes now

 $s(z)^{-1} = 1_0 - zf(z), \qquad 1_0 = \text{ identity of order the size of } \Omega, \qquad z \in \mathbb{D},$ 

which is the extension of the standard renewal equation for the return to a state in a RW [33, 56, 74] to the case of the return to a subset of states.

While the expected time  $\tau(i \to \Omega)$  is given essentially by the sum of the *i*-th row of the weak derivative f'(1), the probability  $\pi(i \to \Omega)$  is the sum of the *i*-th row of f(1). Hence,

f(1) should be a substochastic matrix, i.e. a matrix with non-negative entries whose rows sum up to no more than 1. The absence of negative entries is obvious, but a bound for the sum of the rows requires a proof. As a byproduct, we will find that f is a Schur function.

**Proposition 8.2.** The FR-function f of a subset  $\Omega \in \mathscr{S}$  with respect to a stochastic matrix  $\Pi$  on  $\mathscr{S}$  satisfies

$$\left|\sum_{j\in\Omega}f(z)_{i,j}\right|\leq\sum_{j\in\Omega}f(1)_{i,j}\leq 1,\qquad i\in\Omega,\qquad z\in\mathbb{D}.$$

Therefore,  $||f(z)|| \leq 1$  for  $z \in \mathbb{D}$ , so that f is a Schur function with values in operators on the Banach space  $\ell^1(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* The inequality  $|\sum_{j\in\Omega} f(z)_{i,j}| \leq \sum_{j\in\Omega} f(1)_{i,j}$  for  $z \in \mathbb{D}$  follows from

$$|f(z)_{i,j}| \leq \sum_{n\geq 1} |z|^{n-1} \pi_n (i \xrightarrow{\Omega} j) \leq \sum_{n\geq 1} \pi_n (i \xrightarrow{\Omega} j) = f(1)_{i,j}, \qquad |z| < 1.$$

As for the remaining inequality,

$$\sum_{j \in \Omega} f(1)_{i,j} \le 1 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \pi_1(i \to \Omega) + \pi_2(i \to \Omega) + \dots + \pi_n(i \to \Omega) \le 1 \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Let us first see by induction on r = 0, 1, ..., n - 2 that

$$\pi_{n-r}(i \to \Omega) + \dots + \pi_{n-1}(i \to \Omega) + \pi_n(i \to \Omega) \le \sum_{j_k \in \mathscr{I} \setminus \Omega} \prod_{i,j_1} \prod_{j_1,j_2} \dots \prod_{j_{n-r-2},j_{n-r-1}}.$$
 (75)

The result follows for r = 0 from the inequality  $\sum_{j \in \Omega} \prod_{j_{n-1}, j} \leq \sum_{j \in \mathscr{S}} \prod_{j_{n-1}, j} = 1$ , which gives  $\pi_n(i \to \Omega) \leq \sum_{j_k \in \mathscr{S} \setminus \Omega} \prod_{i, j_1} \prod_{j_1, j_2} \cdots \prod_{j_{n-2}, j_{n-1}}$ . Assuming (75) for some r < n-2 we obtain

$$\pi_{n-r-1}(i \to \Omega) + \pi_{n-r}(i \to \Omega) + \dots + \pi_n(i \to \Omega)$$

$$\leq \sum_{\substack{j_k \in \mathscr{I} \smallsetminus \Omega \\ j \in \Omega}} \prod_{i,j_1} \prod_{j_1,j_2} \cdots \prod_{j_{n-r-2},j} + \sum_{\substack{j_k \in \mathscr{I} \smallsetminus \Omega \\ j \in \mathcal{I}}} \prod_{i,j_1} \prod_{j_1,j_2} \cdots \prod_{j_{n-r-2},j} = \sum_{\substack{j_k \in \mathscr{I} \smallsetminus \Omega \\ j \in \mathscr{I}}} \prod_{i,j_1} \prod_{j_1,j_2} \cdots \prod_{j_{n-r-3},j_{n-r-2}},$$

where in the last equality we have used that  $\sum_{j \in \mathscr{S}} \prod_{j_{n-r-2}, j} = 1$ . This proves (75) for r+1.

Therefore, (75) holds for  $r \le n-2$ . In particular, this inequality reads for r = n-2 as follows

$$\pi_2(i \to \Omega) + \dots + \pi_n(i \to \Omega) \le \sum_{j \in \mathscr{I} \setminus \Omega} \prod_{i,j},$$

which, combined with  $\pi_1(i \to \Omega) = \sum_{j \in \Omega} \prod_{i,j}$ , yields

$$\pi_1(i \to \Omega) + \pi_2(i \to \Omega) + \dots + \pi_n(i \to \Omega) \le \sum_{j \in \mathscr{S}} \prod_{i,j} = 1.$$

Since the operator norm of the operator on  $\ell^1(\Omega)$  given by  $v \mapsto vf(z)$  is  $||f(z)|| = \sup_{i \in \Omega} \sum_{j \in \Omega} |f(z)_{i,j}|$ , the previous results prove that  $||f(z)|| \leq 1$  for  $z \in \mathbb{D}$ .

The previous proposition shows that every FR-function f for a RW is a Schur function with values f(z) in operators on a  $\ell^1$  Banach space, i.e. taking for f(z) the operator norm with respect to the  $\ell^1$  norm. Nevertheless, in many situations they are also Nevanlinna functions. This is the case for instance when the RW is simultaneously irreducible and reversible because in this situation the stochastic matrix  $\Pi$  defines a self-adjoint operator on certain Hilbert space [74, Chapter 6]. A particular case of this are the birth-death processes, which will appear later on as an example illustrating the use of FR-function splitting techniques for RW.

The splitting formulas for FR-functions lead to splitting rules for recurrence properties of RW. Such splitting rules follow from the splitting of a RW into overlapping ones, corresponding to one of the following overlapping splittings for the related stochastic matrix  $\Pi$ ,

Following the terminology in Theorem 6.1, we refer below to these two cases as a decomposition and a factorization respectively.

The second situation, which deals with the factorization of a stochastic matrix  $\Pi$  into a product of overlapping ones  $\Pi_{L,R}$ , needs no clarification since the product of stochastic matrices is again stochastic. In the first case however, the sum of overlapping matrices does not preserve the stochasticity. Actually, a sum of two overlapping stochastic matrices  $\Pi_{L,R}$  has rows summing up to 1, except for the overlapping rows which sum up to 2. Hence, subtracting an additional stochastic matrix  $\Pi_0$  on the overlapping subset yields a matrix  $\Pi$ whose rows sum up to 1 all of them. This matrix  $\Pi$  is stochastic as long as the subtraction of  $\Pi_0$  does not lead to any negative matrix entry.

**Theorem 8.3 (splitting rules for RW recurrence).** Let  $\mathscr{S} = \Omega_{-} \cup \Omega \cup \Omega_{+}$  be a decomposition of a set of states into disjoint subsets, P the projection (73) of  $\mathscr{S}$  onto  $\Omega$  and  $\Pi_L$ ,  $\Pi_R$ ,  $\Pi_0$  stochastic matrices on  $\mathscr{S}_L = \Omega_{-} \cup \Omega$ ,  $\mathscr{S}_R = \Omega \cup \Omega_{+}$  and  $\Omega$  respectively. Then, using the subscript L, R to distinguish the quantities related to the RW given by  $\Pi_{L,R}$  and denoting by  $0_{\pm}$  and  $1_{\pm}$  the null and identity matrices on  $\Omega_{\pm}$ , we have the following splitting rules:

(i) **Decomposition:**  $\Pi = (\Pi_L \oplus 0_+) + (0_- \oplus \Pi_R) - (0_- \oplus \Pi_0 \oplus 0_+)$  is a stochastic matrix on  $\mathscr{S}$  whenever the block P $\Pi$ P has non-negative entries. Then, the corresponding return probabilities and expected return times to  $\Omega$  are given by

$$\pi(i \to \Omega) = \pi_L(i \to \Omega) + \pi_R(i \to \Omega) - 1,$$
  

$$\tau(i \to \Omega) = \tau_L(i \to \Omega) + \tau_R(i \to \Omega) - 1,$$
  
 $i \in \Omega.$ 

As a consequence, for each  $i \in \Omega$ ,

$$\pi(i \to \Omega) = 1 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \pi_L(i \to \Omega) = \pi_R(i \to \Omega) = 1.$$

(ii) Factorization:  $\Pi = (\Pi_L \oplus 1_+)(1_- \oplus \Pi_R)$  is a stochastic matrix on  $\mathscr{S}$  and the corresponding return probabilities and expected return times to  $\Omega$  are given by

$$\pi(i \to \Omega) = \sum_{k \in \Omega} \pi_L(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} k) \pi_R(k \to \Omega),$$
  
$$\tau(i \to \Omega) = \tau_L(i \to \Omega) + \sum_{k \in \Omega} \pi_L(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} k) \tau_R(k \to \Omega) - 1,$$
  
$$i \in \Omega,$$

where, in case of indetermination  $\pi_L(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} k) \tau_R(k \to \Omega) = 0.\infty$ , we set

$$\pi_L(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} k) \tau_R(k \to \Omega) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \pi_R(k \to \Omega) = 1, \\ \infty & \text{if } \pi_R(k \to \Omega) < 1. \end{cases}$$

As a consequence, for each  $i \in \Omega$ ,

$$\pi(i \to \Omega) = 1 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \pi_L(i \to \Omega) = \pi_R(k \to \Omega) = 1 \quad \forall k \in \Omega.$$

Proof.

(i) The rows of the matrix  $\Pi$  sum up to 1 because  $\Pi_L$ ,  $\Pi_R$ ,  $\Pi_0$  are stochastic and

$$\sum_{j \in \mathscr{S}} \Pi_{i,j} = \begin{cases} \sum_{j \in \mathscr{S}_L} (\Pi_L)_{i,j} & i \in \Omega_-, \\ \sum_{j \in \mathscr{S}_L} (\Pi_L)_{i,j} + \sum_{j \in \mathscr{S}_R} (\Pi_R)_{i,j} - \sum_{j \in \Omega} (\Pi_0)_{i,j} & i \in \Omega, \\ \sum_{j \in \mathscr{S}_R} (\Pi_R)_{i,j} & i \in \Omega_+. \end{cases}$$

Hence,  $\Pi$  is stochastic whenever the entries of the block  $P\Pi P$  are non-negative because they are the only entries of  $\Pi$  which differ from those of  $\Pi_L$  or  $\Pi_R$ .

The decomposition rules follow from Theorem 6.1. (i) applied to  $\Pi_L$  and  $\Pi_R$  as operators on the Banach spaces  $\ell^1(\mathscr{S}_L)$  and  $\ell^1(\mathscr{S}_R)$  respectively, combined with Theorem 6.2. (i) applied to the perturbation  $\Pi_0$ . Such theorems imply that the FR-function of P with respect to  $\Pi$  is given by  $f = f_L + f_R - \Pi_0$ , where  $f_{L,R}$  is the FR-function of the projection of  $\mathscr{S}_{L,R}$  onto  $\Omega$  with respect to  $\Pi_{L,R}$ . Therefore,

$$\pi(i \to \Omega) = \sum_{j \in \Omega} f(1)_{i,j} = \sum_{j \in \Omega} f_L(1)_{i,j} + \sum_{j \in \Omega} f_R(1)_{i,j} + \sum_{j \in \Omega} (\Pi_0)_{i,j} = \pi_L(i \to \Omega) + \pi_R(i \to \Omega) - 1.$$

Hence,  $\pi(i \to \Omega) = 1$  iff  $\pi_L(i \to \Omega) + \pi_R(i \to \Omega) = 2$ , i.e.  $\pi_L(i \to \Omega) = \pi_R(i \to \Omega) = 1$ .

The expression for the expected return time holds trivially when  $\pi(i \to \Omega) < 1$  because this is equivalent to  $\pi_L(i \to \Omega) < 1$  or  $\pi_R(i \to \Omega) < 1$ . In such a situation  $\tau(i \to \Omega) = \infty = \tau_L(i \to \Omega) + \tau_R(i \to \Omega) - 1$ .

Suppose now that  $\pi(i \rightarrow \Omega) = 1$ . Then,

$$\tau(i \to \Omega) = 1 + \sum_{j \in \Omega} f'(1)_{i,j} = 1 + \sum_{j \in \Omega} f'_L(1)_{i,j} + \sum_{j \in \Omega} f'_R(1)_{i,j} = \tau_L(i \to \Omega) + \tau_R(i \to \Omega) - 1.$$

(*ii*) As a product of stochastic matrices,  $\Pi$  is also stochastic.

The factorization rules are a consequence of Theorem 6.1.(*ii*) for  $\Pi_L$  and  $\Pi_R$ . This theorem states that the FR-function of P with respect to  $\Pi$  is given by  $f = f_L f_R$ , in terms

of the FR-functions  $f_{L,R}$  introduced in (i). Thus,

$$\pi(i \to \Omega) = \sum_{j \in \Omega} f(1)_{i,j} = \sum_{j,k \in \Omega} f_L(1)_{i,k} f_R(1)_{k,j} = \sum_{k \in \Omega} \pi_L(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} k) \pi_R(k \to \Omega).$$
(76)

This implies that  $\pi(i \to \Omega) \leq \sum_{k \in \Omega} \pi_L(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} k) = \pi_L(i \to \Omega)$ , so that  $\pi(i \to \Omega) = 1$  leads to  $\pi_L(i \to \Omega) = 1$ . Also,  $\pi_R(k \to \Omega) < 1$  for some  $k \in \Omega$  yields  $\pi(i \to \Omega) < \sum_{k \in \Omega} \pi_L(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} k) = \pi_L(i \to \Omega) \leq 1$ . Hence,  $\pi(i \to \Omega) = 1$  also implies that  $\pi_R(k \to \Omega) = 1$  for every  $k \in \Omega$ . Conversely, if  $\pi_L(i \to \Omega) = \pi_R(k \to \Omega) = 1$  for every  $k \in \Omega$ , then the relation (76) becomes  $\pi(i \to \Omega) = \sum_{k \in \Omega} \pi_L(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} k) = \pi_L(i \to \Omega) = 1$ . These arguments prove the equivalence between  $\pi(i \to \Omega) = 1$  and  $\pi_L(i \to \Omega) = \pi_R(k \to \Omega) = 1$  for every  $k \in \Omega$ .

Concerning the expected return time,  $\tau(i \to \Omega) = \infty$  when  $\pi(i \to \Omega) < 1$ . This situation corresponds to  $\pi_L(i \to \Omega) < 1$  or  $\pi_R(k \to \Omega) < 1$  for some  $k \in \Omega$ . In any of these cases  $\tau_L(i \to \Omega) + \sum_{k \in \Omega} \pi_L(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} k) \tau(k \to \Omega) - 1 = \infty$  with the convention established in the statement *(ii)* of the theorem for the indetermination  $\pi_L(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} k) \tau(k \to \Omega) = 0.\infty$ .

Assume now that  $\pi(i \to \Omega) = 1$ . Then, using that  $\sum_{k \in \Omega} f_L(1)_{i,k} = \pi_L(i \to \Omega) = 1$  and  $\sum_{j \in \Omega} f_R(1)_{k,j} = \pi_R(k \to \Omega) = 1$  for all  $k \in \Omega$ , we get

$$\begin{aligned} \tau(i \to \Omega) &= 1 + \sum_{j \in \Omega} f'(1)_{j,k} = 1 + \sum_{j \in \Omega} \left( \sum_{k \in \Omega} f'_L(1)_{i,k} f_R(1)_{k,j} + \sum_{k \in \Omega} f_L(1)_{i,k} f'_R(1)_{k,j} \right) \\ &= 1 + \sum_{k \in \Omega} f'_L(1)_{i,k} + \sum_{j \in \Omega} \sum_{k \in \Omega} f_L(1)_{i,k} f'_R(1)_{k,j} \\ &= \tau_L(i \to \Omega) + \sum_{k \in \Omega} \pi_L(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} k) \left( \tau_R(k \to \Omega) - 1 \right) \\ &= \tau_L(i \to \Omega) + \sum_{k \in \Omega} \pi_L(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} k) \tau_R(k \to \Omega) - 1. \end{aligned}$$

The only potential problem with the above manipulations arises in the case of an indetermination  $\pi_L(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} k) \tau_R(k \to \Omega) = 0.\infty$  for some  $k \in \Omega$ . Nevertheless, in this situation  $f_L(1)_{i,k} = 0$ , which gives  $\sum_{j \in \Omega} \sum_{k \in \Omega} f_L(1)_{i,k} f'_R(1)_{k,j} = 0$  regardless of the value of  $\sum_{j \in \Omega} f'_R(1)_{k,j}$ . This is in agreement with the convention established for the indetermination in question.

Under the hypothesis of Theorem 8.3, we will refer to the RW driven by  $\Pi_{L,R}$  as the left/right subsystems in which the RW governed by  $\Pi$  splits. We will also say that these left/right subsystems overlap on the subset  $\Omega$ .

In the case of the recurrence of a single state, the splitting rules for the factorization of Theorem 8.3.(ii) are particularly simple.

**Corollary 8.4.** With the same notation as in Theorem 8.3, if  $\Omega = \{i\}$  we have the following splitting rules for  $\Pi = (\Pi_L \oplus 1_+)(1_- \oplus \Pi_R)$ :

$$\pi(i \to i) = \pi_L(i \to i) \pi_R(i \to i),$$
  
$$\tau(i \to i) = \tau_L(i \to i) + \tau_R(i \to i) - 1$$

As a consequence,

$$\pi(i \to i) = 1 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \pi_L(i \to i) = \pi_R(i \to i) = 1.$$

The previous results have a remarkable consequence: if a RW splits into subsystems which overlap at a subset  $\Omega$ , the return probabilities to  $\Omega$  are independent of the details of those subsystems for which  $\Omega$  has certain recurrence properties. The precise statements of these results are given by the corollary below, but for convenience we first introduce the following recurrence concepts concerning states and subsets of states.

**Definition 8.5.** Given  $i \in \mathscr{S}$  and  $\Omega \subset \mathscr{S}$ , we define the following notions for a RW on the set of states  $\mathscr{S}$ :

The state  $i \in \mathscr{S}$  is recurrent if  $\pi(i \to i) = 1$ . The state  $i \in \Omega$  is  $\Omega$ -recurrent if  $\pi(i \to \Omega) = 1$ .

The subset  $\Omega \subset \mathscr{S}$  is recurrent if all its states are  $\Omega$ -recurrent.

Using this terminology, Theorem 8.3 and Corollary 8.4 have the following immediate consequences.

**Corollary 8.6.** With the same notation as in Theorem 8.3, we have the following results:

(i) The return probability  $\pi(i \to \Omega)$  for a RW whose stochastic matrix decomposes as  $\Pi = (\Pi_L \oplus 0_+) + (0_- \oplus \Pi_R) - (0_- \oplus \Pi_0 \oplus 0_+)$  is independent of the left or right subsystem whenever the state *i* is  $\Omega$ -recurrent for such a subsystem. More precisely,

$$\pi_L(i \to \Omega) = 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \pi(i \to \Omega) = \pi_R(i \to \Omega),$$
  
$$\pi_R(i \to \Omega) = 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \pi(i \to \Omega) = \pi_L(i \to \Omega).$$

(ii) The return probabilities to  $\Omega$  for a RW whose stochastic matrix factorizes as  $\Pi = (\Pi_L \oplus 1_+)(1_- \oplus \Pi_R)$  are independent of the right subsystem whenever the subset  $\Omega$  is recurrent for such a subsystem. More precisely,

 $\pi_R(i \to \Omega) = 1 \quad \forall i \in \Omega \quad \Rightarrow \quad \pi(i \to \Omega) = \pi_L(i \to \Omega) \quad \forall i \in \Omega.$ 

If  $\Omega = \{i\}$ , a similar independence with respect to the left subsystem holds, i.e.

 $\pi_L(i \to i) = 1 \implies \pi(i \to i) = \pi_R(i \to i).$ 

Hence, the return probability of the overlapping state *i* is independent of any of the left/right subsystems for which *i* is recurrent.

8.1. Examples of RW recurrence. We will illustrate the splitting rules for RW recurrence with a few examples. As previously, in what follows O and I stand for the infinite null and identity matrices, while their  $n \times n$  versions are denoted by  $O_n$  and  $I_n$  respectively. When the size of these matrices is undetermined we will denote them by O and I.

*Example* 8.7. The first example is a simple RW on a finite set of states where we will illustrate both the decomposition and factorization rules. The RW in question is given by the following diagram of one-step probability transitions,



thus it is governed by the stochastic matrix

$$\Pi = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & a & 0 & b \end{pmatrix}$$

This matrix can be decomposed as

$$\Pi = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 &$$

corresponding to an overlapping decomposition of the RW into left, right and center ones represented by



The overlap is on the states 3 and 4, a fact that, according to Theorems 6.1. (i) and 6.2. (i), guarantees the decomposition  $f = f_L + f_R - \Pi_0$  of the FR-function of the subset of states

 $\Omega = \{3, 4\}$  for the original RW,

$$f(z) = P(\Pi(1 - zQ\Pi)^{-1})P, \qquad P = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \\ & 1 & \\ & & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad Q = I_6 - P, \tag{77}$$

into similar FR-functions for the left and right RW,

$$f_L(z) = P_L(\Pi_L(1 - zQ_L\Pi_L)^{-1})P_L, \qquad P_L = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad Q_L = I_4 - P_L,$$

$$f_R(z) = P_R(\Pi_R(1 - zQ_R\Pi_R)^{-1})P_R, \qquad P_R = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad Q_R = I_4 - P_R.$$
(78)

The relation  $f = f_L + f_R - \prod_0$  can be checked by a direct computation of these FR-functions, which leads to the expressions

$$f(z) = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{z}{2(z-2)} & \frac{z(2az-z+1)}{4(az-z+1)} \\ -\frac{z}{2(z-2)} & \frac{z(2az-z+1)}{4(az-z+1)} \end{pmatrix}, \quad f_L(z) = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{z}{2(z-2)} & \frac{1}{2} \\ -\frac{z}{2(z-2)} & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad f_R(z) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \frac{z(2az-z+1)}{4(az-z+1)} \\ \frac{1}{2} & \frac{z(2az-z+1)}{4(az-z+1)} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(79) or limits at  $z = 1$ 

Their limits at z = 1,

$$\lim_{x\uparrow 1} f(x) = \lim_{x\uparrow 1} f_L(x) = \lim_{x\uparrow 1} f_R(x) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix} \qquad \text{if } a \neq 0,$$
$$\lim_{x\uparrow 1} f(x) = \lim_{x\uparrow 1} f_R(x) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{4} \\ \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{4} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \lim_{x\uparrow 1} f_L(x) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \text{if } a = 0,$$

give the probabilities of returning to  $\Omega = \{3, 4\}$  landing on a particular state, so that for  $i, j \in \Omega$ ,

$$\pi(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} j) = \pi_L(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} j) = \pi_R(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} j) = \frac{1}{2} \quad \text{except for} \quad \pi(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} 4) = \pi_R(i \xrightarrow{\Omega} 4) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} & \text{if } a \neq 0, \\ \frac{1}{4} & \text{if } a = 0. \end{cases}$$

The sum of the rows of such limits provide the return probabilities to the set  $\Omega = \{3, 4\}$ , given for any  $i \in \Omega$  by

$$\pi_L(i \to \Omega) = 1, \qquad \pi(i \to \Omega) = \pi_R(i \to \Omega) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } a \neq 0, \\ \frac{3}{4} & \text{if } a = 0. \end{cases}$$

Therefore, the subset  $\Omega$  is recurrent for the left RW and, if  $a \neq 0$ , also for the original and right RW.

In the recurrent cases, the expected return times are given by the sums of the rows of the following matrices

$$\lim_{x\uparrow 1} (xf(x))' = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{3}{2} & 1 + \frac{1}{4a} \\ \frac{3}{2} & 1 + \frac{1}{4a} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \lim_{x\uparrow 1} (xf_L(x))' = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{3}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{3}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \lim_{x\uparrow 1} (xf_R(x))' = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & 1 + \frac{1}{4a} \\ \frac{1}{2} & 1 + \frac{1}{4a} \end{pmatrix},$$
which yield for  $i \in \Omega$ 

$$\tau(i \to \Omega) = \frac{5}{2} + \frac{1}{4a}, \qquad \tau_L(i \to \Omega) = 2, \qquad \tau_R(i \to \Omega) = \frac{3}{2} + \frac{1}{4a}.$$

The sum of each row of f yields the FR-function for the returns to  $\Omega$ , which coincides for the states 3 and 4. The coefficients of its power expansion around the origin provide the probability of returning to  $\Omega$  for the first time in n steps, given for i = 3, 4 by

$$\pi_n(i \to \Omega) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } n = 1, \\ \frac{1}{2} & \text{if } n = 2, \\ \frac{1}{2^n} + \frac{1}{4}a(1-a)^{n-3} & \text{if } n \ge 3. \end{cases}$$

These results can be inferred also from path counting, but the splitting techniques become an invaluable tool for the analysis of recurrence in more complex RW, like those described in the next examples.

The decomposition rules do not work for the return properties of the single state 4 because there is no decomposition of  $\Pi$  with overlaps only at such state. However, the factorization rules are available for that purpose due to the overlapping factorization

$$\Pi = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & a & 0 & b \\ \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \Pi_L \\ I_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_3 \\ \Pi_R \end{pmatrix}$$
(80)

into the left and right RW diagrammatically represented by



When applied to this overlapping factorization, Theorem 6.1. (*ii*) provides the factorization  $f = f_L f_R$  for the FR-functions of the state 4, where such FR-functions are as in (77), (78), but substituting  $\Pi_R$  by the new right stochastic matrix and the projections P,  $P_L$ ,  $P_R$  by

$$P = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \\ & 0 & \\ & & 0 & \\ & & & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad P_L = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \\ & 0 & \\ & & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad P_R = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \\ & 0 & \\ & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The result

$$f(z) = \frac{z(z-2)(2az-z+1)}{2(az-z+1)(z^2+2z-4)}, \qquad f_L(z) = \frac{z-2}{z^2+2z-4}, \qquad f_R(z) = \frac{z(2az-z+1)}{2(az-z+1)},$$

makes evident the factorization  $f = f_L f_R$ . From the FR-functions we find the return probabilities of the state 4 taking limits at z = 1,

$$\pi_L(4 \to 4) = 1, \qquad \pi(4 \to 4) = \pi_R(4 \to 4) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } a \neq 0, \\ \frac{1}{2} & \text{if } a = 0. \end{cases}$$

Hence, the sate 4 is recurrent for the left RW and, if  $a \neq 0$ , also for the original and right RW.

The limit at z = 1 of the derivatives of the FR-functions provide the expected return times in the recurrent situations,

$$\tau(4 \to 4) = 5 + \frac{1}{2a}, \qquad \tau_L(4 \to 4) = 4, \qquad \tau_R(4 \to 4) = 2 + \frac{1}{2a}.$$

The overlapping factorization (80) can be also used to factorize the FR-function of the subset of states  $\Omega = \{3, 4\}$ . For this we must simply enlarge the right RW including the site 3, which amounts to reconsider the factorization (80) in the following way

$$\Pi = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & a & 0 & b \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \Pi_L & \\ \Pi_L & \\ \Pi_R & \\ \Pi_R & \\ \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then, the FR-functions for the subset  $\Omega = \{3, 4\}$  are the same as in (79) except for that of the right RW,

$$f(z) = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{z}{2(z-2)} & \frac{z(2az-z+1)}{4(az-z+1)} \\ -\frac{z}{2(z-2)} & \frac{z(2az-z+1)}{4(az-z+1)} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f_L(z) = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{z}{2(z-2)} & \frac{1}{2} \\ -\frac{z}{2(z-2)} & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f_R(z) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{z(2az-z+1)}{2(az-z+1)} \end{pmatrix}.$$

This makes explicit the factorization  $f = f_L f_R$ .

The return probabilities and expected return times for the subset  $\Omega = \{3, 4\}$  with respect to the new right RW follow from the above FR-function  $f_R$  as in the previous cases,

$$\pi_R(3 \to \Omega) = 1, \qquad \pi_R(4 \to \Omega) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } a \neq 0, \\ \frac{1}{2} & \text{if } a = 0, \end{cases}$$
$$\tau_R(3 \to \Omega) = 1, \qquad \tau_R(4 \to \Omega) = 2 + \frac{1}{2a}.$$

It is instructive to check in this simple example the general splitting rules given in Theorem 8.3, which in more complicated situations become an useful tool to deal with recurrence properties of RW.

*Example* 8.8. We will use the birth-death processes to illustrate the use of Khrushchev formula for OPRL obtained in the previous section as an application of the splitting rules for FR-functions. This is possible because birth-death processes, represented by tridiagonal matrices, are always symmetrizable and thus lead to OPRL via Jacobi matrices. Actually,

the fact that such Jacobi matrices define self-adjoint contractions on a Hilbert space implies that the related FR-functions are not only Schur functions, but also Nevanlinna functions.

Consider the RW on the non-negative integers  $\mathscr{S} = \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$  given by the tridiagonal stochastic matrix

$$\Pi = \begin{pmatrix} b_0 & q_0 & & & \\ p & 0 & q & & \\ p & 0 & q & & \\ & p & 0 & q & \\ & & & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \end{pmatrix}, \qquad p, q, q_0 > 0, \quad b_0 \ge 0, \\ p + q = 1, \quad b_0 + q_0 = 1, \\ & & & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \end{pmatrix}$$

which we can represent diagramatically as



We can symmetrize  $\Pi$  by conjugation with a diagonal positive matrix  $\Lambda$  so that  $\mathcal{J} = \Lambda \Pi \Lambda^{-1}$  is a Jacobi matrix,

$$\mathcal{J} = \begin{pmatrix} b_0 & a_0 & & & \\ a_0 & 0 & a & & \\ & a & 0 & a & \\ & & a & 0 & a & \\ & & & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \end{pmatrix}, \qquad a_0 = \sqrt{pq_0},$$

The fact that  $\Lambda$  is diagonal guarantees that  $\Pi$  and  $\mathcal{J}$  have the same FR-function f(n; z) for each single state n,

$$f(n;z) = (\Pi(1-zQ^{(n)}\Pi)^{-1})_{n,n} = (\mathcal{J}(1-zQ^{(n)}\mathcal{J})^{-1})_{n,n}, \qquad Q_{i,j}^{(n)} = \begin{cases} 0 & i=j=n, \\ 1 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Consequently, f(n; z) is simultaneously a Schur and a Nevanlinna function. Bearing in mind the comments in Section 7, f(n; z) is the Nevanlinna function of  $p_n^2 d\mu$ , where  $p_n$  is the OPRL of degree n generated by the three term recurrence relation associated with  $\mathcal{J}$ and  $\mu$  is the related orthogonality measure on the real line. The values of the FR-function f(n; z) and its derivative at z = 1 give the return probability and expected return time for the state n.

The FR-function  $f(z) \coloneqq f(0; z)$  for the first state follows easily from the fact that it is a Nevanlinna function with Schur parameters  $b_0, a_0, 0, a, 0, a, \ldots$  with respect to the Schur algorithm (54) at the origin, so that its first iterate  $f_1$  has constant Schur parameters  $0, a, 0, a, 0, a, \ldots$  From Example 5.7 we find that

$$f_1(z) = \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 4a^2 z^2}}{2z},\tag{81}$$

where the branch for the square root is that one taking the value 1 at z = 0. Therefore,

$$f(z) = b_0 + \frac{a_0^2 z}{1 - z f_1(z)} = b_0 + \frac{a_0^2}{a^2} f_1(z).$$
(82)

Using that  $\sqrt{1-4a^2} = \sqrt{1-4p(1-p)} = |1-2p| = |p-q|$  we get

$$f_1(1) = \frac{1 - |p - q|}{2} = \min\{p, q\}, \qquad \lim_{x \uparrow 1} (x f_1(x))' = \frac{2pq}{|p - q|}.$$

Hence, the return probability for the first state is given by

$$\pi(0 \to 0) = f(1) = b_0 + \frac{q_0}{q} \min\{p, q\} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } p \ge q, \\ 1 - q_0(1 - \frac{p}{q}) & \text{if } p < q, \end{cases}$$

and, in the recurrent case  $p \ge q$ , the return to the first state happens in an expected return time

$$\tau(0 \to 0) = \lim_{x \uparrow 1} (xf(x))' = b_0 + \frac{2pq_0}{p-q} = 1 + \frac{q_0}{p-q}.$$

However, the recurrence properties of an arbitrary state  $n \ge 1$  of such a semi-infinite chain are not so easy to obtain. Here, the splitting rules for FR-functions come to our rescue via Khrushchev formula for OPRL, which states that  $f(n; z) = g_n(z) + f_n(z)$ , where  $f_n$  is the *n*-th iterate of the Nevanlinna function f for the Schur algorithm (54) at the origin, while  $g_n(z) = \kappa_{n-1}p_{n-1}(z^{-1})/\kappa_n p_n(z^{-1})$  and  $\kappa_n = 1/a_0 a^{n-1}$  is the leading coefficient of  $p_n$ . According to the discussion of Section 7, the splitting  $f(n; z) = (g_n(z) + q) + (p + f_n(z)) - 1$ is associated with the overlapping decomposition  $\Pi = (\Pi_L \oplus O) + (O_n \oplus \Pi_R) - (O_n \oplus 1 \oplus O)$ , where  $\Pi_L$  and  $\Pi_R$  are stochastic matrices diagrammatically depicted as



The iterates  $f_n$  coincide with  $f_1$  because they have the same Schur parameters for (54). As for the Nevanlinna function  $g_n$ , we need the OPRL  $p_n$ .

The OPRL  $p_n$  satisfy for  $n \ge 1$  the same three term recurrence relation as the rescaled Chebyshev polynomials of the second kind  $U_n(x/2a)$ , where  $U_n$  is given by the recurrence

$$2xU_n(x) = U_{n+1}(x) + U_{n-1}(x), \qquad U_0 = 1, \qquad U_{-1} = 0.$$

This allows to express

$$p_n(x) = \frac{x - b_0}{a_0} U_{n-1}(\frac{x}{2a}) - \frac{a_0}{a} U_{n-2}(\frac{x}{2a}), \qquad n \ge 1,$$

so that

$$g_n(z) = \begin{cases} \frac{a_0^2 z}{1 - b_0 z} & \text{if } n = 1, \\ a \frac{a(1 - b_0 z) U_{n-2}(1/2az) - a_0^2 z U_{n-3}(1/2az)}{a(1 - b_0 z) U_{n-1}(1/2az) - a_0^2 z U_{n-2}(1/2az)} & \text{if } n \ge 2. \end{cases}$$
(83)

Using the properties of the Chebyshev polynomials  $U_n$  and their derivatives we find that

$$g_n(1) = p, \qquad \lim_{x \uparrow 1} g'_n(x) = \frac{p}{q_0} w^{n-2} \left( w^n + \frac{q_0}{q} U_{n-2}(\frac{1}{2a}) \right), \qquad w = \sqrt{\frac{p}{q}}, \qquad n \ge 1.$$

Therefore, for any state  $n \ge 1$ , the return probability is given by

$$\pi(n \to n) = g_n(1) + f_n(1) = p + \min\{p, q\} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } p \ge q, \\ 2p & \text{if } p < q, \end{cases}$$

and, in the recurrent case  $p \ge q$ , the corresponding expected return time has the expression

$$\tau(n \to n) = \lim_{x \uparrow 1} (xg_n(x))' + \lim_{x \uparrow 1} (xf_n(x))' = p + \frac{p}{q_0} w^{n-2} \left( w^n + \frac{q_0}{q} U_{n-2}(\frac{1}{2a}) \right) + \frac{2pq}{p-q}$$
$$= \frac{p}{q_0} \left[ w^{n-2} \left( w^n + \frac{q_0}{q} U_{n-2}(\frac{1}{2a}) \right) + \frac{q_0}{p-q} \right].$$

The splitting rules are also useful to obtain the FR-function of a subset of states in this example. For instance, the subset  $\Omega = \{0, 1\}$  naturally generates an overlapping splitting of the RW



which originates the following overlapping decomposition of the stochastic matrix  $\Pi$ ,

Hence, using Theorem 8.3.(*i*) we find that the FR-function *h* of the subset  $\Omega = \{0, 1\}$  with respect to  $\Pi$  decomposes as  $h = h_R + \Pi_0 - \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ , where  $h_R$  is the FR-function of the same subset with respect to  $0 \oplus \Pi_R$ . Obviously,  $h_R = 0 \oplus f$ , with *f* the FR-function of the single state 1 with respect to  $\Pi_R$ , which is given by (82) with  $b_0 = p$  and  $a_0 = a$ . Therefore,  $f(z) = p + f_1(z)$  with  $f_1$  as in (81), so we conclude that

$$h(z) = \begin{pmatrix} b_0 & q_0 \\ p & f_1(z) \end{pmatrix}.$$

The values

$$h(1) = \begin{pmatrix} b_0 & q_0 \\ p & \min\{p, q\} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \lim_{x \uparrow 1} (xh(x))' = \begin{pmatrix} b_0 & q_0 \\ p & \frac{2pq}{|p-q|} \end{pmatrix},$$

provide the following return probabilities and expected return times to  $\Omega = \{0, 1\},\$ 

$$\pi(0 \to \Omega) = 1, \qquad \pi(1 \to \Omega) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } p \ge q, \\ 2p & \text{if } p < q, \end{cases}$$
$$\tau(0 \to \Omega) = 1, \qquad \tau(1 \to \Omega) = \frac{p}{p-q} \quad \text{if } p \ge q.$$

When  $\Omega = \{n, n+1\}$  with  $n \ge 1$ , a similar decomposition based on the splitting

identifies the corresponding FR-function with respect to  $\Pi$  as

$$h(n;z) = \begin{pmatrix} g_n(z) & q \\ p & f_n(z) \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $f_n = f_1$  is the *n*-th iterate of f for the Schur algorithm (54) and  $g_n$  is given by (83). This yields for  $\Omega = \{n, n + 1\}$  exactly the same return probabilities and expected return times as in the case of the subset  $\{0, 1\}$ , except for the expected return time of the state n to  $\Omega = \{n, n + 1\}$ , given by

$$\tau(n \to \Omega) = \lim_{x \uparrow 1} (xg_n(x))' + q = 1 + q + \frac{p}{q_0} w^{n-2} \left( w^n + \frac{q_0}{q} U_{n-2}(\frac{1}{2a}) \right), \qquad n \ge 1.$$

*Example* 8.9. Suppose that a RW on a set  $\mathscr{S} = \Omega_1 \cup \{0\} \cup \Omega_2$  has a single state 0 that separates two subsets of states,  $\Omega_1$  and  $\Omega_2$ , which are not communicated by one-step transitions. In other words, the RW has a one-step diagram of the following type



where the thick arrows summarize all the transitions between the subsets  $\Omega_i$  and the state 0, and we denote by  $p_i$ ,  $q_i$  the sums of the probabilities of the corresponding transitions.

This is equivalent to state that the RW is driven by a stochastic matrix with the shape

$$\begin{split} \Pi = \left( \begin{array}{c|c} A_1 & B_1 \\ \hline C_1 & b_0 & C_2 \\ \hline B_2 & A_2 \end{array} \right) = \left( \begin{array}{c|c} A_1 & B_1 \\ \hline C_1 & b_1 \\ \hline \end{array} \right) + \left( \begin{array}{c|c} \hline b_2 & C_2 \\ \hline B_2 & A_2 \end{array} \right) - \left( \begin{array}{c|c} \hline 1 \\ \hline \end{array} \right) \\ = \left( \begin{array}{c|c} \Pi^{[1]} \\ \hline \end{array} \right) + \left( \begin{array}{c|c} \hline \Pi^{[2]} \\ \hline \end{array} \right) - \left( \begin{array}{c|c} \hline 1 \\ \hline \end{array} \right) , \quad b_1 = 1 - q_1, \quad b_2 = 1 - q_2 \end{split}$$

As the previous relation shows, up to a trivial -1 term acting on the state 0, the evolution matrix  $\Pi$  decomposes into a sum overlapping stochastic matrices  $\Pi^{[i]}$  on  $\mathscr{S}_i = \Omega_i \cup \{0\}$ , with 0 as overlapping sate. In other words, the RW essentially decomposes into a couple of smaller ones which diagrammatically look like



Therefore, as a consequence of Theorems 6.1. (i) and 6.2. (i), the FR-function f of the state 0 with respect to  $\Pi$  decomposes as  $f = f^{[1]} + f^{[2]} - 1$  in terms of similar FR-functions  $f^{[i]}$  for  $\Pi^{[i]}$ . Hence, Theorem 8.3. (i) implies that the return probabilities and expected return times to the state 0 are related by  $\pi(0 \to 0) = \pi^{[1]}(0 \to 0) + \pi^{[2]}(0 \to 0) - 1$  and  $\tau(0 \to 0) = \tau^{[1]}(0 \to 0) + \tau^{[2]}(0 \to 0) - 1$ .

The iteration of these relations leads to the decomposition  $f = f^{[1]} + f^{[2]} + f^{[3]} - 2$  for the FR-function of the state 0 when the RW has the structure



and  $f^{[i]}$  is the FR-function of the state 0 for the RW represented by (84).

In general, if  $\mathscr{S} \setminus \{0\} = \Omega_1 \cup \cdots \cup \Omega_n$  splits into *n* subsets of states,  $\Omega_1, \ldots, \Omega_n$ , without one-step transitions among them, the previous relation among FR-functions generalizes

to  $f = f^{[1]} + \cdots + f^{[n]} - (n-1)$ , hence a similar relation holds for the probabilities and expected return times, namely,  $\pi(0 \to 0) = \pi^{[1]}(0 \to 0) + \cdots + \pi^{[n]}(0 \to 0) - (n-1)$  and  $\tau(0 \to 0) = \tau^{[1]}(0 \to 0) + \cdots + \tau^{[n]}(0 \to 0) - (n-1)$ .

We will illustrate this multiple use of the splitting rules for FR-functions in the case of RW on spider graphs. A simple example of such a RW has a one-step diagram with the shape



As the general case previously discussed shows, the FR-function  $f = f^{[1]} + f^{[2]} + f^{[3]} - 2$  of the state 0 follows from those  $f^{[i]}$  of the smaller RW given by

In the case of a RW on a similar spider graph with n legs, we have the relation  $f = f^{[1]} + \cdots + f^{[n]} - (n-1)$ , where  $f^{[i]}$  is the FR-function of the state 0 for the RW given by (85), which is exactly the kind of birth-death processes studied in the previous example. Therefore, we already know that

$$f^{[i]}(z) = b_i + \frac{q_i}{q} \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 4pqz^2}}{2z}.$$

We find that the FR-function of the central state for the spider RW is independent of the number of legs, as well as from the probabilities  $q_i$  of the transitions starting at such a central state,

$$f(z) = \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 4pqz^2}}{2qz}$$

So this independence also holds for the return probability and the expected return time,

$$\pi(0 \to 0) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } p \ge q, \\ p/q & \text{if } p < q, \end{cases} \qquad \qquad \tau(0 \to 0) = 1 + \frac{1}{p-q} \quad \text{if } p \ge q.$$
*Example* 8.10. Consider now a RW on a set of states  $\mathscr{S} = \Omega_1 \cup \{0, 1, 2, 3\} \cup \Omega_2$  with the following structure of one-step transitions,



where the thick arrows represent all the transitions between the subsets  $\Omega_1, \Omega_2$  and the states 0,3, while  $p, q, p_0, q_3$  are the sums of the corresponding probabilities.

The condition  $p_2 = b_1 + b_2$  guarantees that the related evolution stochastic matrix  $\Pi$  factorizes into a couple of smaller stochastic matrices,  $\Pi_L$  and  $\Pi_R$ , on the subsets  $\mathscr{S}_L = \Omega_1 \cup \{0, 1, 2\}$  and  $\mathscr{S}_R = \{1, 2, 3\} \cup \Omega_2$  respectively,



where I denotes an identity matrix of appropriate size for each factor. The left and right RW given by  $\Pi_L$  and  $\Pi_R$  are represented diagrammatically by



Since the left and right RW overlap on the set of states  $\Omega = \{1, 2\}$ , the factorization of  $\Pi$  translates into a factorization  $f = f_L f_R$  for the FR-function of  $\Omega$  with respect to  $\Pi$  in terms of similar FR-functions  $f_L$ ,  $f_R$  for  $\Pi_L$ ,  $\Pi_R$ .

Let us apply this result to a non-trivial perturbation of a birth-death process on the integers  $\mathscr{S} = \mathbb{Z}$  given by



According to the previous general result, this RW factorizes into the following left and right birth-death processes on a semi-infinite chain,



The FR-function of the subset  $\Omega = \{1, 2\}$  with respect to these birth-death processes follows from a slight generalization of the final results in Example 8.8, which yields

$$f_L(z) = \begin{pmatrix} q & p \\ q & g(z) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad f_R(z) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & g(z)/q \end{pmatrix}, \qquad g(z) = \frac{1 - \sqrt{4pqz^2}}{2z}.$$

The function  $f_L$  is naturally given for the ordered set  $\{2,1\}$ . Changing the order of the states to  $\{1,2\}$  we find that

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} g(z) & q \\ p & q \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & g(z)/q \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} g(z) + q & 2g(z) \\ 1 & g(z) + p \end{pmatrix}.$$

Summing the rows of

$$f(1) = \begin{pmatrix} \min\{q, \frac{1}{2}\} & \min\{p, q\} \\ \frac{1}{2} & \min\{p, \frac{1}{2}\} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \lim_{x \uparrow 1} (xf(x))' = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2pq}{|p-q|} + q & \frac{4pq}{|p-q|} \\ 1 & \frac{2pq}{|p-q|} + p \end{pmatrix},$$

we obtain the following return probabilities and expected return times to  $\Omega = \{1, 2\},\$ 

$$\pi(1 \to \Omega) = \begin{cases} 2q, & \pi(2 \to \Omega) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } p \ge q, \\ p + \frac{1}{2}, & \text{if } p < q. \end{cases}$$
$$\tau(2 \to \Omega) = \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 + \frac{p}{p - q} \right) & \text{if } p \ge q. \end{cases}$$

Hence, the states 1 and 2 are  $\Omega$ -recurrent for p = q = 1/2 and  $p \ge q$  respectively, but the return to  $\Omega$  happens in a finite expected time only for the state 2 when p > q.

# 9. Applications to quantum walks: QW recurrence

We will move now to the more novel subject of QW. Born in the early ninetees as the quantum analogue of RW [1], the interest in QW has been continuously increasing due to their role in quantum information processing. In particular, QW are central for the design of quantum algorithms of up to exponential speed ups over classical ones [7, 26, 42, 43]. This has triggered and intense research activity around QW from the experimental and theoretical points of view.

Concerning return properties of QW, several different notions of recurrence have been recently introduced [15, 18, 37, 71–73]. A key difference with respect to their classical analogue, the RW, is that the quantum collapse due to the measurement necessary to define first time returns alters the natural evolution of a QW, and therefore different schemes have been introduced to deal with such a situation. We will follow here a monitoring approach, first presented in [37] (see also [15,18]), in which the collapse is taken as a natural ingredient of quantum recurrence, which is in the spirit of Quantum Mechanics and the prominent role of measurements in its postulates. Fortunately, despite the conceptual differences between recurrence for RW and QW, the quantum collapse due to a measurement is mathematically represented by the action of a projection, so that in the end both, classical and quantum recurrence, are controlled by a similar object, an FR-function, but defined in different contexts.

QW are discrete time quantum models. As in any quantum system, the states of a QW are the rays of a complex Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}$ , i.e. its one-dimensional subspaces span $\{\psi\}$ , which for convenience are identified with any of their normalized generator vectors  $\psi \in \mathscr{H}$ ,  $\|\psi\| = 1$ . The corresponding discrete time quantum evolution is given by a unitary operator

 $U: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ , so that  $|\langle \phi | U^n \psi \rangle|^2$  is the *n*-th step probability transition  $\psi \to \phi$ . The complex quantity  $\langle \phi | U^n \psi \rangle$  is called the amplitude of such a transition.

The probability of obtaining a state in a closed subspace  $\mathcal{H}_0 \subset \mathcal{H}$  after a measurement at a state  $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$  is controlled by the orthogonal projection P of  $\mathcal{H}$  onto  $\mathcal{H}_0$ . Such a probability is given by  $\|P\psi\|^2$ , and after a positive outcome of the measurement –i.e. finding the system in the subspace  $\mathcal{H}_0$ – the system collapses to the state  $P\psi/\|P\psi\|$ .

Suppose that we are interested in the probability of returning to  $\mathscr{H}_0$  when starting at  $\psi \in \mathscr{H}_0$ . In the case of first time returns, a measurement must be performed after each step to know if the system has returned to  $\mathscr{H}_0$  or not. Then, the application of the projection P after each step conditions on the event 'return to  $\mathscr{H}_0$ ', while the application of the complementary projection Q = 1 - P conditions on the event 'no return to  $\mathscr{H}_0$ '.

The above remarks are key in the monitoring approach to recurrence because then the total return probability is obtained as a sum of first time return probabilities. Actually, the projections involved in the first time returns are central ingredients in the explicit expressions for each of the following precise notions about QW recurrence.

**Definition 9.1.** Given a closed subspace  $\mathcal{H}_0 \subset \mathcal{H}$ , we define the following notions for a QW on the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ :

 $\pi(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0)$  = probability of returning to  $\mathscr{H}_0$  when starting at the state  $\psi \in \mathscr{H}_0$ .

- $\pi(\psi \xrightarrow{\mathscr{H}_0} \phi) = \text{probability of landing on the state } \phi \in \mathscr{H}_0 \text{ when returning to } \mathscr{H}_0 \text{ starting at the state } \psi \in \mathscr{H}_0.$
- $\pi_n(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = \text{probability of returning for the first time in } n \text{ steps to } \mathscr{H}_0 \text{ when starting at the state } \psi \in \mathscr{H}_0.$
- $\pi_n(\psi \xrightarrow{\mathscr{H}_0} \phi) = \text{probability of landing on the state } \phi \in \mathscr{H}_0 \text{ when returning for the first}$ time in *n* steps to  $\mathscr{H}_0$  starting at the state  $\psi \in \mathscr{H}_0$ .

 $\tau(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) =$ expected return time to  $\mathscr{H}_0$  when starting at the state  $\psi \in \mathscr{H}_0$ .

When  $\mathscr{H}_0 = \operatorname{span}\{\psi\}$  we write  $\pi(\psi \to \psi)$ ,  $\pi_n(\psi \to \psi)$  and  $\tau(\psi \to \psi)$  for the corresponding quantities.

These quantities are closely related to the FR-function f of the projection P with respect to the unitary step U, given by

$$f(z) = PU(1 - zQU)^{-1}P = \sum_{n \ge 1} z^{n-1}a_n, \qquad a_n = PU(QU)^{n-1}P, \qquad z \in \mathbb{D},$$

which is indeed a Schur function with values in operators on the Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}_0$ , as noticed in [15,37]. According to the rules discussed above, we have the following explicit

expressions,

$$\begin{aligned} \pi_n(\psi \xrightarrow{\mathscr{H}_0} \phi) &= |\langle \phi | U(QU)^{n-1} \psi \rangle|^2 = |\langle \phi | a_n \psi \rangle|^2, \\ \pi_n(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) &= \|PU(QU)^{n-1} \psi\|^2 = \|a_n \psi\|^2, \\ \pi(\psi \xrightarrow{\mathscr{H}_0} \phi) &= \sum_{n \ge 1} \pi_n(\psi \xrightarrow{\mathscr{H}_0} \phi) = \sum_{n \ge 1} |\langle \phi | a_n \psi \rangle|^2 = \int_0^{2\pi} |\langle \phi | f(e^{i\theta}) \psi \rangle|^2 \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} \\ \pi(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) &= \sum_{n \ge 1} \pi_n(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \|a_n \psi\|^2 = \int_0^{2\pi} \|f(e^{i\theta}) \psi\|^2 \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}, \\ \tau(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) &= \begin{cases} \infty, & \text{if } \pi(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) < 1, \\ \sum_{n \ge 1} n \pi_n(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = \sum_{n \ge 1} n \|a_n \psi\|^2, & \text{if } \pi(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = 1, \\ f(e^{i\theta}) &\coloneqq \lim_{r \uparrow 1} f(re^{i\theta}), & r \in [0, 1), & \theta \in [0, 2\pi). \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

Just as in the case of RW, the inequality  $\sum_{n\geq 1} ||a_n\psi||^2 \leq 1$  requires a proof which can be found in [15].

The expected return time for the case  $\pi(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = 1$  also has the integral representation

$$\tau(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = \lim_{r \uparrow 1} \int_0^{2\pi} \langle a(re^{i\theta})\psi | \partial_\theta a(re^{i\theta})\psi \rangle \frac{d\theta}{2\pi i}, \qquad a(z) = zf(z) = \sum_{n \ge 1} z^n a_n,$$

which in terms of the original Schur function f reads as

$$\tau(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = 1 + \lim_{r \uparrow 1} \int_0^{2\pi} \langle \psi | f(re^{i\theta})^{\dagger} \partial_{\theta} f(re^{i\theta}) \psi \rangle \frac{d\theta}{2\pi i}.$$

Some readers will see here a connection with Berry's phase, see for instance [15].

The radial boundary values  $f(e^{i\theta})$  of a Schur function exist a.e. on the unit circle [57, Chapter 11], but this is not necessarily true for its derivative  $\partial_{\theta} f(re^{i\theta})$ . This is the reason for expressing the integral representation of the expected return time with the limit  $r \uparrow 1$  outside the integral.

While the FR-function f is the generating function of the first return amplitudes  $a_n$ , the Stieltjes function

$$s(z) = P(1 - zU)^{-1}P = \sum_{n \ge 0} z^n P U^n P, \qquad z \in \mathbb{D},$$

is the generating function of the return amplitudes without monitoring. The specialization of the generalized renewal equation (26) to unitary operators gives the renewal equation for QW, first obtained in [15,37].

Regarding the splitting rules for QW recurrence, since products preserve the unitarity, such splitting rules take the form of factorizations of Schur functions due to overlapping factorizations of the corresponding unitary operator U,

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} U_L \\ \hline & 1_+ \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1_- \\ \hline & U_R \end{pmatrix}.$$

,

In contrast to the case of RW, the factorization of Schur functions does not give a simple relation among the return probabilities for the whole QW and the left/right ones. Nevertheless, some of the results of Theorem 8.3 and Corollary 8.4 have a quantum analogue.

**Theorem 9.2** (splitting rules for QW recurrence). Let  $\mathscr{H} = \mathscr{H}_{-} \oplus \mathscr{H}_{0} \oplus \mathscr{H}_{+}$  be an orthogonal decomposition of a Hilbert space and  $U_L$ ,  $U_R$  unitary operators on  $\mathscr{H}_L = \mathscr{H}_{-} \oplus \mathscr{H}_{0}$ ,  $\mathscr{H}_R = \mathscr{H}_{0} \oplus \mathscr{H}_{+}$  respectively. Consider the QW given by  $U = (U_L \oplus 1_+)(1_- \oplus U_R)$ , where  $1_{\pm}$  stands for the identity on  $\mathscr{H}_{\pm}$ . Then, using the subscript L, R to distinguish the quantities related to the QW given by  $U_{L,R}$ , for any state  $\psi \in \mathscr{H}_{0}$ ,

$$\pi_L(\phi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = \pi_R(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = 1 \quad \forall \phi \in \mathscr{H}_0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \pi(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \pi_R(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = 1.$$
  
In particular, if  $\mathscr{H}_0 = \operatorname{span}\{\psi\}$ ,

$$\pi(\psi \to \psi) = 1 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \pi_L(\psi \to \psi) = \pi_R(\psi \to \psi) = 1.$$

*Proof.* From Theorem 6.1.(*ii*) we know that the FR-function of  $\mathscr{H}_0$  with respect to U is given by  $f = f_L f_R$ , where  $f_{L,R}$  is the FR-function of  $\mathscr{H}_0$  with respect to  $U_{L,R}$ . Hence, since  $f_L$  is a Schur function,

$$\pi(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = \int_0^{2\pi} \|f_L(e^{i\theta})f_R(e^{i\theta})\psi\|^2 \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} \le \int_0^{2\pi} \|f_R(e^{i\theta})\psi\|^2 \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} = \pi_R(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0).$$

On the other hand,  $\pi_L(\phi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = 1$  means that  $||f_L(e^{i\theta})\phi|| = 1$  a.e. on the unit circle. Hence,  $\mathscr{H}_0$  is recurrent with respect to the left QW iff the boundary values of  $f_L$  satisfy  $f_L(e^{i\theta})^{\dagger}f_L(e^{i\theta}) = 1_0$  a.e. on the unit circle. In this case,

$$\pi(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = \int_0^{2\pi} \langle f_R(e^{i\theta})\psi | f_L(e^{i\theta})^{\dagger} f_L(e^{i\theta}) f_R(e^{i\theta})\psi \rangle \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} = \pi_R(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0),$$

so that  $\pi(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0)$  and  $\pi_R(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0)$  are equal to one simultaneously.

Besides, if  $\mathscr{H}_0 = \operatorname{span}\{\psi\}$ , then

$$\pi(\psi \to \psi) = \int_0^{2\pi} |f_L(e^{i\theta}) f_R(e^{i\theta})|^2 \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}.$$

Therefore,  $\pi(\psi \to \psi) = 1$  is equivalent to stating that  $|f_L(e^{i\theta})| = |f_R(e^{i\theta})| = 1$  a.e. on the unit circle, which means that  $\pi_L(\psi \to \psi) = \pi_R(\psi \to \psi) = 1$ .

The following recurrence notions, similar to those already defined for RW, can be introduced for QW.

**Definition 9.3.** Given a state  $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$  and a closed subspace  $\mathcal{H}_0 \subset \mathcal{H}$ , we define the following notions for a QW on  $\mathcal{H}$ :

The state  $\psi \in \mathscr{H}$  is recurrent if  $\pi(\psi \to \psi) = 1$ .

The state  $\psi \in \mathscr{H}_0$  is  $\mathscr{H}_0$ -recurrent if  $\pi(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = 1$ .

The subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{H}$  is recurrent if all its states are  $\mathscr{H}_0$ -recurrent.

With this terminology, the same arguments as those given in the proof of Theorem 9.2 lead directly to the following results, which constitute the quantum version of Corollary 8.6. These results state that, given an overlapping factorization of a QW, its return probabilities

to the overlapping subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0$  do not depend on the details of certain subsystems for which  $\mathscr{H}_0$  is recurrent.

**Corollary 9.4.** With the same notation as in Theorem 9.2, the return probabilities to  $\mathcal{H}_0$  for the QW given by  $U = (U_L \oplus 1_+)(1_- \oplus U_R)$  are independent of the left subsystem whenever the subspace  $\mathcal{H}_0$  is recurrent for such a subsystem. More precisely,

 $\pi_L(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = 1 \quad \forall \psi \in \mathscr{H}_0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \pi(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = \pi_R(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) \quad \forall \psi \in \mathscr{H}_0.$ 

If  $\mathscr{H}_0 = \operatorname{span}\{\psi\}$ , a similar independence with respect to the right subsystem holds, i.e.

$$\pi_R(\psi \to \psi) = 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \pi(\psi \to \psi) = \pi_L(\psi \to \psi).$$

Hence, the return probability of the overlapping state  $\psi$  is independent of any of the left/right subsystems for which  $\psi$  is recurrent.

As it is proved in [15], a finite-dimensional subspace is recurrent for a QW iff it is included in the singular subspace of the related unitary evolution operator. In particular, every subspace is recurrent for a QW on a finite-dimensional Hilbert space because this situation gives only pure point spectrum. Hence, Corollary 9.4 has the following consequence.

**Corollary 9.5.** With the same notation as in Theorem 9.2, the return probabilities to  $\mathscr{H}_0$  for the QW given by  $U = (U_L \oplus 1_+)(1_- \oplus U_R)$  are independent of the left subsystem whenever  $\mathscr{H}_L$  is finite-dimensional. More precisely,

$$\dim \mathscr{H}_L < \infty \quad \Rightarrow \quad \pi(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) = \pi_R(\psi \to \mathscr{H}_0) \quad \forall \psi \in \mathscr{H}_0.$$

If  $\mathscr{H}_0 = \operatorname{span}\{\psi\}$ , a similar independence with respect to the right subsystem holds, i.e.

$$\dim \mathscr{H}_R < \infty \quad \Rightarrow \quad \pi(\psi \to \psi) = \pi_L(\psi \to \psi).$$

Hence, the return probability of the overlapping state  $\psi$  is independent of any of the left/right subsystems whose underlying Hilbert space is finite-dimensional.

A key result of [25] states that, if either dim  $\mathscr{H}_L < \infty$  or dim  $\mathscr{H}_R < \infty$ , the existence of an overlapping factorization  $U = (U_L \oplus 1_+)(1_- \oplus U_R)$  is characterized by the simple condition  $P_+UP_- = 0$ , where  $P_{\pm}$  is the orthogonal projection of  $\mathscr{H}$  onto  $\mathscr{H}_{\pm}$ . This means that, if at least one the subspaces  $\mathscr{H}_L$ ,  $\mathscr{H}_R$  is finite-dimensional, the existence of splitting rules for the recurrence of a QW on  $\mathscr{H} = \mathscr{H}_- \oplus \mathscr{H}_0 \oplus \mathscr{H}_+$  is easily determined by checking the absence of one-step transition from  $\mathscr{H}_-$  to  $\mathscr{H}_+$ , a situation represented pictorically by the following diagram of one-step transitions,



Explicit examples of the generating function approach to QW recurrence appear in [15,20,37]. Additional aspects of the splitting techniques for unitary operators are discussed in [25], where one can find concrete examples of these splittings, including the case of CMV matrices, which provide the general form of a one-dimensional coined QW [18,20].

## 10. Applications to open quantum walks: OQW recurrence

We have seen that the notion of FR-function has an important role to play in the study of return properties of RW and QW. To emphasize the wide applicability of the machinery developed in this paper, we indicate now very briefly that this notion is also useful in the context of a much newer topic, namely the open QW (OQW) introduced in [9] as a kind of iterated quantum channels. A careful discussion of the use of FR-functions for the analysis of recurrence in OQW and general iterated quantum channels will be the purpose of a joint effort with Carlos Lardizabal and Albert Werner. For details on OQW the reader may consult the original reference [9] as well as some of the contributions fostered by that one, see for instance [10, 22-24, 47, 48, 64, 66-70]. In particular, [24, 47, 70]deal with recurrence problems in OQW and iterated quantum channels. Quick guides to general quantum channels are [14, 76] and [8, Lectures 5 and 6] for the finite- and infinitedimensional settings respectively.

OQW model QW in interaction with the environment. Every step of an OQW is a particular case of the so called quantum channels which, instead of the pure quantum states of a closed quantum system, represented by unit vectors of a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ , deal with mixed quantum states, i.e. statistical ensembles of pure quantum states. A mixture of pure states  $\psi_i \in \mathcal{H}$  with probability distribution  $p_i$  is represented by the so called density operator

$$\rho = \sum_{i} p_i |\psi_i\rangle \langle \psi_i|, \qquad \psi_i \in \mathscr{H}, \qquad p_i \ge 0, \qquad \sum_{i} p_i = 1,$$

so that pure states  $\psi$  correspond to rank one orthogonal projections  $\rho = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$ . Density operators can be characterized as the non-negative definite operators on  $\mathscr{H}$  with trace one. The connection with open quantum systems comes from another characterization: the density operators coincide with those obtained from a pure state  $\Psi$  in a dilated Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H} \otimes \mathscr{H}_e$  by taking the partial trace of  $|\Psi\rangle\langle\Psi|$  over  $\mathscr{H}_e$  (see [14,76] and [8, Lecture 5]). This allows us to treat an open system –with Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}$ – coupled to an environment –with Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}_e$ – using only objects built out of the initial open system.

The mixed quantum states are the non-negative operators of the unit sphere in the Banach space  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H})$  of trace class operators on  $\mathscr{H}$ . A quantum channel must preserves such states, hence it is given by a trace preserving (TP) linear map  $\mathbb{T}:\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H}) \to \mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H})$  which is positive, i.e. mapping non-negative operators into non-negative operators. Actually, this should be the case even considering the system as a part of any dilated one  $\mathscr{H} \otimes \mathscr{H}_e$ , so  $\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathbb{1}_e$  must be positive for the identity on any  $\mathscr{H}_e$ , which is abbreviated by saying that  $\mathbb{T}$  must be completely positive (CP). CPTP maps can be equivalently described as the result of a unitary evolution on a dilated Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H} \otimes \mathscr{H}_e$  when reduced to  $\mathscr{H}$ by taking the partial trace over  $\mathscr{H}_e$  (see [14, 76] and [8, Lecture 6]). This corresponds to the evolution of an open quantum system with Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}$  under the influence of an environment with Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}_e$ . It can be shown that CP maps have the general form  $\mathbb{T}\rho = \sum_j K_j \rho K_j^{\dagger}$  with  $K_j$  bounded operators on  $\mathscr{H}$ , and then the trace preserving condition means that  $\sum_j \operatorname{Tr}(K_j^{\dagger}K_j) = 1$  in the strong sense (see [14, 76] and [8, Lecture 6]). The additional condition  $\mathbb{T}(1) = \sum_j \operatorname{Tr}(K_j K_j^{\dagger}) = 1$  defines the so called unital CPTP maps, an example of which are the transformations  $\mathbb{T}\rho = U\rho U^{\dagger}$  induced by unitary operators U.

Regarding the measurement problem in the density operator formalism, the probability of finding a state in a closed subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{H}$  after a measurement at a mixed quantum state represented by a density operator  $\rho$  is given by  $\operatorname{Tr}(P\rho)$ , where P stands for the orthogonal projection of  $\mathscr{H}$  onto  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . After a positive outcome of such a measurement the system collapses to the mixed state given by the new density operator  $P\rho P/\operatorname{Tr}(\rho P)$ .

OQW appear by iterating certain kind of quantum channels [9], thus their dynamics is given by the powers of a CPTP map  $\mathbb{T}$ . Actually, although for illustration we will use examples of OQW, the FR-function approach to recurrence in OQW presented below holds in general for iterated quantum channels. Bearing in mind the previous comments, the translation to OQW of the monitoring process to define return properties of a closed subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0$  in a QW amounts to the following substitutions:

		QW	OQW	
Evolution		$\psi \to U\psi$	$\rho \to \mathbb{T}\rho$	
Moscuromont	Return	$\psi \to P \psi$	$\rho \to \mathbb{P}\rho \coloneqq P\rho P$	$P = \underset{\text{of }}{\operatorname{orthogonal}} \underset{\mathcal{M}_0}{\operatorname{projection}}$
Measurement	No return	$\psi \to Q \psi$	$\rho \to \mathbb{Q}\rho \coloneqq Q\rho Q$	Q = 1 - P

The operators  $\mathbb{P}T := PTP$  and  $\mathbb{Q}T := QTQ$  define projections of  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H})$  onto  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H}_0)$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H}_0^{\perp})$  respectively, understood as subspaces of  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H})$ . Therefore,  $\mathbb{P} + \mathbb{Q} \neq 1$  because  $\mathbb{R} := 1 - \mathbb{P} - \mathbb{Q}$  is given by

$$\mathbb{R}T = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & PTQ \\ QTP & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and defines a projection of  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H})$  onto the subspace of operators mapping  $\mathscr{H}_0$  on  $\mathscr{H}_0^{\perp}$ and viceversa. Hence,  $\mathbb{P}$  and  $\mathbb{Q}$  are not complementary projections, although  $\mathbb{P}\mathbb{Q} = \mathbb{Q}\mathbb{P} = 0$ . Besides, for every  $T \in \mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H})$  we have that  $\|\mathbb{P}T\|_1 \leq \|P\|^2 \|T\|_1 = \|T\|_1$ , where  $\|\cdot\|$  and  $\|\cdot\|_1$ stand for the operator and trace norm respectively. Hence, the operator norm of these projections with respect to the trace norm in  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H})$  is  $\|\mathbb{P}\| = \|\mathbb{Q}\| = 1$ . We will refer to  $\mathbb{P}$  as the projection on  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H})$  induced by the orthogonal projection P on  $\mathscr{H}$ , and analogously for  $\mathbb{Q}$ .

The corresponding recurrence notions for OQW are related to FR-functions too, but for operators on the Banach space  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H})$  rather than on the Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}$ . The generating function which encodes the return properties of the closed subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0$  is the function with values in operators on  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H}_0)$  given by

$$\mathbb{F}(z) = \mathbb{PT}(1 - z\mathbb{QT})^{-1}\mathbb{P} = \sum_{n \ge 1} z^{n-1}\mathbb{A}_n, \qquad \mathbb{A}_n = \mathbb{PT}(\mathbb{QT})^{n-1}\mathbb{P}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{D},$$
(86)

which is analytic and bounded for every  $z \in \mathbb{D}$  because  $||\mathbb{QT}|| \leq 1$  since  $||\mathbb{T}|| = 1$  for every CPTP map  $\mathbb{T}$  on  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H})$  [22]. The expression (86) does not define a strict FR-function because  $\mathbb{Q} \neq 1 - \mathbb{P}$ . Nevertheless,  $\mathbb{F}$  is the result of projecting a true FR-function, namely the FR-function f of the projection  $1 - \mathbb{Q}$  with respect to the operator  $\mathbb{T}$ ,

$$\mathbb{F}(z) = \mathbb{P}f(z)\mathbb{P}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{D},$$
  
$$f(z) = (1 - \mathbb{Q})\mathbb{T}(1 - z\mathbb{Q}\mathbb{T})^{-1}(1 - \mathbb{Q}) = \sum_{n \ge 1} z^{n-1}a_n, \quad a_n = (1 - \mathbb{Q})\mathbb{T}(\mathbb{Q}\mathbb{T})^{n-1}(1 - \mathbb{Q}).$$
<sup>(87)</sup>

By a slight abuse of language, we will also refer to f as the FR-function of  $\mathscr{H}_0$  with respect to  $\mathbb{T}$ , while  $\mathbb{F}$  will be called the corresponding reduced FR-function.

We will use an obvious adaptation of the notation and terminology for QW recurrence to the case of OQW. Then, the following relations summarize the connections between the reduced FR-function (86) and the return properties of the closed subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0$  in an OQW driven by T. In these relations we assume that  $\rho$  is a density operator in  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H}_0)$ –understood as a subspace of  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H})$ – and  $\psi$  is a pure state in  $\mathscr{H}_0$ .

$$\pi_{n}(\rho \xrightarrow{\mathscr{M}_{0}} \psi) = \operatorname{Tr}(|\psi\rangle \langle \psi | \mathbb{T}(\mathbb{QT})^{n-1}\rho) = \langle \psi | \mathbb{A}_{n}\rho\psi \rangle, \qquad \mathbb{A}_{n} = \mathbb{PT}(\mathbb{QT})^{n-1}\mathbb{P}, \\ \pi_{n}(\rho \to \mathscr{H}_{0}) = \operatorname{Tr}(\mathbb{PT}(\mathbb{QT})^{n-1}\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}(\mathbb{A}_{n}\rho), \qquad \mathbb{A}_{n} = \mathbb{PT}(\mathbb{QT})^{n-1}\mathbb{P}, \\ \pi(\rho \to \mathscr{H}_{0}) = \sum_{n\geq 1} \pi_{n}(\rho \xrightarrow{\mathscr{H}_{0}} \psi) = \operatorname{Tr}(\mathbb{A}_{n}\rho), \qquad \mathbb{I}_{x\uparrow 1} \langle \psi | \mathbb{F}(x)\rho\psi \rangle, \\ \pi(\rho \to \mathscr{H}_{0}) = \sum_{n\geq 1} \pi_{n}(\rho \to \mathscr{H}_{0}) = \sum_{n\geq 1} \operatorname{Tr}(\mathbb{A}_{n}\rho) = \lim_{x\uparrow 1} \operatorname{Tr}(\mathbb{F}(x)\rho), \qquad \text{if } \pi(\rho \to \mathscr{H}_{0}) < 1, \\ \tau(\rho \to \mathscr{H}_{0}) = \begin{cases} \infty, & \text{if } \pi(\rho \to \mathscr{H}_{0}) < 1, \\ \sum_{n\geq 1} n\pi_{n}(\rho \to \mathscr{H}_{0}) = \lim_{x\uparrow 1} \frac{d}{dx} x \operatorname{Tr}(\mathbb{F}(x)\rho) \\ = 1 + \lim_{x\uparrow 1} \frac{d}{dx} \operatorname{Tr}(\mathbb{F}(x)\rho), & \text{if } \pi(\rho \to \mathscr{H}_{0}) = 1. \end{cases}$$

The similarity among the above relations and the analogous ones for RW is remarkable. As it was shown in Sections 8 and 9, while the recurrence properties of RW are controled by the behaviour of the related Banach FR-functions around the single point 1, QW recurrence depends on the values of the corresponding Hilbert FR-functions on the whole unit circle. Nevertheless, as in the RW case, the recurrence properties of OQW are codified by the values of the related Banach FR-functions around 1. This does not mean that RW and OQW recurrence must be similar. Actually, unitary QW can be formulated as iterated quantum channels, hence the above Banach FR-function approach may be used to describe their recurrence properties, which are surprisingly different from those of RW, as shown in [15,37]. Maybe the only useful conclusion to draw is that the density operator formalism places the generating function approach to quantum recurrence formally closer to that of classical recurrence.

The FR-function f given in (87) is not only different from the reduced one  $\mathbb{F}$ , but has values in a larger subspace of  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ , namely the range of the projection

$$(1-\mathbb{Q})T = \begin{pmatrix} PTP & PTQ \\ QTP & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

which is the subspace of operators mapping  $\mathscr{H}_0^{\perp}$  on  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . Nevertheless, all the previous relations which express return probabilities and expected return times in terms of  $\mathbb{F}$  and its Taylor coefficients  $\mathbb{A}_n$  remain valid when substituting them by the FR-function f and its Taylor coefficients  $a_n$  respectively. The reason for this is that such relations always involve either inner products  $\langle \psi | \mathbb{A}_n \rho \psi \rangle$  or traces  $\operatorname{Tr}(\mathbb{A}_n \rho)$ , where  $\rho \in \mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H}_0)$  and  $\psi \in \mathscr{H}_0$ . Since  $1 - \mathbb{Q} = \mathbb{P} + \mathbb{R}$  with  $\mathbb{R}\rho = P\rho Q + Q\rho P$  projecting onto operators mapping  $\mathscr{H}_0$  on  $\mathscr{H}_0^{\perp}$ and viceversa, we find that  $\langle \psi | a_n \rho \psi \rangle = \langle \psi | \mathbb{A}_n \rho \psi \rangle$  and  $\operatorname{Tr}(a_n \rho) = \operatorname{Tr}(\mathbb{A}_n \rho)$ .

The reduced FR-function  $\mathbb{F}$  is more convenient for practical calculations, like those shown in the examples below. However, the true FR-function f becomes a key tool for theoretical discussions since it allows one to take advantage of the machinery developed for FR-functions. For instance, the generalized renewal equation (26) relates the FR-function f, generating function of the first return operators  $a_n$ , and the generating function of the return operators without monitoring given by the Stieltjes function

$$s(z) = (1 - \mathbb{Q})(1 - z\mathbb{T})^{-1}(1 - \mathbb{Q}) = \sum_{n \ge 0} z^n (1 - \mathbb{Q})\mathbb{T}^n (1 - \mathbb{Q}), \qquad z \in \mathbb{D}.$$
 (88)

Such a relation can be considered as the renewal equation for OQW. An analogue of this renewal equation for the reduced FR-function  $\mathbb{F}$  should state that the Stieltjes function

$$\mathbb{S}(z) = \mathbb{P}(1 - z\mathbb{T})^{-1}\mathbb{P}$$
(89)

and  $\mathbb{1}_0 - z\mathbb{F}(z)$  are inverses of each other for  $z \in \mathbb{D}$ , where  $\mathbb{1}_0$  stands for the identity on  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H}_0)$ . However, this relation is not true because  $\mathbb{F}$  is not an FR-function. Furthermore, the splitting rules of Theorem 6.1 apply directly to f since it is an FR-function. We will illustrate all this in the examples below, but a detailed discussion of the corresponding splitting rules for OQW and general iterated quantum channels will be explored in our joint collaboration with C. Lardizabal and A. H. Werner.

Analogously to the case of RW and QW, we should prove that  $\sum_{n\geq 1} \operatorname{Tr}(a_n \rho) \leq 1$  for every density operator  $\rho$  in  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H}_0)$ . This is a direct consequence of the following result.

**Proposition 10.1.** Let P be the orthogonal projection of a Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}$  onto a closed subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0$ , and  $\mathbb{Q}T = QTQ$  the projection on  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H})$  induced by Q = 1 - P. Then, the Taylor coefficients  $a_n = (1 - \mathbb{Q})\mathbb{T}(\mathbb{Q}\mathbb{T})^{n-1}(1 - \mathbb{Q})$  of the FR-function f for the projection  $1 - \mathbb{Q}$  with respect to a CPTP map  $\mathbb{T}$  on  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H})$  satisfy

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} \operatorname{Tr}(a_n T) \leq \operatorname{Tr} T, \qquad T \in \mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H}_0), \qquad T \geq 0.$$

*Proof.* Using the decomposition

$$\mathbb{T}(\mathbb{QT})^{n-1} = a_n + (\mathbb{QT})^n,$$

and the fact that  $\mathbb{T}$  is trace preserving we get

$$\operatorname{Tr}(a_n T) = \operatorname{Tr}((\mathbb{QT})^{n-1}) - \operatorname{Tr}((\mathbb{QT})^n).$$

Hence,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} \operatorname{Tr}(a_{n}T) = \operatorname{Tr}(T) - \operatorname{Tr}((\mathbb{QT})^{N}T), \qquad T \in \mathfrak{B}_{1}(\mathscr{H}).$$

If  $T \ge 0$ , the above equality proves that  $\sum_{n=1}^{N} \operatorname{Tr}(a_n T) \le \operatorname{Tr}(T)$  because  $\operatorname{Tr}((\mathbb{QT})^N T) \ge 0$ since  $\mathbb{Q}$  and  $\mathbb{T}$  are positive maps. On the other hand, if  $\mathbb{P}$  is the projection on  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H})$ induced by P, then  $\mathbb{A}_n = \mathbb{P}a_n\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{PT}(\mathbb{QT})^{n-1}\mathbb{P}$  is also a positive map such that  $\operatorname{Tr}(a_n T) =$  $\operatorname{Tr}(\mathbb{A}_n T)$  whenever  $T \in \mathfrak{B}_1(\mathscr{H}_0)$ , hence  $\sum_{n\ge 1} \operatorname{Tr}(a_n T)$  is a series of non-negative terms for  $T \ge 0$ , which therefore converges to a sum bounded by  $\operatorname{Tr} T$ .

10.1. **Examples of OQW recurrence.** We illustrate the use of generating functions with a few examples of unital and non-unital OQW, kindly provided to us –together with the corresponding diagrams below– by C. Lardizabal. It is a pleasure to thank him for very useful guidance on the topic of OQW.

In all these examples the underlying Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H} = \mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \operatorname{span}\{|1\rangle, |2\rangle, \dots\}$  is constituted by several copies of  $\mathbb{C}^2$  which describe the internal degrees of freedom at each site  $|i\rangle$  of a network. According to [9], the corresponding OQW evolution of a general density operator  $\rho$  on  $\mathscr{H}$  is given by the following CPTP map

$$\mathbb{T}\rho = \sum_{i,j} M_j^i \rho M_j^{i\dagger}, \qquad M_j^i = B_j^i \otimes |i\rangle \langle j|,$$

where the 2 × 2 complex matrices  $B_j^i$ , which act on the  $\mathbb{C}^2$  factor of  $\mathscr{H}$ , satisfy the trace preserving condition  $\sum_i B_j^{i\dagger} B_j^i = I_2$  for all i, with  $I_2$  the 2 × 2 identity matrix. The unital examples satisfy the additional condition  $\sum_j B_j^i B_j^{i\dagger} = I_2$  for all j. In any case, this kind of evolution makes the density operator 2 × 2-block diagonal after the first step because [9]

$$\mathbb{T}\rho = \sum_{i} \left(\sum_{j} B_{j}^{i} \rho_{j} B_{j}^{i\dagger}\right) \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|, \qquad \rho_{j} \coloneqq \langle j|\rho|j\rangle,$$

so we can suppose without loss of generality that the mixed states have this block diagonal form  $\rho = \sum_{i} \rho_i \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|$ . This means that we will consider  $\mathbb{T}$  as an operator on the trace class subspace of  $\bigoplus_i \mathbb{C}^{2,2} \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|$  rather than on the larger space  $\mathfrak{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ . Concerning the

trace class condition, it will play no role in the following examples because they are all finite-dimensional.

*Example* 10.2. The first example is a unital OQW in a network with two sites. The one-step transitions considered are graphically represented in the following diagram,



where the matrices  $B_i^j$  are given as follows,

$$B_1^1 = B_2^2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_1^2 = B_2^1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

The reduced FR-function  $\mathbb{F}$  for the site  $|1\rangle$  follows from (86) by using the projection  $P = I_2 \otimes |1\rangle \langle 1|$ . This leads to the expression

$$\mathbb{F}(z) = \frac{1}{(z-3)^3} \begin{pmatrix} -(z+3)(z^2-3z+3) & z^3-3z^2+9z-9 & z^3-3z^2+9z-9 & -(4z^2-9z+9) \\ 2z(z^2-3z+3) & -(z+3)(z^2-3z+3) & -z^2(z-1) & z^3-3z^2+9z-9 \\ 2z(z^2-3z+3) & -z^2(z-1) & -(z+3)(z^2-3z+3) & z^3-3z^2+9z-9 \\ -z(3z^2-11z+12) & 2z(z^2-3z+3) & 2z(z^2-3z+3) & -(z+3)(z^2-3z+3) \end{pmatrix},$$

which is understood as a function with values in operators  $\rho = \rho_1 \otimes |1\rangle\langle 1| \mapsto \sigma = \sigma_1 \otimes |1\rangle\langle 1|$  acting as follows,

$$\mathbb{F}(z) \begin{pmatrix} \rho_{11} \\ \rho_{12} \\ \rho_{13} \\ \rho_{14} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{11}(z) \\ \sigma_{12}(z) \\ \sigma_{13}(z) \\ \sigma_{14}(z) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \rho_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \rho_{11} & \rho_{12} \\ \rho_{13} & \rho_{14} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{11} & \sigma_{12} \\ \sigma_{13} & \sigma_{14} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(90)

For instance, starting at the pure state  $\psi = (1,0)^t \otimes |1\rangle$ , which corresponds to the density operator  $\rho = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi| = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \otimes |1\rangle\langle1|$ , we have that

$$\rho_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{11} & \sigma_{12} \\ \sigma_{13} & \sigma_{14} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{11}(z) \\ \sigma_{12}(z) \\ \sigma_{13}(z) \\ \sigma_{14}(z) \end{pmatrix} = \mathbb{F}(z) \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{F}_{11}(z) \\ \mathbb{F}_{21}(z) \\ \mathbb{F}_{31}(z) \\ \mathbb{F}_{41}(z) \end{pmatrix}$$

Therefore, the probability of returning to site  $|1\rangle$  starting at the state  $\psi$  is given by the value at z = 1 of

Tr 
$$\sigma_1(z) = \mathbb{F}_{11}(z) + \mathbb{F}_{41}(z) = -\frac{4z^3 - 11z^2 + 6z + 9}{(z-3)^3}.$$

Hence  $\pi(\rho \to |1\rangle) = 1$ , i.e. the state  $\psi$  is  $|1\rangle$ -recurrent. The corresponding expected return time, obtained by taking the derivative of  $z \operatorname{Tr} \sigma_1(z)$  at z = 1, turns out to be  $\tau(\rho \to |1\rangle) = 2$ . Besides, the *n*-th coefficient of the Taylor expansion of  $z \operatorname{Tr} \sigma_1(z)$  around the origin is the probability of the first return to site  $|1\rangle$  in *n* steps. This leads to the following probabilities for the first values of *n*,

n	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
$\pi_n(\rho \to  1\rangle)$	1/3	5/9	1/27	1/81	5/243	13/729	25/2187

We can also ask about the probability of returning to site  $|1\rangle$  landing on the initial state  $\psi$ . This is given by the value at z = 1 of

$$\sigma_{11}(z) = \mathbb{F}_{11}(z) = -\frac{(z+3)(z^2-3z+3)}{(z-3)^3},$$

which yields  $\pi(\rho \xrightarrow{|1\rangle} \psi) = 1/2$ , while its power expansion provides the *n*-step first return probabilities

n	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
$\pi_n(\rho \xrightarrow{ 1\rangle} \psi)$	1/3	1/9	0	1/81	4/243	1/81	16/2187

The above probabilities should be distinguished from those of just returning to the state  $\psi$  –without any thought being given to returning to site  $|1\rangle$ –, which is calculated from a new reduced FR-function (86) built out of the projection  $P = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi| = \begin{pmatrix}1 & 0\\ 0 & 0\end{pmatrix} \otimes |1\rangle\langle1|$  instead of  $P = I_2 \otimes |1\rangle\langle1|$ . The result is the following generating function of first returns

$$\mathbb{F}(z) = -\frac{z^4 - 2z^3 + 5z^2 - 9z + 9}{z^4 + z^3 - 15z^2 + 36z - 27},\tag{91}$$

whose value at z = 1 gives  $\pi(\rho \to \psi) = 1$ , thus the state  $\psi$  is also recurrent. Evaluating the derivative of  $z\mathbb{F}(z)$  at z = 1 we find the expected return time  $\tau(\rho \to \psi) = 4$ . Also, the Taylor expansion of  $\mathbb{F}(z)$  yields

n	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
$\pi_n(\rho \to \psi)$	1/3	1/9	4/27	2/27	17/243	5/81	113/2187

To clarify the difference between the reduced FR-function  $\mathbb{F}$  and the true FR-function f we will also present the last one for the state  $\psi$ , which is given by (87) with  $\mathbb{Q}$  the projection on  $(\mathbb{C}^{2,2} \otimes |1\rangle\langle 1|) \oplus (\mathbb{C}^{2,2} \otimes |2\rangle\langle 2|)$  defined by  $\mathbb{Q}\rho = (1-P)\rho(1-P)$ , i.e.

 $\mathbb{Q}\rho = \left( \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \rho_1 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \otimes |1\rangle \langle 1| \right) \oplus (\rho_2 \otimes |2\rangle \langle 2|), \qquad \rho = (\rho_1 \otimes |1\rangle \langle 1|) \oplus (\rho_2 \otimes |2\rangle \langle 2|).$ 

Therefore,  $1 - \mathbb{Q}$  is the rank 3 projection

$$(1 - \mathbb{Q})\rho = \begin{pmatrix} \rho_{11} & \rho_{12} \\ \rho_{13} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \otimes |1\rangle\langle 1|, \qquad \rho_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \rho_{11} & \rho_{12} \\ \rho_{13} & \rho_{14} \end{pmatrix}$$

and, according to (87), leads to the following  $3 \times 3$  matrix FR-function

$$f(z) = -\frac{1}{z^4 + z^3 - 15z^2 + 36z - 27} \begin{pmatrix} z^4 - 2z^3 + 5z^2 - 9z + 9 & -(z-1)(z^3 - 3z + 9) & -(z-1)(z^3 - 3z + 9) \\ z(z-1)(z^2 - 6z + 6) & -\frac{(z^2 - 3z + 3)(z^3 - 4z^2 - 3z + 9)}{z - 3} & -\frac{z^2(z^3 - 6z^2 + 13z - 9)}{z - 3} \\ z(z-1)(z^2 - 6z + 6) & -\frac{z^2(z^3 - 6z^2 + 13z - 9)}{z - 3} & -\frac{(z^2 - 3z + 3)(z^3 - 4z^2 - 3z + 9)}{z - 3} \end{pmatrix}$$

The value of f(z) must be understood as the operator  $\rho = \rho_1 \otimes |1\rangle\langle 1| \mapsto \sigma = \sigma_1 \otimes |1\rangle\langle 1|$  on  $\mathscr{R}(1-\mathbb{Q})$  given by

$$f(z)\begin{pmatrix}\rho_{11}\\\rho_{12}\\\rho_{13}\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}\sigma_{11}(z)\\\sigma_{12}(z)\\\sigma_{13}(z)\end{pmatrix}, \qquad \rho_1 = \begin{pmatrix}\rho_{11} & \rho_{12}\\\rho_{13} & 0\end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix}\sigma_{11} & \sigma_{12}\\\sigma_{13} & 0\end{pmatrix},$$

so that  $\mathbb{F} = f_{1,1}$ . A direct calculation shows that the corresponding Stieltjes function (88) has the expression

$$s(z) = \frac{1}{3(z^{2}-3)(2z^{2}-3z+3)} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2z^{5}-8z^{4}+3z^{3}+24z^{2}-45z+27}{z-1} & -z(z^{3}-3z+9) & -z(z^{3}-3z+9) \\ z^{2}(z^{2}-6z+6) & \frac{2z^{5}-12z^{4}+3z^{3}+54z^{2}-108z+81}{2z-3} & -\frac{z^{3}(4z^{2}-15z+15)}{2z-3} \\ z^{2}(z^{2}-6z+6) & -\frac{z^{3}(4z^{2}-15z+15)}{2z-3} & \frac{2z^{5}-12z^{4}+3z^{3}+54z^{2}-108z+81}{2z-3} \end{pmatrix},$$

and is related to the FR-function f by the renewal equation  $s(z) = (I_3 - zf(z))^{-1}$ . However, the Stieltjes function (89), which reads in this case as

$$\mathbb{S}(z) = s(z)_{1,1} = \frac{2z^5 - 8z^4 + 3z^3 + 24z^2 - 45z + 27}{3(z-1)(z^2-3)(2z^2-3z+3)},$$

has no analogous relation with the reduced FR-function  $\mathbb{F}$  in (91) since we have

$$(1 - z\mathbb{F}(z))^{-1} = \frac{z^4 + z^3 - 15z^2 + 36z - 27}{(z - 1)(z^4 + 6z^2 - 18z + 27)}.$$

*Example* 10.3. Unital OQW are the closest ones to unitary QW. For instance, the previous example illustrates a general property of finite-dimensional unital OQW, actually proved in [70] for the general setting of iterated quantum channels and first uncovered for the unitary case in [37]: every state has an integer expected return time which coincides with the dimension of the subspace of the Hilbert space explored by the state, thus it can not be greater than the dimension of the whole Hilbert space. As the next example shows, this does not hold in the non-unital case.

The non-unital example is again an OQW with two sites, but the one-step transition matrices are now as follows,

$$B_{11} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_{12} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_{21} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_{22} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The corresponding reduced FR-function for the pure state  $\psi = (1,0)^t \otimes |1\rangle$  is given by

$$\mathbb{F}(z) = -\frac{3}{z^2 + 2z - 6},$$

and yields return probability 1 but with non-integer expected return time 7/3. The related *n*-step first return probabilities appear in the following table.

n	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
$\pi_n(\rho \to \psi)$	1/2	1/6	5/36	2/27	31/648	55/1944	203/11664

*Example* 10.4. The return properties of OQW with two sites can be tackled with more direct methods since the path counting is not too difficult for them. However, this situation changes dramatically for OQW with three or more sites. As another example we will present an OQW with three sites which will show more clearly the advantages of the generating function approach. This example appeared originally in [23] and its relevance was suggested to us by C. Lardizabal. The corresponding one-step transitions are represented in the following diagram,



where the matrices  $B_i^j$  are chosen as

$$B_1^2 = B_2^3 = B_3^1 = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_1^3 = B_3^2 = B_2^1 = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_1^1 = B_2^2 = B_3^3 = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

For this example we have computed again the reduced FR-function for the pure state  $(1,0)^t \otimes |1\rangle$ , which is explicitly given by

$$\mathbb{F}(z) = -\frac{2z^7 + 7z^6 - 37z^5 - 10z^4 + 112z^3 - 512z^2 + 768z - 512}{z^7 - 13z^6 + 10z^5 + 184z^4 - 1024z^3 + 2560z^2 - 3584z + 2048}$$

This leads to a return probability equal to 1 and an integer expected return time equal to 6, in agreement with the general result in [70]. The corresponding n-step first return probabilities look like

n	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
$\pi_n(\rho \to \psi)$	1/4	1/16	3/64	19/256	87/1024	371/4096	1361/16384

*Example* 10.5. We now tackle the problem of OQW splitting and its impact on the reduced FR-function. We will illustrate this splitting by decomposing a three site OQW into a "sum" of a couple of two site OQW which overlap on a single site. Although CP maps are preserved by sums, this is not the case for trace preserving ones. Hence, the compatibility of trace preservation for the original OQW and the "sumands" will require an extra term for the overlapping site, very much in line with the case of the splitting rules for RW recurrence. It is not noticing that the older result is a very good guide of how to proceed in this new situation.

The alluded three site OQW is an example with nearest neighbour interactions depicted in the following diagram



where

$$A = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad B = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad C = \sqrt{1-\epsilon}B, \quad D = \sqrt{1-\epsilon}A, \quad E = \sqrt{\epsilon}I_2,$$

for some  $\epsilon \in [0, 1]$ . The corresponding CP map

$$\mathbb{T}\rho = (A\rho_1 A^{\dagger} + C\rho_2 C^{\dagger}) \otimes |1\rangle \langle 1| + (B\rho_1 B^{\dagger} + E\rho_2 E^{\dagger} + A\rho_3 A^{\dagger}) \otimes |2\rangle \langle 2| + (D\rho_2 D^{\dagger} + B\rho_3 B^{\dagger}) \otimes |3\rangle \langle 3|$$
  
is trace preserving because  $A^{\dagger}A + B^{\dagger}B = C^{\dagger}C + D^{\dagger}D + E^{\dagger}E = I_0$  although it is unital only

is trace preserving because  $A^{\dagger}A + B^{\dagger}B = C^{\dagger}C + D^{\dagger}D + E^{\dagger}E = I_2$ , although it is unital only for  $\epsilon = 0$ . In the example given here we will take  $\epsilon = 1/2$ .

We proceed to construct two OQW with an overlap on the middle site, so that they respect most of the existing transitions in the larger OQW, in fact all of them except the self-transitions at the overlapping site. These QW are given by the diagrams



and, in agreement with the previous terminology, we will refer to them as the left and right OQW respectively. The new transition matrices X and Y must be chosen such that the associated CP maps

$$\mathbb{T}_L \rho = (A\rho_1 A^{\dagger} + C\rho_2 C^{\dagger}) \otimes |1\rangle \langle 1| + (B\rho_1 B^{\dagger} + X\rho_2 X^{\dagger}) \otimes |2\rangle \langle 2|,$$
  
$$\mathbb{T}_R \rho = (Y\rho_2 Y^{\dagger} + A\rho_3 A^{\dagger}) \otimes |2\rangle \langle 2| + (D\rho_2 D^{\dagger} + B\rho_3 B^{\dagger}) \otimes |3\rangle \langle 3|,$$

are also trace preserving, i.e.  $C^{\dagger}C + X^{\dagger}X = Y^{\dagger}Y + D^{\dagger}D = I_2$ . Both X and Y are not unique and a possible choice is given by

$$X = -\frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2} & \sqrt{2} \\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad Y = -\frac{1}{6} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2} & 3\sqrt{2} \\ 5 & -3 \end{pmatrix}$$

Obviously, the left and right OQW yield the following decomposition of the original one,

$$\mathbb{T}\rho = (\mathbb{T}_L \oplus 0_3)\rho + (0_1 \oplus \mathbb{T}_R)\rho + (E\rho_2 E^{\dagger} - X\rho_2 X^{\dagger} - Y\rho_2 Y^{\dagger}) \otimes |2\rangle\langle 2|,$$

where  $0_i = O_2 \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|$  is the null operator on the site  $|i\rangle$ . Hence, Theorems 6.1.(i) and 6.2.(i) imply that the FR-function f of the overlapping site  $|2\rangle$  for the original OQW decomposes

analogously in terms of the FR-functions  $f_{L,R}$  of the same site with respect to the left/right OQW, i.e.

$$f(z)\rho = f_L(z)\rho + f_R(z)\rho - (X\rho_2 X^{\dagger} + Y\rho_2 Y^{\dagger} - E\rho_2 E^{\dagger}) \otimes |2\rangle\langle 2|.$$
(92)

Bearing in mind (87), this decomposition can be equivalently rewritten using the corresponding reduced FR-functions  $\mathbb{F}$  and  $\mathbb{F}_{L,R}$ . Following a convention similar to (90) for the representation of  $\mathbb{F}$  and  $\mathbb{F}_{L,R}$ , one can check that these generating functions have the explicit form

$$\mathbb{F}(z) = \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{z-4}{z-2} & -\frac{z}{z-2} & -\frac{z}{z-2} & -\frac{z}{z-2} \\ 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2 & 0 \\ -\frac{z}{z-2} & \frac{z}{z-2} & \frac{z}{z-2} & \frac{z-4}{z-2} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\mathbb{F}_L(z) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ -\frac{1}{z-2} & \frac{1}{z-2} & \frac{1}{z-2} & -\frac{1}{z-2} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathbb{F}_R(z) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{7z+4}{18(z-2)} & -\frac{z+4}{6(z-2)} & -\frac{z+4}{2(z-2)} \\ \frac{5}{9\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{3\sqrt{2}} & \frac{5}{3\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ \frac{5}{9\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{3\sqrt{2}} & \frac{5}{3\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ \frac{5}{9\sqrt{2}} & \frac{5}{3\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{3\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ \frac{5}{9\sqrt{2}} & \frac{5}{3\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{3\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ \frac{25}{18} & -\frac{5}{6} & -\frac{5}{6} & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Under this convention, the splitting (92) becomes

$$\mathbb{F}(z) = \mathbb{F}_L(z) + \mathbb{F}_R(z) - (X \otimes X + Y \otimes Y - E \otimes E),$$

a relation that can be directly verified.

Consider the probability of returning to site  $|2\rangle$  when starting at a mixed state  $\rho = \rho_2 \otimes |2\rangle\langle 2|$ . The previous decomposition implies that such a probability  $\pi(\rho \rightarrow |2\rangle)$  for the original OQW is determined by the corresponding ones  $\pi_{L,R}(\rho \rightarrow |2\rangle)$  for the left/right OQW. The precise relation is given by

$$\pi(\rho \to |2\rangle) = \lim_{x\uparrow 1} \operatorname{Tr}(f(x)\rho) = \lim_{x\uparrow 1} \operatorname{Tr}(f_L(x)\rho) + \lim_{x\uparrow 1} \operatorname{Tr}(f_R(x)\rho) - \operatorname{Tr}((X^{\dagger}X + Y^{\dagger}Y - E^{\dagger}E)\rho_2)$$
$$= \pi_L(\rho \to |2\rangle) + \pi_R(\rho \to |2\rangle) - 1,$$

where we have used that  $X^{\dagger}X + Y^{\dagger}Y - E^{\dagger}E = X^{\dagger}X + Y^{\dagger}Y + C^{\dagger}C + D^{\dagger}D - I_2 = I_2$  and Tr  $\rho_2 = 1$ . The above relation is formally equal to the first splitting rule for RW recurrence given in Theorem 8.3.(*i*).

# Acknowledgements

The work of L. Velázquez has been partially supported by the Spanish Government together with the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) under grant MTM2014-53963-P from Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad of Spain, and by Project E-64 of Diputación General de Aragón (Spain).

We are thankful to C. Lardizabal who made useful remarks on an earlier version of the paper, and to H. Dym for help with some references.

### A GENERALIZATION OF SCHUR FUNCTIONS

# Appendix A. Derivatives of Nevanlinna FR-functions

The power expansion of FR-functions given in Proposition 2.9. (vii) is valid in a neighbourhood of the origin for every bounded operator. The following result is a weak version of such an expansion for self-adjoint operators on Hilbert spaces which is valid even in the unbounded case.

**Lemma A.1.** If f is the FR-function of a closed subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0$  with respect to a self-adjoint operator T, the following limits exist as operators in  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} f^{(0)}(0) &= f(0) \coloneqq \lim_{y \to 0} f(iy) = PTP, & \text{if } \mathcal{H}_0 \subset \mathcal{D}(T), \\ f^{(n)}(0) &\coloneqq \lim_{y \to 0} \frac{f^{(n-1)}(iy) - f^{(n-1)}(0)}{iy} = n! PTQ(QTQ)^{n-1}QTP, & \text{if } \mathcal{H}_0 \subset \mathcal{D}(T^{n+1}), \quad n \ge 1, \end{aligned}$$

where  $y \in \mathbb{R}$ , P is the orthogonal projection onto  $\mathscr{H}_0$  and Q = 1 - P. These normal limits must be understood as weak limits, thus they become limits in norm when dim  $\mathscr{H}_0 < \infty$ .

*Proof.* Suppose  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ . Then, from the proof of Theorem 3.1.(*ii*) we know that D is self-adjoint, so that  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R} \subset \varrho(QTQ)$ . Hence, using the notation (14), Proposition 2.7.(*iii*) yields for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$f(z) = A + zB(1 - zD)^{-1}C, \qquad A = PTP, \quad B = PTQ, \quad C = QTP, \quad D = QTQ,$$
 (93)

where the relation  $C \subset B^{\dagger}$  becomes an equality because  $\mathscr{D}(C) = \mathscr{H}_0$  since  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ . Taking  $z = iy, y \in \mathbb{R}$ , in the above expression we get

$$|\langle u|(f(iy) - A)v\rangle| = |y\langle Cu|(i + yD)^{-1}Cv\rangle|, \qquad \forall u, v \in \mathcal{H}_0.$$

The inequality  $||(z - T)^{-1}|| \leq 1/|\operatorname{Im} z|$ , valid for every self-adjoint operator T, leads to  $||(i + yD)^{-1}|| \leq 1$ . Thus, from the previous identity we find that

$$|\langle u|(f(iy) - A)v\rangle| \le |y| ||Cu|| ||Cv|| \xrightarrow{y \to 0} 0, \qquad \forall u, v \in \mathscr{H}_0.$$

This proves that f(0) = A as a weak limit.

As for the rest of the limits, we will see first that the condition  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T^{n+2})$  ensures that  $\mathscr{D}(D^n C) = \mathscr{H}_0$  and  $D^n C \mathscr{H}_0 \subset \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} T^k \mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$ , thus  $\mathscr{R}(D^n C) \subset \mathscr{H}_0^{\perp} \cap \mathscr{D}(T) = \mathscr{D}(B)$  so that  $BD^n C$  is everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{H}_0$ .

Let us argue by induction on n.

For n = 0, this follows by rewriting  $\mathcal{H}_0 \subset \mathcal{D}(T^2)$  as  $\mathcal{H}_0 \subset \mathcal{D}(T)$ ,  $T\mathcal{H}_0 \subset \mathcal{D}(T)$ , which give  $\mathcal{D}(C) = \mathcal{H}_0$  and

$$\mathscr{R}(C) = QT\mathscr{H}_0 = (T - PT)\mathscr{H}_0 \subset T\mathscr{H}_0 + \mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T), \qquad \text{if } \mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T^2).$$
(94)

Assume now that  $\mathscr{D}(D^{n-1}C) = \mathscr{H}_0$  and  $D^{n-1}C\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \sum_{k=0}^n T^k\mathscr{H}_0$  whenever  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T^{n+1})$ . Then, since the condition  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T^{n+2})$  implies  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T^{n+1})$  and  $T^k\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$  for  $0 \leq k \leq n+1$ , such a condition guarantees that  $\mathscr{R}(D^{n-1}C) \subset \mathscr{H}_0^{\perp} \cap \mathscr{D}(T) = \mathscr{D}(D)$ , hence  $\mathscr{D}(D^n C) = \mathscr{H}_0$  and

$$\mathscr{R}(D^{n}C) = QTD^{n-1}C\mathscr{H}_{0} \subset (T - PT)\sum_{k=0}^{n} T^{k}\mathscr{H}_{0}$$

$$\subset \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} T^{k}\mathscr{H}_{0} \subset \mathscr{D}(T), \quad \text{if } \mathscr{H}_{0} \subset \mathscr{D}(T^{n+2}).$$
(95)

Let us prove now the existence and give the explicit expression of  $f^{(n)}(0)$  for  $n \ge 1$ by induction on n. If  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T^2)$ , then  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$  so that f(0) = A according to the previous result. Using (93) we get for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\frac{f(z) - f(0)}{z} - BC = B((1 - zD)^{-1} - 1)C = zB(1 - zD)^{-1}DC,$$

which makes sense on the whole subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0$  because, from (94),  $\mathscr{R}(C) \subset \mathscr{H}_0^{\perp} \cap \mathscr{D}(T) = \mathscr{D}(D)$ . Setting  $z = iy, y \in \mathbb{R}$ , we find that

$$|\langle u|(\frac{f(iy)-f(0)}{iy}-BC)v\rangle| = |y\langle Cu|(i+yD)^{-1}DCv\rangle| \le |y|||Cu||||DCv|| \xrightarrow{y\to 0} 0, \qquad \forall u, v \in \mathscr{H}_0,$$

concluding that f'(0) = BC as a weak limit.

Suppose now that, for some  $n \ge 1$ ,  $f^{(n)}(0) = n!BD^{n-1}C$  whenever  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T^{n+1})$ , and let us obtain  $f^{(n+1)}(0)$  under the stronger condition  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T^{n+2})$ . From (93) we get the following identity for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\frac{f^{(n)}(z) - f^{(n)}(0)}{z} = n! z^{-1} B((1 - zD)^{-(n+1)} - 1) D^{n-1}C$$
$$= n! z^{-1} B \sum_{k=0}^{n} (1 - zD)^{-k} ((1 - zD)^{-1} - 1) D^{n-1}C$$
$$= n! B \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} (1 - zD)^{-k} D^{n}C,$$

a relation valid on the whole subspace  $\mathscr{H}_0$  because we have proved that  $D^n C$  is everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{H}_0$  for  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T^{n+2})$ . This allows us to rewrite

$$\frac{f^{(n)}(z) - f^{(n)}(0)}{z} - (n+1)!BD^nC = n!B\sum_{k=1}^{n+1}((1-zD)^{-k}-1)D^nC.$$

Taking  $z = iy, y \in \mathbb{R}$ , and using the inequality  $||(i - yD)^{-k}|| \le ||(i - yD)^{-1}||^k \le 1$ , we find that

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle u|(\frac{f^{(n)}(iy)-f^{(n)}(0)}{iy} - (n+1)!BD^{n}C)v\rangle| &\leq n!\sum_{k=1}^{n+1} |\langle ((1+iyD)^{-k}-1)Cu|D^{n}Cv\rangle| \\ &= n!\sum_{k=1}^{n+1} |\langle (i-yD)^{-k}(1-(1+iyD)^{k})Cu|D^{n}Cv\rangle| \\ &\leq n!\sum_{k=1}^{n+1} \|(1-(1+iyD)^{k})Cu\|\|D^{n}Cv\| \xrightarrow{y\to 0} 0, \qquad \forall u, v \in \mathscr{H}_{0}, \end{aligned}$$

where we have used that, in view of (95), the condition  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T^{n+2})$  implies that  $D^k C$  is everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{H}_0$  for  $0 \leq k \leq n+1$ . Therefore,  $f^{(n+1)}(0) = (n+1)!BD^nC$  as a weak limit.

Finally, we will see that  $f^{(n)}(0) \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$  if  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T^{n+1})$ . Note that  $A, C \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$ whenever  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset \mathscr{D}(T)$  because then TP is closed and everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . Since f(0) = A, this proves the result for n = 0. Besides, for any operator  $S \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$  such that  $\mathscr{D}(BS) = \mathscr{H}_0$ , we have that  $BS = PTQS \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$  because TQS is closed and everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . A similar argument shows that  $DS \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$  whenever  $S \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$  and  $\mathscr{D}(DS) = \mathscr{H}_0$ . This gives by induction on  $n \ge 1$  that  $f^{(n)}(0) = n!BD^{n-1}C \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$  if  $\mathscr{H}_0 \subset$  $\mathscr{D}(T^{n+1})$  because we have proved that this condition ensures that  $\mathscr{D}(BD^{n-1}C) = \mathscr{H}_0$ .  $\Box$ 

#### Appendix B. Characterizations of degenerate Nevanlinna functions

This appendix is devoted to the study of properties of Nevanlinna functions with emphasis on the distinction between degenerated and non-degenerated ones. Or aim is to prove Proposition 3.3. For this purpose we will need an additional characterization of scalar degenerated Nevanlinna functions.

**Lemma B.1.** A scalar Nevanlinna function f is degenerate iff

$$\lim_{y \to 0} \frac{\operatorname{Im} f(iy)}{y} = 0$$

*Proof.* Degenerate scalar Nevanlinna functions are the real constant functions, so their imaginary part is null and trivally satisfy the asymptotic condition.

To prove the converse we resort to the standard integral representation (42) of Nevanlinna functions, specialized to the scalar case, which states that f is given by

$$f(z) = a + bz + \int \frac{1+zt}{t-z} d\nu(t), \qquad a \in \mathbb{R}, \qquad b \ge 0,$$

with  $\nu$  a finite measure on the real line. Then,

$$\frac{\mathrm{Im}\,f(z)}{\mathrm{Im}\,z} = b + \int \frac{1+t^2}{|t-z|^2}\,d\nu(t).$$

Setting z = iy we obtain

$$\frac{\mathrm{Im}\,f(iy)}{y} = b + \int \frac{1+t^2}{t^2+y^2} \,d\nu(t).$$

The above expression increases when |y| decreases, thus the only way to have a zero limit for  $y \to 0$  is if both, b and the measure  $\nu$ , vanish. Then, f(z) = a is a real constant.  $\Box$ 

Now we can prove Proposition 3.3 for operator valued Nevanlinna functions.

Proof of Proposition 3.3. It is enough to prove the first three equalities of this proposition: if  $f: \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathfrak{B}(\mathscr{H}_0)$  is a Nevanlinna function and  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , then

$$\ker \operatorname{Im} f(z) = \{ v \in \mathscr{H}_0 : fv \text{ constant on } \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R} \} = \ker(f(z) - f(x)) = \ker f'(x), \quad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R},$$

where  $f(x) \coloneqq \lim_{y\to 0} f(x+iy)$  and  $f'(x) \coloneqq \lim_{y\to 0} (f(x+iy) - f(0)))/iy$  are assumed to exist as weak limits everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . The characterizations (i) to (vi) of Proposition 3.3 are direct consequences of the above three equalities.

By using the shifted Nevanlinna function f(z - x) we can reduce the proof to the case x = 0, bearing in mind that a real shift preserves Nevanlinna functions as well as their degenerate character. Hence, we will suppose without loss that x = 0.

Let ker Im f := ker Im f(z). This is a closed subspace of  $\mathscr{H}_0$  which we know is independent of  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ . The orthogonal projections p, q of  $\mathscr{H}_0$  onto ker Im f and ker Im  $f^{\perp}$  generate the block representation

$$f(z) = \begin{pmatrix} a(z) & b(z) \\ c(z) & d(z) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} pf(z)p & pf(z)q \\ qf(z)p & qf(z)q \end{pmatrix}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}.$$

Since (Im f(z))p = 0, we find that  $a(z)^{\dagger} = a(z)$  and  $b(z)^{\dagger} = c(z)$ . Hence, a(z), c(z) and their adjoints are analytic on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ . This implies that  $a(z) = a_{\pm}$  and  $c(z) = c_{\pm}$  are constant functions for  $z \in \mathbb{C}_{\pm}$ . Also,  $f(\overline{z}) = f(z)^{\dagger}$  gives  $a(\overline{z}) = a(z)$  and  $c(\overline{z}) = c(z)$ , thus  $a_{\pm} = a_{\pm}$  and  $c_{\pm} = c_{\pm}$ . That is, a(z) = a and c(z) = c are constant operator valued functions for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , so that

$$f(z) = \begin{pmatrix} a & c^{\dagger} \\ c & d(z) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}.$$

Therefore, f(z)v = (a + c)v is independent of  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  for each  $v \in \ker \operatorname{Im} f$ .

Conversely, if fv is constant on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  then  $f(z)v = f(\overline{z})v = f(z)^{\dagger}v$  for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , which implies that  $v \in \ker \operatorname{Im} f$ . This finishes the proof of the first equality in the proposition,  $\ker \operatorname{Im} f = \{v \in \mathscr{H}_0 : fv \text{ is constant on } \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}\}.$ 

Suppose now that f(0) exists as an operator everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . Let  $v \in \mathscr{H}_0$ such that fv is constant on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ . Then, given  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , we have that  $\langle u | (f(z) - f(0))v \rangle = \lim_{y \to 0} \langle u | (f(z) - f(iy))v \rangle = 0$  for every  $u \in \mathscr{H}_0$ , thus (f(z) - f(0))v = 0. Bearing in mind the previous result, this means that ker Im  $f \subset \ker(f(z) - f(0))$ .

To prove the opposite inclusion remember that f(0) is self-adjoint by Proposition 3.2. Therefore,  $v \in \ker(f(z) - f(0))$  for some  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  not only yields  $\langle v | (f(z) - f(0))v \rangle = 0$ , but also  $\langle v | (f(z)^{\dagger} - f(0))v \rangle = \langle (f(z) - f(0))v | v \rangle = 0$ . Combining these two equalities we get  $\langle v | \operatorname{Im} f(z)v \rangle = 0$ , which proves that  $v \in \ker \operatorname{Im} f(z)$  because  $\operatorname{Im} f(z) / \operatorname{Im} z \ge 0$ .

Finally, assume the existence of f'(0) everywhere defined on  $\mathscr{H}_0$ . If  $v \in \mathscr{H}_0$  makes fv constant on  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , then (f(iy) - f(0))v = 0 for every  $y \in \mathbb{R}$ , so f'(0)v = 0. In other words, ker Im  $f \subset \ker f'(0)$ .

Conversely, suppose that  $v \in \ker f'(0)$  and consider the scalar Nevanlinna function  $g(z) = \langle v | f(z)v \rangle$ . Then, using that  $f(iy)^{\dagger} = f(-iy)$  for  $y \in \mathbb{R}$ , we get

$$\lim_{y \to 0} \frac{\operatorname{Im} g(iy)}{y} = \frac{1}{2} \lim_{y \to 0} \left( \langle v | \frac{f(iy) - f(0)}{iy} v \rangle + \langle v | \frac{f(-iy) - f(0)}{-iy} v \rangle \right) = \langle v | f'(0) v \rangle = 0$$

By Lemma B.1, g is a real constant function, so  $\langle v | \operatorname{Im} f(z)v \rangle = \operatorname{Im} g(z) = 0$  for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , which implies that  $v \in \ker \operatorname{Im} f$ .

#### A GENERALIZATION OF SCHUR FUNCTIONS

#### References

- [1] Y. Aharonov, L. Davidovich, N. Zagury, Quantum random walks, Phys. Rev. A 48 (1993) 1687–1690.
- [2] A. Ahlbrecht, V.B. Scholz, A.H. Werner, Disordered quantum walks in one lattice dimension, J. Math. Phys. 52 (2011) 102201.
- [3] N.I. Akhiezer, The classical moment problem and some related questions in analysis, Hafner publishing Co., New-York, 1965.
- [4] D. Alpay, A. Dijksma, H. Langer,  $J_{\ell}$  unitary factorization and the Schur algorithm for Nevanlinna functions in an indefinite setting, Linear Alg. Appl. 419 (2006) 675–709.
- [5] D. Alpay, A. Dijksma, H. Langer, The Schur transformation for Nevanlinna functions: operator representations, resolvent matrices, and orthogonal polynomials, Modern Analysis and Applications, The Mark Krein Centenary Conference, vol. 1: Operator theory and related topics, Oper. Theory Adv. Appl. 190, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2009, pp. 27–63.
- [6] D. Alpay, A. Dijksma, H. Langer, D. Volok, A Schur transformation for functions in a general class of domains, Indag. Math. 23 (2012) 921–969.
- [7] A. Ambainis, Quantum walks and their algorithmic application, Int. J. Quantum Inf. 1 (2003) 507– 518.
- [8] S. Attal, Lectures in Quantum Noise Theory, http://math.univ-lyon1.fr/homes-www/attal/chapters.html
- [9] S. Attal, F. Petruccione, C. Sabot, I. Sinayskiy, Open Quantum Random Walks, J. Stat. Phys. 147 (2012) 832–852.
- [10] S. Attal, F. Petruccione, I. Sinayskiy, Open quantum walks on graphs, Phys. Let. A 376 (2012) 1545–1548.
- J. A. Ball, O. J. Staffans, Conservative state-space realizations of dissipative system behaviors, Integr. Equat. Oper. Theory 54 (2006), 151–213.
- [12] H. Bart, I. Gohberg, A.M. Kaashoek, Minimal factorization of matrix and operator functions, Oper. Theory Adv. Appl. 1, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel-Boston, Mass., 1979.
- [13] S. Belyi, S. Hassi, H. de Snoo, E. Tsekanovskiĭ, A general realization theorem for matrix-valued Herglotz–Nevanlinna functions, Linear Alg. Appl. 419 (2006) 331–358.
- [14] C. Beny, F. Richter, Algebraic approach to quantum theory: a finite-dimensional guide, arXiv: 1505.03106 [quant-ph].
- [15] J. Bourgain, F.A. Grünbaum, L. Velázquez, J. Wilkening, Quantum Recurrence of a Subspace and Operator-Valued Schur Functions, Commun. Math. Phys. 329 (2014) 1031–1067.
- [16] M.S. Brodskiĭ, Triangular and Jordan Representations of Linear Operators, Transl. Math. Monographs, vol. 32, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1971.
- [17] M.S. Brodskiĭ, Unitary operator colligations and their characteristic functions, Russian Math. Surveys 33, no. 4 (1978) 159–191; Uspekhi Mat. Nauk. 33, no. 4 (202) (1978) 141–168.
- [18] M.J. Cantero, F.A. Grünbaum, L. Moral, L. Velázquez, Matrix-valued Szegő polynomials and quantum random walks, Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 63 (2010) 464–507.
- [19] M.J. Cantero, F.A. Grünbaum, L. Moral, L. Velázquez, One-dimensional quantum walks with one defect, Rev. Math. Phys. 24 (2012) 1250002.
- [20] M.J. Cantero, F.A. Grünbaum, L. Moral, L. Velázquez, The CGMV method for quantum walks, Quantum Inf. Process. 11 (2012) 1149–1192.
- [21] M.J. Cantero, L. Moral, L. Velázquez, Five-diagonal matrices and zeros of orthogonal polynomials on the unit circle, Linear Algebra Appl. 362 (2003) 29–56.
- [22] R. Carbone, Y. Pautrat, Homogeneous open quantum random walks on a lattice, J. Stat. Phys. 160 (2015) 1125–1153.
- [23] R. Carbone, Y. Pautrat, Open quantum random walks: reducibility, period, ergodic properties, Ann. Henri Poincaré 17 (2016) 99–135.

- [24] S.L. Carvalho, L.F. Guidi, C.F. Lardizabal, Site recurrence of open and unitary quantum walks on the line, Quantum Inf. Process. 16 (2017) 17.
- [25] C. Cedzich, F.A. Grünbaum, L. Velázquez, A.H. Werner, R.F. Werner, A Quantum Dynamical Approach to Matrix Khrushchev's Formulas, Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 69 (2016) 909–957.
- [26] A. Childs, Universal Computation by Quantum Walk, Phys. Rev. Lett. **102** (18) (2009) 180501.
- [27] D. Damanik, A. Pushnitski, B. Simon, The analytic theory of matrix orthogonal polynomials, Surv. Approx. Theory 4 (2008) 1–85.
- [28] Ph. Delsarte, Y. Genin, Y. Kamp, I. Schur parametrization of positive definite block-Toeplitz systems, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 36 (1979) 34–46.
- [29] Ph. Delsarte, Y. Genin, Y. Kamp, The Nevanlinna-Pick Problem for Matrix-Valued Functions, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 36 (1979) 47–61.
- [30] M. Derevyagin, The Jacobi matrices approach to Nevanlinna–Pick problems, J. Approx. Theory 163 (2011) 117–142.
- [31] M. Derevyagin, A note on Wall's modification of the Schur algorithm and linear pencils of Jacobi matrices, arXiv: 1609.06733 [math.CA].
- [32] E.A. van Doorn, P. Schrijner, Geometric ergodicity and quasi-stationarity in discrete-time birth-death processes, J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. B 37 (1995) 121–144.
- [33] W. Feller, An introduction to probability theory and its applications, vol. I, third edition, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York-London-Sydney, 1968.
- [34] Ya.L. Geronimus, On polynomials orthogonal on the circle, on trigonometric moment problem, and on allied Carathéodory and Schur functions, Mat. Sb. 15 (1944) 99–130.
- [35] F. Gesztesy, N.J. Kalton, K.A. Makarov, E. Tsekanovskiĭ, Some applications of operator-valued Herglotz functions, Operator theory, system theory and related topics (Beer-Sheva/Rehovot, 1997), Oper. Theory Adv. Appl. 123, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2001, pp. 271–321.
- [36] F. Gesztesy, E.R. Tsekanovskii, On matrix-valued Herglotz functions, Math. Nachr. 218 (2000) 61– 138.
- [37] F.A. Grünbaum, L. Velázquez, A.H. Werner, R.F. Werner, Recurrence for Discrete Time Unitary Evolutions, Commun. Math. Phys. 320 (2013) 543–569.
- [38] G. Herglotz, Über Potenzreihen mit positivem, reellen Teil im Einheitskreise, Ber. Ver. Ges. wiss. Leipzig 63 (1911) 501–511.
- [39] M.A. Kaashoek, Minimal factorization, linear systems and integral operators, Operators and function theory (Lancaster, 1984), NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci. 153, Reidel, Dordrecht, 1985, pp. 41–86.
- [40] S. Karlin, J. McGregor, Random walks, Illinois J. Math. 3 (1959) 66–81.
- [41] T. Kato, Perturbation theory for linear operators, reprint of the 1980 edition, Classics in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1995.
- [42] J. Kempe, Quantum random walks an introductory overview, Contemp. Phys. 44 (2003) 307–327.
- [43] V. Kendon, A random walk approach to quantum algorithms, Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A 364 (2006) 3407–3422.
- [44] S. Khrushchev, Schur's algorithm, orthogonal polynomials, and convergence of Wall's continued fractions in L<sup>2</sup>(T), J. Approx. Theory 108 (2001) 161–248.
- [45] S. Khrushchev, Classification theorems for general orthogonal polynomials on the unit circle, J. Approx. Theory 116 (2002) 268–342.
- [46] M.G. Kreĭn, H. Langer, Über die Q-Funktion eines  $\Pi$ -hermiteschen Operators im Raume  $\Pi_{\kappa}$ , Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged) **34** (1973) 191–230.
- [47] C.F. Lardizabal, R. R.Souza, On a class of quantum channels, open random walks and recurrence, J. Stat. Phys. 159 (2015) 772–796.
- [48] C.F. Lardizabal, R.R. Souza, Open quantum random walks: ergodicity, hitting times, gambler's ruin and potential theory, J. Stat. Phys. 164 (2016) 1122–1156.

- [49] Y. Last, Quantum dynamics and decomposition of singular continuous spectra, J. Funct. Anal. 142 (1996) 406–445.
- [50] B. Mohar, W. Woess, A survey on spectra of infinite graphs, Bull. London Math. Soc. 21 (1989) 209–234.
- [51] B.Sz.-Nagy, C. Foias, H. Bercovici, L. Kérchy, Harmonic analysis of operators on Hilbert space, second edition, revised and enlarged edition, Springer, New York, 2010.
- [52] B.Sz.-Nagy, A. Korányi, Operatortheoretische Behandlung und Verallgemeinerung eines Problemkreises in der komplexen Funktionentheorie, Acta Math. 100, no. 3-4 (1958) 171–202.
- [53] M.A. Naimark, Spectral functions of a symmetric operator, Izv. Akad. Nauk. SSSR Ser. Mat. 4 (1940) 277–318.
- [54] R. Nevanlinna, Über beschränkte analytische Funktionen, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. A **32** (1929) 1–75.
- [55] G. Pick, Über die Beschränkungen analytischer Funktionen, welche durch vorgegebene Funktionswerte bewirkt werden, Math. Ann. 77 (1916) 7–23.
- [56] G. Pólya, Über eine Aufgabe der Wahrscheinlichkeitsrechnung betreffend die Irrfahrt im Straßennetz, Math. Ann. 84 (1921) 149–160.
- [57] W. Rudin, Real and complex analysis, third edition, McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1987.
- [58] K. Schmüdgen, Unbounded self-adjoint operators on Hilbert space, Graduate Texts in Mathematics 265, Springer, Dordrecht, 2012.
- [59] M. Reed, B. Simon, Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics III: Scattering Theory, London-New York, Academic Press, 1979.
- [60] F. Riesz, Sur certains systèmes singuliers d'équations integrales, Ann. École Norm. Sup. 28 (1911) 33-62.
- [61] I. Schur, Über Potenzreihen, die im Innern des Einheitskreises beschränkt sind, I and II, J. Reine Angew. Math. 147 (1917) 205–232 (Part I), and 148 (1918) 122–145 (Part II); English translation in I. Schur methods in operator theory and signal processing, Oper. Theory Adv. Appl. 18, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel and Boston, 1986.
- [62] Yu.L. Shmul'yan, On operator R-functions, Siberian Math. J. 12 (1971) 315–322.
- [63] J.A. Shohat, J.D. Tamarkin, The problem of moments, Amer. Math. Soc. Math. Surveys, vol. I, Amer. Math. Soc., New York, 1943.
- [64] P. Sadowski, Ł. Pawela, Central limit theorem for reducible and irreducible open quantum walks, Quantum Inf. Process. 15 (2016) 2725.
- [65] B. Simon, Orthogonal polynomials on the unit circle, Part 1 and 2, Amer. Math. Soc. Colloq. Publ. 54, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2005.
- [66] I. Sinayskiy, F. Petruccione, Efficiency of open quantum walk implementation of dissipative quantum computing algorithms, Quantum Inf. Process. 11 (2012) 1301.
- [67] I. Sinayskiy, F. Petruccione, Quantum optical implementation of open quantum walks Int. J. Quantum Inform. 12 (2014) 1461010.
- [68] I. Sinayskiy, F. Petruccione, Microscopic derivation of open quantum walks, Phys. Rev. A 92 (2015) 032105.
- [69] P. Sinkovicz, T. Kiss, J. Asboth, Generalized Kac lemma for recurrence time in iterated open quantum systems, Phys. Rev. A 93 (2016) 050101.
- [70] P. Sinkovicz, Z. Kurucz, T. Kiss, J. K. Asbóth, Quantized recurrence in unital iterated quantum dynamics, Phys. Rev. A 91 (2015) 042108.
- [71] M. Štefaňák, I. Jex, T. Kiss, Recurrence and Pólya number of quantum walks, Phys. Rev. Lett. 100 (2008) 020501.
- [72] M. Štefaňák, T. Kiss, I. Jex, Recurrence properties of unbiased coined quantum walks on infinite d-dimensional lattices, Phys. Rev. A 78 (2008) 032306.
- [73] M. Štefaňák, T. Kiss, I. Jex, Recurrence of biased quantum walks on a line, New. J. Phys. 11 (2009) 043027.

- [74] D. Stroock, An introduction to Markov processes, second edition, Graduate Texts in Mathematics 230, Springer, Heidelberg, 2014.
- [75] D.S. Watkins, Some perspectives on the eigenvalue problem, SIAM Rev. 35 (1993) 430–471.
- [76] M.M. Wolf, Quantum Channels & Operations Guided Tour, https://www-m5.ma.tum.de/foswiki/pub/M5/Allgemeines/MichaelWolf/QChannelLecture.pdf